Quantum resource theories

Eric Chitambar

Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, Coordinated Science Laboratory, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Urbana, Illinois 61801, USA

Gilad Gour[†]

Department of Mathematics and Statistics, University of Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2N 1N4 and Institute for Quantum Science and Technology, University of Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2N 1N4

(published 4 April 2019)

Quantum resource theories (QRTs) offer a highly versatile and powerful framework for studying different phenomena in quantum physics. From quantum entanglement to quantum computation, resource theories can be used to quantify a desirable quantum effect, develop new protocols for its detection, and identify processes that optimize its use for a given application. Particularly, QRTs have revolutionized the way we think about familiar properties of physical systems such as entanglement, elevating them from being just interesting fundamental phenomena to being useful in performing practical tasks. The basic methodology of a general QRT involves partitioning all quantum states into two groups, one consisting of free states and the other consisting of resource states. Accompanying the set of free states is a collection of free quantum operations arising from natural restrictions placed on the physical system, restrictions that force the free operations to act invariantly on the set of free states. The QRT then studies what information processing tasks become possible using the restricted operations. Despite the large degree of freedom in how one defines the free states and free operations, unexpected similarities emerge among different QRTs in terms of resource measures and resource convertibility. As a result, objects that appear quite distinct on the surface, such as entanglement and quantum reference frames, appear to have great similarity on a deeper structural level. This article reviews the general framework of a quantum resource theory, focusing on common structural features, operational tasks, and resource measures. To illustrate these concepts, an overview is provided on some of the more commonly studied QRTs in the literature.

DOI: 10.1103/RevModPhys.91.025001

CONTENTS

I. Introduction and Motivation	2
II. Notation and Preliminaries	4
III. The General Structure of Quantum Resource Theories	5
A. Definition of a QRT and tensor-product structures	5
B. Consistent QRTs for a given set of free operations	7
C. Consistent QRTs for a given set of free states	7
1. Resource nongenerating (RNG), k-RNG, and	
completely RNG operations	8
2. Physically implementable operations	8
3. Other classes of free operations	9
D. Types of QRTs	10
1. Convex resource theories	10
2. Affine resource theories	11
3. QRTs with a resource-destroying map	11
4. Nonconvex resource theories	12
5. Resource theories of quantum processes	12
IV. Examples of Specific Resource Theories	14
A. Convex resource theories	14
1. Entanglement	14
2. Quantum reference frames and asymmetry	16
3. Quantum thermodynamics	18

*echitamb@illinois.edu

4. Quantum coherence	19
5. Stabilizer computation and "magic" states	20
B. Resource theories in quantum foundations	21
1. Bell nonlocality	22
2. Contextuality	23
3. Incompatibility, steering, and projective	
simulability	24
C. Nonconvex resource theories	25
1. Non-Gaussianity	25
2. Non-Markovianity	25
3. Quantum correlations	26
V. Resource-theoretic Tasks	26
A. Single-shot convertibility	26
B. Asymptotic convertibility	27
C. Catalytic convertibility	28
D. Convertibility preordering	28
E. Simulation of nonfree operations	29
F. Erasing resources	29
VI. Quantifying Resources	29
A. An axiomatic approach	30
1. Vanishing for free states	30
2. Monotonicity	30
3. Convexity	31
4. Subadditivity	31
5. Asymptotic continuity	31
B. General distance-based constructions	31

[†]gour@ucalgary.ca

C. Entropic measures	32
D. Geometric measures	33
E. Witness-based measures	34
1. Trace distance measures	35
2. Robustness measures	35
3. Resource-rank measures	36
VII. General Techniques, Mathematical Tools, and Results	37
A. Majorization theory	37
1. Majorization in gambling	37
2. Majorization in entanglement and	
coherence theories	38
3. Majorization and statistical comparisons	39
4. Majorization in quantum thermodynamics	40
B. Convex analysis, semidefinite programming,	
and duality theory	41
C. Smooth entropies and the generalized Stein's lemma	41
VIII. Outlook	43
Acknowledgments	43
References	43

I. INTRODUCTION AND MOTIVATION

Basic economic principles dictate that objects acquire value when they cannot be easily obtained. From this perspective, value is a property that emerges relative to physical capabilities. A resource theory for a given scenario extends this principle by categorizing actions in terms of being either free or prohibited, and then analyzing what can be accomplished using the allowable operations. Certain objects cannot be generated in this setting and they are considered to be a resource. For example, a camper is forced to consider what types of food can be prepared using a camping stove and nonperishable ingredients. The ability to bake and refrigerate is prohibited, and any ingredient requiring, say, a refrigerator is a resource for the camper.

In recent years, the resource theory perspective has flourished within the quantum information community. Instead of the resources being cooking ingredients for a camper or fuel for an automobile driver, the resources considered within quantum physics involve objects and phenomena at the atomic and subatomic levels as depicted in Fig.1. Resource theories of this sort are called *quantum resource theories* (QRTs). It is quite natural to apply a resource-theoretic outlook to the study of quantum systems since processes such as decoherence rapidly eliminate most quantum behavior of a system. Similar to an oil digger, one must exert considerable experimental effort to witness and control the subtle effects of quantum mechanics.

While the technical details will be covered in this review article, the basic idea of a quantum resource theory is to study quantum information processing under a restricted set of physical operations. The permissible operations are called "free," and because they do not encompass all physical processes that quantum mechanics allows, only certain physically realizable states of a quantum system can be prepared. These accessible states are likewise called free, and any state that is not free is called a resource state. Thus a quantum resource theory identifies every physical process as being either free or prohibited, and similarly it classifies every quantum state as being either free or a resource.



FIG. 1. In a quantum resource theory, the precious commodity is some physical property or phenomenon that emerges according to the principles of quantum mechanics. The paradigmatic example is quantum entanglement.

The most celebrated example of a quantum resource theory is the theory of entanglement. For two or more quantum systems, entanglement can be characterized as a resource when the allowed dynamics are local quantum operations and classical communication (LOCC). For example, as depicted in Fig. 2, Alice and Bob may be working in their own quantum laboratory while being separated from each other by some large distance. Because of current technological limitations, the only communication channel connecting their laboratories is classical, such as a telephone. Hence Alice cannot directly send quantum states to Bob and vice versa, and the free operations in this resource theory consist of LOCC. While the classical communication channel allows for the preparation of classically correlated states between the two laboratories, not every type of joint quantum state can be realized for Alice and Bob's systems using LOCC. A state is said to be entangled, and therefore a resource, precisely when it cannot be generated using the free operations of LOCC. For instance, if Alice and Bob each control a single spin-1/2 quantum system, the singlet state $\sqrt{1/2(|01\rangle - |10\rangle)}$ cannot be created by LOCC and it is therefore called an entangled state.



FIG. 2. Quantum entanglement is a quantum resource in the "distant-lab" scenario where the free operations are LOCC. From Plenio and Virmani, 2007.

Inspired by its success researchers have adopted the resource theory framework within many other areas of quantum information and physics. For example, asymmetry and quantum reference frames, quantum thermodynamics, quantum coherence and superposition, secret correlations in quantum and classical systems, non-Gaussianity in bosonic systems, "magic states" in stabilizer quantum computation, non-Markovianity in multipart quantum processes, nonlocality, and quantum correlations have all been studied as resource theories. Even more foundational objects such as contextuality and Bell nonlocality have been envisioned as resources within quantum information theory.

There are multiple benefits to framing a given quantum phenomenon in terms of a resource, and here we highlight four of them.

- (1) Resource theories can be desirable from a practical perspective as they often restrict attention to quantum operations that reflect current experimental capabilities. For example, one advantage of capturing entanglement as a resource under LOCC is that, relative to the challenges of faithfully transmitting quantum systems across large distances, classical communication is easy. Practically speaking then, it is reasonable to consider what information processing tasks can be performed when restricted to LOCC. More generally, a resource theory can be associated with any experiment where the free operations are those that can be performed within the experimental degrees of freedom inherent to the particular setup (e.g., rotation of the inhomogeneous magnetic field in the Stern-Gerlach experiment).
- (2) Resource theories provide the foundation to rigorously compare the amount of resource held in different quantum states (or quantum channels). Operationally speaking, one state possesses at least as much resource as another if it is possible to transform the former into the latter using the free operations of the resource theory. This is simply because whatever tasks can be accomplished using the transformed state can also be accomplished using the original one. By considering convertibility under the free operations, a preordering is established on the set of quantum states. With a resource theory, measures can also be constructed so that it becomes possible to say "how much" resource is in a given state. While the specific numerical value of these measures can have various operational meanings such as transformation probability or conversion rate, all meaningful measures of resource are monotonically decreasing under the free operations of the resource theory. This captures the intuitive notion that a resource is something precious and its value cannot be freely increased.
- (3) Resource theories enable a fine-grained analysis of what fundamental processes and properties drive a certain phenomenon. By placing restrictions on the allowed operations, one can precisely pinpoint the essential physical requirements for performing some information processing task. Quantum teleportation provides an example of how, when restricting to LOCC, entanglement emerges as the essential ingredient for transmitting quantum information from one physical location to

another. By decomposing a given task in terms of free operations and resource consumption, one can further consider resource trade-offs. For certain tasks, it may be advantageous to expand the set of free operations in order to reduce the overall consumption of resource.

(4) By capturing a particular object of interest within a quantum resource theory, it becomes possible to identify structures and applications that are common to resource theories in general. Problems that are challenging or not even recognized when approached internally take on a new light when approached externally, from the more general resource-theoretic perspective. For example, elegant solutions to the notoriously difficult problem of entanglement reversibility emerge when drawing resource-theoretic connections to thermodynamics. As another example, new areas of research in classical information theory open after recognizing that certain features of quantum entanglement can also be observed in the classical setting of private and public correlations.

This review surveys the subject of quantum resource theories. There are already a number of reviews on individual resource theories: entanglement (Plenio and Virmani, 2007; Horodecki et al., 2009), quantum reference frames and asymmetry (Bartlett, Rudolph, and Spekkens, 2007), quantum thermodynamics (Gour, Muller et al., 2015; Goold et al., 2016), coherence (Streltsov, Adesso, and Plenio, 2017), nonlocality (Brunner et al., 2014), non-Gaussianity (Weedbrook et al., 2012), non-Markovianity (Rivas, Huelga, and Plenio, 2014), and quantum correlations (Modi et al., 2012; Adesso, Bromley, and Cianciaruso, 2016). The purpose of this article is to review the plethora of features that unite all these theories together under a common resource-theoretic framework, similar to the approach taken by Horodecki and Oppenheim (2013b). Early in its development, quantum entanglement was seen to possess many formal similarities to thermodynamics (Popescu and Rohrlich, 1997; P. Horodecki, Horodecki, and Horodecki, 1998; Horodecki, Oppenheim, and Horodecki, 2002), and connections between different resource theories have been investigated ever since (Horodecki and Oppenheim, 2013b; Brandão and Gour, 2015; Anshu, Hsieh, and Jain, 2017; Gour, 2017; Liu, Hu, and Lloyd, 2017; Sparaciari et al., 2018). Many of the same mathematical tools and techniques can be applied across a wide variety of resource theories. Examples include majorization theory, entropic quantities and their properties, results from convex analysis such as the hyperplane separation theorem, and optimization techniques such as cone programming. Furthermore, recently it was recognized that a resource theory can be formulated as a symmetric monoidal category (Coecke, Fritz, and Spekkens, 2016; Fritz, 2017). This abstract formulation recognizes that the structure of resource theories goes far beyond quantum physics and has the potential to be useful in many other areas of science. Here, however, we focus only on resource theories admitting the structure of quantum mechanics.

As one of its primary goals, this review outlines the general framework for constructing a quantum resource theory and discusses the typical questions that emerge in its development. After describing the different approaches to answering these questions, a comparative review is provided of the more well-known resource theories. A broad overview of tasks, measures, and analytic techniques is then conducted over the course of three sections. The review closes with an overview of open problems and future research directions.

II. NOTATION AND PRELIMINARIES

Here we introduce the notation that will be used throughout, and we quickly review some of the basic concepts in quantum information theory that are relevant to quantum resource theories. More detailed expositions of this introductory material can be found in Nielsen and Chuang (2000), Wilde (2017), and Watrous (2018). We denote Hilbert spaces by \mathcal{H}^A , \mathcal{H}^B , etc., where the superscripts indicate the physical systems associated with these Hilbert spaces. Composite systems are denoted by \mathcal{H}^{AB} , \mathcal{H}^{ABC} , etc. In some cases we want to envision systems A, B, C, etc., as being held by generic agents Alice, Bob, Charlie, etc., but an association with personal agents is not necessary. The set of bounded operators acting on a Hilbert space \mathcal{H}^A are denoted by $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^A)$, or simply $\mathcal{B}(A)$. Positive semidefinite operators in $\mathcal{B}(A)$ are typically denoted by lowercase Greek letters (e.g., ρ , σ , ω), and we write $\rho \geq 0$ to indicate that all eigenvalues are nonnegative. The set of quantum states (i.e., density matrices) in $\mathcal{B}(A)$ consists of positive semidefinite matrices with trace 1 and are denoted by S(A). Two common ways to quantify "how close" a given state ρ is to another σ is the trace distance, given by $D_{\text{Tr}}(\rho, \sigma) = (1/2) \|\rho - \sigma\|_1$ (where $\|X\|_1 =$ $\operatorname{Tr}\sqrt{X^{\dagger}X}$, and the fidelity given by $F(\rho,\sigma) = \|\sqrt{\rho}\sqrt{\sigma}\|_{1}$ (Uhlmann, 1976). The two can be related using the inequalities (Fuchs and van de Graaf, 1999)

$$1 - F(\rho, \sigma) \le D_{\mathrm{Tr}}(\rho, \sigma) \le \sqrt{1 - F(\rho, \sigma)^2}.$$
(1)

Linear maps, or superoperators, that act on $\mathcal{B}(A)$ are denoted by capital Greek letters (e.g., Φ , Λ , Γ), and the identity map are denoted by $id^A : \mathcal{B}(A) \to \mathcal{B}(A)$. The set of all bounded linear maps from $\mathcal{B}(A)$ to $\mathcal{B}(B)$ are denoted by $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^A \to \mathcal{H}^B)$, or simply $\mathcal{B}(A \to B)$. Linear maps that represent a physical evolution of a possibly open system must take density matrices to density matrices. We say that a linear map $\Phi: \mathcal{B}(A) \to \mathcal{B}(B)$ is positive if $\Phi(\rho) \ge 0$ for all $0 \le \rho \in \mathcal{B}(A)$, k positive if $\Phi \otimes \mathsf{id}^C$ is positive with $\dim(\mathcal{H}^C) = k$, and completely positive (CP) if it is k positive for all k. It is known that if a linear map is k positive with $k \geq \dim(\mathcal{H}^A)$ then it is completely positive. A physical evolution is therefore represented by a CP map. Moreover, since density matrices can evolve only to density matrices, a physical evolution must preserve the trace. Such completely positive trace-preserving (CPTP) maps are called quantum *channels*. The set of all quantum channels in $\mathcal{B}(A \to B)$ are denoted by $\mathcal{Q}(A \to B)$.

Quantum mechanics allows for stochastic processes and quantum measurements. For measurements with a discrete set of outcomes, a quantum state ρ is converted to another quantum state σ_i with some probability p_i . The average postmeasurement description of both the classical measurement register and the quantum system can be given by a *quantum-classical* (QC) state of the form

$$\sigma^{QX} = \sum_{i} p_i \sigma_i \otimes |i\rangle \langle i|^X.$$
⁽²⁾

Therefore, the entire measurement can be modeled by a deterministic process Φ , converting ρ to σ^{QX} . The map Φ in this case is a particular type of a quantum channel, often called a measurement map, that has the form $\Phi(\cdot) = \sum_i \Phi_i(\cdot) \otimes |i\rangle \langle i|^X$, with each Φ_i being CP and $\sum_i \Phi_i$ being trace preserving. By appending the classical ancillary system X we can thereby consider *trace-preserving* maps even when discussing stochastic processes. Throughout this review we adopt the convention that \mathcal{H}^X denotes a classical system whose states are always dephased in some *a priori* fixed orthonormal basis $\{|i\rangle\}_i$.

Any quantum channel has three important representations that are frequently used in the field of quantum information science, and all three representations play a crucial role in quantum resource theories as well. The most physically intuitive one is related to the Stinespring dilation theorem (Stinespring, 1955). In this representation, the evolution of an open quantum system A is modeled by a unitary interaction U^{AE} of the joint system A with the environment (represented by system E). When the environment is initially in some uncorrelated state $|0\rangle\langle 0|^E$, the reduced-state dynamics of system A is described by the quantum channel

$$\rho^{A} \mapsto \Phi(\rho^{A}) = \operatorname{Tr}_{E'}[U^{AE}(\rho^{A} \otimes |0\rangle \langle 0|^{E})U^{\dagger AE}], \quad (3)$$

where E' need not be the same system E. It turns out that for every CPTP map Φ , there exists such a unitary representation U^{AE} in which Eq. (3) holds for all ρ^A . This can be interpreted as saying that every physical evolution is essentially a unitary evolution on the joint system and environment, and CPTP maps provide only an effective description of the evolution due to the inaccessibility of the environment's degrees of freedom.

The second representation of a quantum channel is known as the *operator-sum representation*. It states that the action of any quantum channel Φ can be written as $\Phi(\rho^A) = \sum_j K_j \rho^A K_j^{\dagger}$, where $\{K_j\}_j$ is a set of complex matrices (known as Kraus operators) satisfying $\sum_j K_j^{\dagger} K_j = \mathbb{I}^A$, with \mathbb{I}^A being the identity in $\mathcal{B}(A)$. If we relax the trace-preserving condition on Φ to be just reace nonincreasing, then the Kraus operators satisfy $\sum_j K_j^{\dagger} K_j \leq \mathbb{I}^A$. Just as the unitary U^{AE} in Eq. (3) is not unique for each Φ , the set of Kraus operators $\{K_j\}_j$ is not unique and is defined up to a unitary mixing (Nielsen and Chuang, 2000). While the operator-sum representation at first seems very mathematical, translating physical constraints into Kraus operator constraints is often a convenient way to characterize the allowed (i.e., free) operations of a QRT, such as in entanglement.

The last representation of a quantum channel that we consider involves an isomorphism between bipartite positive operators and CP maps. At first glance, the mathematical structure of quantum channels appears to be more complex than that of density matrices. However, the two objects are actually equivalent. To establish this, we first let

$$|\phi^+_{d_A}
angle = \sum_{j=1}^{d_A} |j
angle^A |j
angle^{A'}$$

denote a canonical unnormalized maximally entangled vector acting on $\mathcal{H}^A \otimes \mathcal{H}^{A'}$, with $\mathcal{H}^A \approx \mathcal{H}^{A'}$. When the dimension of the system is clear, we omit the subscript d_A . Then consider the action of the CP (but not necessarily trace-preserving) map $\Phi: \mathcal{B}(A') \to \mathcal{B}(B)$ when acting on one-half of the maximally entangled vector $|\phi^+\rangle^{AA'}$. This produces the bipartite operator

$$J^{AB}_{\Phi} \coloneqq \mathsf{id}^A \otimes \Phi(\phi^+), \tag{4}$$

where $\phi^+ = |\phi^+\rangle\langle\phi^+|$. The operator J_{Φ}^{AB} is called the *Choi* matrix of Φ , and when the context is clear, we omit the subscript Φ and simply write J^{AB} or just J. Any CP map Φ corresponds to such a bipartite positive semidefinite operator J_{Φ}^{AB} via Eq. (4), and conversely, any bipartite positive semidefinite operator by J^{AB} corresponds to a CP map Φ given by

$$\Phi_I(\rho) = \operatorname{Tr}_A[J^{AB}(\rho^T \otimes I^B)], \tag{5}$$

where ρ^T indicates the matrix transpose with respect to some fixed basis of \mathcal{H}^A . If this basis is chosen to be the same as that used in the definition of $|\phi^+\rangle^{AA'}$, then it is easy to see that $\Phi_{J_{\Phi}} = \Phi$. The relations in Eqs. (4) and (5) therefore define an isomorphism between the set of CP maps in $\mathcal{B}(A \to B)$ and the set of bipartite positive semidefinite operators in $\mathcal{B}(AB)$, typically called the Choi-Jamiołkowski isomorphism. If we further require Φ to be trace preserving (i.e., a quantum channel), then the system A reduced operator in J_{Φ}^{AB} of Eq. (4) is the identity, i.e., $J_{\Phi}^A = \mathbb{I}^A$. Conversely, if the reduced operator of J^{AB} is the identity in Eq. (5), then Φ_J will also be trace preserving. Thus, there is a bijection between the set of quantum channels and the set of positive semidefinite operators with the system-A marginal being the identity.

Each of these three representations plays an important role in QRTs. As we will see, different representations fit more naturally in the analysis of different QRTs. Some, more physical QRTs, lend themselves best to a unitary representation, while others, more mathematical in nature, allow for easier analysis using the Choi representation.

We finally draw attention to a special class of CP maps that act invariantly on the identity; i.e., $\Phi(\mathbb{I}) = \mathbb{I}$. These are called *unital* maps, and they are closely related to the dual of a quantum channel. Namely, for every CP map $\Phi \in \mathcal{B}(A \to B)$, its dual $\Phi^{\dagger} \in \mathcal{B}(B \to A)$ is the adjoint map fixed by the Hilbert-Schmidt inner product; that is, it is the unique map Φ^{\dagger} satisfying

$$Tr(X\Phi^{\dagger}(Y)) = Tr(\Phi(X)Y)$$
(6)

for all Hermitian $X \in \mathcal{B}(A)$ and Hermitian $Y \in \mathcal{B}(B)$. One can verify that a CP map Φ is trace preserving if and only if its dual Φ^{\dagger} is a unital CP map. To see this, it is perhaps easiest to substitute the operator-sum representation $\Phi(A) = \sum_j K_j A K_j^{\dagger}$ directly into Eq. (6), which reveals $\{K_j^{\dagger}\}$ to be the Kraus operators of Φ^{\dagger} . In terms of its Choi matrix, $J_{\Phi^{\dagger}}^{AB}$ for a channel Φ has the property that its system *B* reduced state is the identity; i.e., $J_{\Phi^{\dagger}}^{B} = \mathbb{I}^{B}$. Compare this to the condition $J_{\Phi}^{A} = \mathbb{I}^{A}$ for J_{Φ}^{AB} previously mentioned.

III. THE GENERAL STRUCTURE OF QUANTUM RESOURCE THEORIES

As discussed in the Introduction, the structure of resource theories goes far beyond quantum physics. For example, the set of all shapes that can be generated by a compass and a ruler could represent "free states" of a resource theory, with the action of the compass and ruler being the free operations. Therefore, in this resource theory, all the shapes that cannot be generated by a compass and ruler are considered as resources.¹ However, the type of resource theories that we will consider here focus on quantum phenomena such as entanglement and coherence. Therefore, in what follows, QRTs are defined with respect to a given Hilbert space so that the structure of quantum mechanics is prominent.

A. Definition of a QRT and tensor-product structures

Already in the early stages of its development, it was clear that quantum information is a theory of interconversions among different resources (Bennett, 2004; Devetak, Harrow, and Winter, 2008). These resources are diversely classified as classical or quantum, noisy or noiseless, and static or dynamic. However, the term "resource theory" appeared much later. Originally, it was coined by Schumacher in 2003 (unpublished), and later in a 2008 paper on the resource theory of quantum reference frames (Gour and Spekkens, 2008). The latter provided one of the first explicit constructions of a QRT that is different from entanglement theory, although the framework for a QRT of information had already been investigated in a series of earlier papers (Oppenheim et al., 2002; M. Horodecki et al., 2003, 2005). Since then, many other resource theories have been developed, and a precise mathematical definition of a resource theory was given by Coecke, Fritz, and Spekkens (2016) and Fritz (2017) as a symmetric monoidal category. However, this definition involves terms from category theory and goes beyond the scope of this review. We therefore start with a mathematically less general definition of quantum resource theories, yet probably more accessible to a reader with a physics background. While in this review we consider mostly finite-dimensional Hilbert spaces over the complex field (in which case the Hilbert spaces will be isomorphic to \mathbb{C}^d for some integer d), the definition can also be applied to infinitedimensional Hilbert spaces.

Definition 1. Let \mathcal{O} be a mapping that assigns to any two input or output physical systems *A* and *B*, with corresponding Hilbert spaces \mathcal{H}^A and \mathcal{H}^B , a unique set of CPTP operations $\mathcal{O}(A \to B) \equiv \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{H}^A \to \mathcal{H}^B) \subset \mathcal{Q}(A \to B)$. Let \mathcal{F} be the induced mapping $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H}) \coloneqq \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{C} \to \mathcal{H})$, where \mathcal{H} is an

¹We credit Rob Spekkens for this simple example of a nonquantum resource theory.

arbitrary Hilbert space. Then the tuple $\mathcal{R} = (\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{O})$ is called a QRT if the following two conditions hold:

- (1) For any physical system A the set $\mathcal{O}(A) := \mathcal{O}(A \to A)$ contains the identity map id^A .
- (2) For any three physical systems A, B, and C, if $\Phi \in \mathcal{O}(A \to B)$ and $\Lambda \in \mathcal{O}(B \to C)$ then $\Lambda \circ \Phi \in \mathcal{O}(A \to C)$.

In a QRT, the set $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H}) \subset S(\mathcal{H})$ defines the set of free states acting on \mathcal{H} , and the elements belonging to $S(\mathcal{H}) \setminus \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})$ are called resource states or static resources. Likewise the CPTP maps in $\mathcal{O}(A \to B)$ are called free operations and the CPTP maps that are not in $\mathcal{O}(A \to B)$ are called dynamical resources. As before, for Hilbert spaces \mathcal{H}^A , \mathcal{H}^B , etc., we often denote sets of free states and free operations in terms of system labels, e.g., $\mathcal{F}(A) \coloneqq \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H}^A)$, $\mathcal{F}(AB) \coloneqq \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H}^A \otimes \mathcal{H}^B)$, $\mathcal{O}(A \to B) \coloneqq \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{H}^A \to \mathcal{H}^B)$, $\mathcal{O}(A) \coloneqq \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{H}^A \to \mathcal{H}^A)$, etc. With a slight abuse of terminology, when the underlying Hilbert spaces are clear, we often refer to \mathcal{F} as the free states and \mathcal{O} as the free operations. Here and throughout the review we also use the notation \subset to indicate a generic set inclusion, which may or may not be strict.

The physical interpretation of Definition 1 is as follows. Consider a quantum system held by one agent or distributed to a group of parties. A QRT models what the parties can physically accomplish given some restrictions or constraints that result from technical or experimental limitations, the rules of some game, or simply the laws of physics. What operations the agents can still perform given these restrictions is mathematically described by $\mathcal{O}(A \to B)$, which is typically much smaller than the set of all quantum channels. The first condition in Definition 1 simply says that the identity map (i.e., doing nothing) is free, an obvious requirement for any meaningful QRT. Condition (2) says that $\Lambda \circ \Phi$ is free whenever Φ and Λ are both free. This ensures that the operations belonging to \mathcal{O} are indeed free in the sense that they can be performed freely any number of times and in any order. A consequence of condition (2) is that the free operations cannot convert any state in \mathcal{F} to one not belonging to \mathcal{F} . More formally,

for any two physical systems *A* and *B*, if
$$\Phi \in \mathcal{O}(A \to B)$$
 and $\rho \in \mathcal{F}(A)$, then $\Phi(\rho) \in \mathcal{F}(B)$.

This can be referred to as the *golden rule of QRTs*, and it justifies the terminology of "resource" for states in $S(\mathcal{H}) \setminus \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})$.

In the literature, the free states and free operations are typically presented on equal footing. However, here we identify the free operations as being more fundamental. If free states are special objects that an experimenter can work with, then one must be able to prepare or obtain them. Such an initial preparation is thus identified by an operation in $\mathcal{O}(\mathbb{C} \to \mathcal{H})$. Nevertheless, note that by keeping the set $\mathcal{O}(\mathbb{C} \to \mathcal{H})$ fixed, different QRTs can be defined with the same set of free states. We therefore treat the free states as their own component of a QRT, even though they emerge from the definition of free operations. Then unless otherwise stated, when we speak of "free operations," we always mean maps acting on input spaces having dimension of at least 2.

The golden rule of QRTs does not imply that resource states fail to play a functional role in the theory. On the contrary, if the agents or parties do happen to have access to a resource state (perhaps prepared separately by a third party), it could possibly be used to circumvent (at least partially) the restrictions on the allowed operations. That is, for some $\sigma \notin \mathcal{F}(B)$, there may exist maps $\Phi \in \mathcal{O}(AB)$ and $\Lambda \notin \mathcal{O}(A)$ such that $\Phi(\rho \otimes \sigma) = \Lambda(\rho)$ for all $\rho \in S(A)$ [or perhaps just a subset of S(A)]. In this case, the state σ is literally functioning as a resource for the simulation of an otherwise restricted operation Λ (see Secs. III.D.5 and V.E). The most celebrated example of this is quantum teleportation in entanglement theory (Bennett *et al.*, 1993).

QRTs correspond to physical models. As such, Hilbert spaces represent the state space of specific physical systems. Therefore, a mathematical isomorphism between two Hilbert spaces, such as $\mathbb{C}^2 \otimes \mathbb{C}^2 \cong \mathbb{C}^4$, does not necessarily translate into the same set of free states (or free operations) for the two spaces. That is, $\mathcal{F}(\mathbb{C}^2\otimes\mathbb{C}^2)$ can be very different from $\mathcal{F}(\mathbb{C}^4)$ since the two Hilbert spaces can represent different physical systems. For instance, the space $\mathbb{C}^2 \otimes \mathbb{C}^2$ might represent two spatially separated spin-1/2 particles, while \mathbb{C}^4 may correspond to a *single* particle with four spin or energy levels. Therefore, in the assignments of \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{O} for a given QRT, one must carefully consider what physical scenario the QRT is attempting to model. On the other hand, a relabeling of tensor-product spaces does not change the free states and free operations of a QRT. That is, if \mathcal{H}^A is a Hilbert space for system A and \mathcal{H}^B is a Hilbert space for system B, then density matrices acting on $\mathcal{H}^A \otimes \mathcal{H}^B$ represent the same physical states as density matrices acting on $\mathcal{H}^B \otimes \mathcal{H}^A$.

While Definition 1 stipulates the minimal mathematical requirements of a QRT, in practice there are other natural properties that one might desire in a QRT. The most obvious of these can be collected together in what will be referred to as a tensor-product structure.

Definition 2. A QRT $\mathcal{R} = (\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{O})$ is said to admit a *tensor-product structure* if the following three conditions hold:

- (1) The free operations are "completely free": For any three physical systems *A*, *B*, and *C*, if $\Phi \in \mathcal{O}(A \to B)$ then $id^C \otimes \Phi \in \mathcal{O}(CA \to CB)$, where id^C is the identity map on $\mathcal{B}(C)$.
- (2) Appending free states is a free operation: For any given free state $\sigma \in \mathcal{F}(B)$, the CPTP map $\Phi_{\sigma}(\rho) \coloneqq \rho \otimes \sigma$ is a free map, i.e., it belongs to $\mathcal{O}(A \to AB)$.
- (3) Discarding a system is a free operation: For any Hilbert space \mathcal{H} , the set $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{H} \to \mathbb{R})$ is not empty.

Remark. Note that $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H} \to \mathbb{R})$ contains only one CPTP map which is given by the trace. Therefore, the statement that $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{H}, \mathbb{R})$ is not empty is equivalent to the statement that the trace of a system is a free map.

These conditions are highly intuitive and are to be expected in most physical models. The first says that a free operation remains free when acting on just one part of any joint system. Such maps are called "completely free" analogous to the notion of "completely positive" maps (see Sec. III.C.1). As a consequence of the first condition, if $\Phi \in \mathcal{O}(A \to B)$ is free and $\Phi' \in \mathcal{O}(A' \to B')$ is free, then $\Phi \otimes \Phi'$ must be free as well. This follows from the fact that $\Phi \otimes \Phi' = (id^B \otimes \Phi') \circ (\Phi \otimes id^{A'})$ is a composition of two free operations. The second and third conditions in Definition 2 state that appending a free ancillary system and discarding a system are both free. Both are natural properties to suppose of a QRT. In particular, the ability to append arbitrary free states to any system reflects the situation where free states are really free to generate.

The defining conditions of a tensor-product structure are not completely independent, and they have several interesting consequences. The first consequence is that the partial trace $Tr \otimes id$ is a free operation, a fact that follows immediately from the first and third properties in Definition 2. A second consequence is that every replacement channel $\Phi_{\sigma} \in \mathcal{Q}(A \rightarrow B)$ of the form $\Phi_{\sigma}(X) \coloneqq \operatorname{Tr}[X]\sigma$, with a fixed $\sigma \in \mathcal{F}(B)$, is free [i.e., belonging to $\mathcal{O}(A \to B)$]. This can be seen by combining the partial trace with the second property in Definition 2. In particular, if ρ and σ are two free states in a QRT with tensorproduct structure, then ρ can be converted to σ by free operations, and vice versa. Finally, a third consequence is that if both $\rho \in \mathcal{F}(A)$ and $\sigma \in \mathcal{F}(B)$ are free, then $\rho \otimes \sigma \in \mathcal{F}(AB)$. This property follows from the previous consequence and the first condition of Definition 2. The intuition behind this property is that if ρ and σ are free to prepare separately, then their joint state $\rho \otimes \sigma$ is also free to prepare. This justifies the terminology of tensor-product structure since it implies that $\mathcal{F}(A) \otimes \mathcal{F}(B) \subset \mathcal{F}(AB)$ for any two Hilbert spaces \mathcal{H}^A and \mathcal{H}^B . Note that a partial converse of this inclusion also holds in the sense that if $\rho^{AB} \in \mathcal{F}(AB)$, then its marginals are also free; i.e., $\rho^A \in \mathcal{F}(A)$ and $\rho^B \in \mathcal{F}(B)$. This holds in light of the earlier observation that the partial trace is a free map.

Most of the physically motivated and previously studied QRTs admit a tensor-product structure, such as the QRTs of entanglement, coherence, asymmetry, and athermality. However, there are less intuitive but still important QRTs that do not possess a tensor-product structure. For example, certain models of Bell nonlocality do not admit such a structure and lead to examples of states ρ and σ that are free, even though $\rho \otimes \sigma$ is not (Palazuelos, 2012). In such cases, the QRT is said to demonstrate a "superactivation" of resource.

B. Consistent QRTs for a given set of free operations

When attempting to model some quantum phenomenon using a QRT, often physical constraints dictate the appropriate choice for either the free states or more generally the free operations. For example, in many quantum information problems, multiple spatially separated parties share a composite quantum system and LOCC emerges as the natural choice of free operations. On the other hand, in the resource theory of coherence, it is more natural to first turn to the free states and identify these as being the collection of density matrices that are diagonal in some fixed basis. With either the free states or free operations given, the other must then be consistently specified so that the golden rule of QRTs is satisfied. We now explore this specification in more detail. As we will first see, when the free operations are given, the choice of free states is often unique.

For a given Hilbert space, suppose that the free operations of a physical system A are fixed by the physical constraints, and let us consider the structure of QRTs that are consistent with these free operations $\mathcal{O}(A)$. First observe that the set $\mathcal{O}(A)$ imposes a *preorder* on the set of density matrices $\mathcal{S}(A)$ (see Sec. V.D). That is, given two arbitrary states $\rho, \sigma \in \mathcal{S}(A)$, we can write $\rho \xrightarrow{\mathcal{O}} \sigma$ if there exists a free operation $\Phi \in \mathcal{O}(A)$ such that $\sigma = \Phi(\rho)$. If both $\rho \xrightarrow{\mathcal{O}} \sigma$ and $\sigma \xrightarrow{\mathcal{O}} \rho$ we write $\rho \approx \sigma$. Clearly, the relation $\xrightarrow{\mathcal{O}}$ is a preorder on $\mathcal{S}(A)$ since for any $\rho, \sigma, \gamma \in \mathcal{S}(A)$, if $\rho \xrightarrow{\mathcal{O}} \sigma$ and $\sigma \xrightarrow{\mathcal{O}} \gamma$ then also $\rho \xrightarrow{\mathcal{O}} \gamma$. For any set of operations $\mathcal{O}(A)$, we can then define the associated minimal set of free states $\mathcal{F}_{\min}(A)$ as follows:

$$\mathcal{F}_{\min}(A) \equiv \{ \rho \colon \forall \ \sigma \in \mathcal{S}(A) \exists \Phi \in \mathcal{O}(A) \\ \text{such that } \rho = \Phi(\sigma) \}.$$
(7)

In other words, $\rho \in \mathcal{F}_{\min}(A)$ if it can be freely generated starting from any other state. For a QRT with free operations $\mathcal{O}(A)$ and any nonempty set of free states $\mathcal{F}(A)$ consistent with $\mathcal{O}(A)$, we must have that $\mathcal{F}_{\min}(A) \subset \mathcal{F}(A)$, a relationship expressing the sense in which $\mathcal{F}_{\min}(A)$ is a "minimal" set. This is because if $\sigma \in \mathcal{F}(A)$ and $\rho \in \mathcal{F}_{\min}(A)$, then by definition $\sigma \xrightarrow{\mathcal{O}} \rho$, which means that ρ can be obtained from a free state by a free operation; hence, $\rho \in \mathcal{F}(A)$.

Suppose further that the QRT has the property that any two free states on the same space can be converted from one to the other using the free operations. That is, ρ , $\sigma \in \mathcal{F}(A)$ implies $\rho \approx \sigma$. When this condition holds, then we must have that $\mathcal{F}_{\min}(A) = \mathcal{F}(A)$. This remarkable observation follows easily from the fact that $\mathcal{F}_{\min}(A) \subset \mathcal{F}(A)$, which by assumption means that $\rho \xrightarrow{\mathcal{O}} \sigma$ for any $\sigma \in \mathcal{F}(A)$ and any $\rho \in \mathcal{F}_{\min}(A)$. But by the definition of $\mathcal{F}_{\min}(A)$, it holds that $\omega \xrightarrow{\mathcal{O}} \rho$ for all $\omega \in \mathcal{S}(A)$. Hence, we also have that $\sigma \in \mathcal{F}_{\min}(A)$ since $\omega \xrightarrow{\mathcal{O}} \sigma$, which establishes the equality $\mathcal{F}_{\min}(A) = \mathcal{F}(A)$.

In what type of QRTs can one free state always be converted to any other using the free operations? Clearly the property holds for any QRT that admits a tensor-product structure. But more generally, it suffices for the QRT to allow both discarding a system (i.e., "trash") and preparing any free state. Combining these yields a replacement channel $\Phi_{\sigma}(X) =$ $\text{Tr}[X]\sigma$ for some free state σ , and thus the set of free states must be $\mathcal{F}_{\min}(A)$ for these QRTs.

In conclusion, given a set of free operations $\mathcal{O}(A)$, if one desires a QRT in which any two free states are freely interconvertible and discarding systems is allowed, then $\mathcal{F}_{\min}(A)$ is the only set of free states that is consistent with the set $\mathcal{O}(A)$. This demonstrates clearly how any natural physical constraint on the set of quantum processes leads to a unique QRT.

C. Consistent QRTs for a given set of free states

As previously discussed, certain types of quantum phenomena can be identified directly on the level of states without involving constraints on quantum processes. This is the case for coherence and some models of Bell nonlocality. When characterizing such phenomena within a QRT framework, the task then becomes to identify sets of free operations that are consistent with the given set of free states. Unlike the conclusion reached in the previous section—that fixing the free operations leads to a unique set of free states \mathcal{F}_{min} under reasonable assumptions—here there exists much greater freedom in choosing a consistent set of free operations for a fixed set of free states, even for QRTs admitting a tensor-product structure.

Often some physical consideration will motivate a certain choice of free operations. But even in this case, it is valuable to study different classes of free operations for the same set of free states. This is because different classes may have an easier or more elegant mathematical structure than the physically motivated class of operations. This is the case, for example, in entanglement theory where LOCC is a notoriously difficult class of operations to characterize. To avoid the technical difficulties that arise when using these operations, much work has been devoted to the study of entanglement theory under larger and more analytically friendly sets of operations such as separable operations, nonentangling operations, and more (Rains, 1997, 1999a; Vedral and Plenio, 1998; Pankowski et al., 2013; Chitambar et al., 2017). All of these resource theories have in common that the set of separable states is the set of free states. Studying more powerful operations can lead to proving no-go results for the weaker yet more natural choice of free operations. Indeed, any quantum information task that cannot be performed by the more powerful class cannot be performed by the weaker one. In this section, we survey different consistent sets of free operations in general QRTs, highlighting their various physical motivations and properties.

1. Resource nongenerating (RNG), *k*-RNG, and completely RNG operations

Associated with any set of free states, there will always be a maximal set of operations that is allowed by the definition of a QRT. This is the set of resource nongenerating operations which is defined as follows:

Definition 3. Let \mathcal{F} be as in Definition 1. For any two physical systems A and B, the set of RNG operations $\mathcal{O}_{\max}(A \to B)$ consists of all quantum channels $\Phi \in \mathcal{Q}(A \to B)$ having the property that $\Phi(\rho) \in \mathcal{F}(B)$ whenever $\rho \in \mathcal{F}(A)$.

Since the defining property of QRTs is that resource states cannot be generated from free states, it is obvious that if \mathcal{O} is any other assignment of free operations that is consistent with \mathcal{F} , then it must be that $\mathcal{O} \subset \mathcal{O}_{max}$ [meaning $\mathcal{O}(A \to B) \subset$ $\mathcal{O}_{max}(A \to B)$ for any input or output systems A and B]. In this sense, \mathcal{O}_{max} is justified in being called the *maximal* assignment of operations for \mathcal{F} .

One might wonder whether the maximal set of operations $\mathcal{O}_{\max}(A)$ is related to the minimal set of states $\mathcal{F}_{\min}(A)$ given by Eq. (7). In fact, there is a connection based on the discussion following Eq. (7). From its definition, the RNG operations $\mathcal{O}_{\max}(A)$ for a given set of free states $\mathcal{F}(A)$ can transform any free state to any other. Therefore, by the conclusion of Sec. III.B, we must have $\mathcal{F}(A) = \mathcal{F}_{\min}(A)$, and it is the unique set of free states that is consistent with $\mathcal{O}_{\max}(A)$.

We can extend the notion of RNG maps to the setting where \mathcal{H}^A and \mathcal{H}^B represent subsystems of some large system. By Definition 1 of a QRT, the identity map is considered free. Therefore, if $\Phi \in \mathcal{O}(A \to B)$ is a free CPTP map, one would intuitively expect that $\mathrm{id}^C \otimes \Phi$ is also a free operation, where id^C is the identity map on $\mathcal{B}(C)$. Condition (1) of a tensorproduct structure has identified any free map Φ having this property as being "completely" free. Note that if Φ is not completely free, then there exists a bipartite free state $\sigma^{CA} \in \mathcal{F}(CA)$ such that $\mathrm{id}^C \otimes \Phi(\sigma^{CA})$ is not free. More generally, we can restrict the dimension of system *C* and see whether $\mathrm{id}^C \otimes \Phi$ is still resource nongenerating. This leads to the following family of operational classes defined for a given set of free states.

Definition 4. Let \mathcal{F} be as in Definition 1. A map $\Phi \in \mathcal{O}_{\max}(\mathcal{H}^A \to \mathcal{H}^B)$ is *k*-resource nongenerating (*k*-RNG) if $\mathrm{id}_k \otimes \Phi \in \mathcal{O}_{\max}(\mathbb{C}^k \otimes \mathcal{H}^A \to \mathbb{C}^k \otimes \mathcal{H}^B)$. Moreover, Φ is completely resource nongenerating (CRNG) if it is *k*-RNG for all *k*. We denote by $\mathcal{O}_{k\max}(A \to B)$ the set of *k*-RNG operations, and by $\mathcal{O}_{c\max}(A \to B)$ the set of CRNG operations.

This definition generalizes the concepts of k positivity and complete positivity to QRTs. Particularly, if we take the free set $\mathcal{F}(A)$ to be the set of all density matrices acting on \mathcal{H}^A , then maps that are k-RNG and completely RNG are equivalent to maps that are k positive and completely positive, respectively. Moreover, the set of k-RNG maps with k = 1 is simply the set of RNG maps, and similar to k positivity, it is known that if a CPTP map in $\mathcal{Q}(A \to B)$ is k-RNG with $k \ge d_A :=$ dim (\mathcal{H}^A) then it is completely RNG. We therefore have the following inclusion relations:

RNG = 1- $RNG \supset 2$ - $RNG \supset \cdots \supset d_A$ -RNG = CRNG.

In some QRTs these inclusions are all equalities while in others they are all strict. For example, if the free states \mathcal{F} are separable states, then the set $\mathcal{O}_{c \max}$ is precisely the set of separable maps, while if the free states are those with a positive partial transpose (PPT), then $\mathcal{O}_{c \max}$ is the set of completely PPT-preserving maps (Rains, 1999b). In both these cases, the set $\mathcal{O}_{c \max}$ is strictly smaller than \mathcal{O}_{\max} . In contrast, for the QRT of speakable coherence, the two sets of operations are equivalent. Note that if a QRT $\mathcal{R} = (\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{O})$ admits a tensor-product structure, then any CPTP map in $\mathcal{O}(A \rightarrow B)$ must be completely RNG.

2. Physically implementable operations

The use of CPTP maps and generalized measurements in quantum information science is so common that their physical implementations are often taken for granted. As described in Sec. II, the Stinespring dilation theorem ensures that every CPTP map on system A can be implemented by applying a unitary evolution on joint system A + E, where E represents the environment that has inaccessible degrees of freedom and which is initially uncorrelated with A. True as this may be, often the joint unitary identified in this theorem may not be physically implementable under the physical constraints of the QRT. For example, in any QRT with locality constraints (such as entanglement), joint unitaries cannot be applied across the spatially separated subsystems. This means that the only consistent unitary dilations are those that factor into independent dilations on each of the subsystems. If no resource is drawn from the environment, the generated CPTP maps would then likewise factor into a product of independent maps. However, if classical communication is allowed between the subsystems, then there will be free CPTP maps not having this form. Does this mean that operations such as LOCC cannot be implemented in a way that is consistent with the constraints of the QRT? If quantum mechanics permitted only unitary evolution, then this would indeed be the case. Yet standard quantum mechanics also allows for projective measurements as a distinct physical process, and this should be combined with the application of a joint unitary on system A + E when considering physical implementations.

From a QRT perspective, it is natural to suppose that the free operations can be generated by a sequence of unitary evolutions (possibly on composite systems), projective measurements, and processing of the classical outcomes, where each element in the sequence is itself a free action. In particular, the classical processing would encompass classical communication between subsystems, if this were allowed in the QRT. Without such consistency, the QRT would identify certain maps as being free with no way to physically implement these processes using free operations (Chitambar and Gour, 2016b; Marvian and Spekkens, 2016). We formalize this idea in the following definition.

Definition 5. Let $\mathcal{R} = (\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{O})$ be a QRT in which appending free states and discarding subsystems are free operations. A CPTP map $\Phi \in \mathcal{O}(A \to B)$ is said to be *physically implementable* if it can be decomposed into a composition of CPTP maps each acting on QC states according to

$$\sum_{i} p_{i} \rho_{i} \otimes |i\rangle \langle i|^{X} \mapsto \sum_{i,j,k} q_{k|i,j} p_{i} \Phi_{j|i}(\rho_{i}) \otimes |k\rangle \langle k|^{X}, \quad (8)$$

where $q_{k|i,j}$ is a family of conditional probability distributions, and each CP map $\Phi_{i|i}$ has the form

$$\Phi_{j|i} \colon \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^{A_i}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^{A_{j|i}}),$$

$$\Phi_{j|i} \colon \rho \mapsto \operatorname{Tr}_{E'_i}[(\mathbb{I}^{A'_i} \otimes P_{j|i})U_i(\rho \otimes \gamma_i)U_i^{\dagger}], \qquad (9)$$

in which $\gamma_i^E \in \mathcal{F}(E_i)$ is a free state, $U_i \in \mathcal{O}(A_i E_i \to A'_i E'_i)$ is a free unitary, and $\{P_{j|i}\}_j$ constitutes a complete set of orthonormal projectors for a free projective measurement on system E'_i . The resource theory \mathcal{R} is called physically implementable if all the free CPTP maps are physically implementable.

In this definition, it is assumed that appending free states and discarding subsystems are both free operations. This is to ensure that the CPTP maps of Eq. (8) are indeed free.

In more detail, the transformation in Eq. (8) is generated as follows; see Fig. 3. Conditioned on a classical input *i*, which might represent the outcome of a previous measurement, the experimenter introduces the free state ω_i on system E_i and applies a joint unitary U_i across A_i and E_i . A projective measurement $\{P_{j|i}\}_j$ is then performed on a subsystem E'_i , which may be larger or smaller than the original ancilla system E_i . At this point in the process, the generated CPTP map has the form $\sum_{i,j} \Phi_{j|i} \otimes |j\rangle \langle j|^X$. The final step involves sending



FIG. 3. A physically implementable CPTP map is one that can be realized by a sequence of channels, each having the form depicted in the figure. The four steps—(i) appending ancilla state ω_i , (ii) applying a unitary U_i , (iii) performing a projective measurement, and (iv) classically postprocessing the measurement outcome—all must be free operations in the QRT.

the classical register through the classical channel $|j\rangle\langle j| \rightarrow \sum_{k} p_{k|i,j} |k\rangle\langle k|$. Doing so generates a CPTP map described by Eq. (8).

For a given designation of free states \mathcal{F} , it is possible to construct a unique physically implementable QRT that admits a tensor-product structure. Simply define the free operations to be any composition of (i) appending arbitrary free states, (ii) discarding subsystems, (iii) CRNG unitaries and projective measurements, and (iv) all free classical postprocessing maps. For the overall input and output spaces $\mathcal{H}^A/\mathcal{H}^B$, we denote this set of operations as $\mathcal{O}_{\min}(A \to B)$. By design, $(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{O}_{\min})$ is physically implementable and has tensor-product structure. Moreover, \mathcal{O}_{\min} is the minimal set of free operations that is consistent with \mathcal{F} , when considering QRTs such that all the isometries in \mathcal{O}_{\max} are completely free. The class \mathcal{O}_{\min} fits into the hierarchy of operations as follows:

$$\mathcal{O}_{\min} \subset \mathcal{O}_{c\max} \subset \mathcal{O}_{\max}$$

In a general resource theory, the set of CRNG unitaries can be strictly smaller than the set of RNG unitaries and strictly larger than the set of free unitaries. In several theories such as the QRT of athermality, the set of free operations is defined precisely as in Eq. (9). One starts by identifying the set of free unitaries and then proceeds with the definition of free operations as in (9) (in the case of thermodynamics, there would be no projective measurement). However, in general, since the set \mathcal{O}_{min} can be very small, this procedure often leads to a degenerate QRT where it is almost always impossible to convert one resource state to another using physically implementable operations. This is the case in the QRT of speakable coherence (see Sec. IV.A.4).

3. Other classes of free operations

Beyond those just discussed, there are many other types of operations that one can consider for a given set of free states. Here we describe three more that have been explored in the literature. The first is the class of dually resource nongenerating operations, and it has been studied only recently in QRTs. This set of operations, denoted by \mathcal{O}_{dual} , consists of all RNG operations for which their dual is also RNG. More precisely, $\Phi \in \mathcal{O}_{dual}$ if $\Phi \in \mathcal{O}_{max}$ and for any free state ρ , the state $\Phi^{\dagger}(\rho)/\text{Tr}[\Phi^{\dagger}(\rho)]$ is also free. Here we must normalize the state since Φ^{\dagger} is not necessarily trace preserving.

By definition, dually RNG operations are a subset of RNG, and in certain QRTs this inclusion is strict, with dually RNG operations being a subset of even CRNG operations. For example, in the QRT of speakable coherence RNG = CRNGwhereas the set of dually RNG operations coincides with the set of dephasing covariant incoherent operations (Chitambar and Gour, 2016b; Marvian and Spekkens, 2016), which is a strict subset of CRNG. In entanglement theory, on the other hand, all separable maps are CRNG, and it is simple to see that the dual of a separable map is also separable. In fact, the set CRNG in this theory is precisely the set of separable maps, and it can be shown to be a strict subset of the set of dually nonentangling operations (Chitambar et al., 2017). In general, dually RNG operations provide a better approximation to the physically motivated set of free operations than the full set of RNG operations. Their usefulness arises in QRTs where the problem of state interconversion can be solved by semidefinite programming (SDP) for RNG operations but not the physically motivated ones (this occurs, for example, in some models of coherence). In such QRTs, state interconversion under the dually RNG operations can also be solved with SDP, thereby providing a better approximation of what is feasible using the physically motivated free operations.

The replacement channel $\Phi(X) = \text{Tr}[X]\sigma$ with $\sigma \in \mathcal{F}(A)$ is RNG. However, it is not necessarily dually RNG. To see why, observe that its dual is given by $\Phi^{\dagger}(Y) = \text{Tr}[Y\sigma]\mathbb{I}$. Therefore, the replacement channel is dually RNG if and only if the maximally mixed state is considered free in the resource theory.

Another family of free operations is stochastically resource nongenerating operations, which we denote by $\mathcal{O}_{\text{stochastic}}$. This set of operations has been used heavily in the QRT of coherence (Baumgratz, Cramer, and Plenio, 2014), and it is defined in terms of a Kraus operator decomposition. A CPTP map $\Phi \in \mathcal{O}(A \to B)$ belongs to $\mathcal{O}_{\text{stochastic}}$ if there exists an operator-sum representation $\Phi(\cdot) = \sum_j K_j(\cdot)K_j^{\dagger}$ such that for any free state $\rho \in \mathcal{F}(A)$, it holds that

$$\frac{K_{j}\rho K_{j}^{\dagger}}{\operatorname{Tr}[K_{j}\rho K_{j}^{\dagger}]} \in \mathcal{F}(B) \quad \forall \ j.$$

$$(10)$$

That is, any element in this particular operator-sum representation of Φ induces a resource nongenerating transformation. This is a much stronger requirement than Φ being RNG, and often this strengthening makes $\mathcal{O}_{\text{stochastic}}$ simpler to work with. Both LOCC and separable operations in entanglement theory are stochastically RNG. In terms of CPTP maps, stochastically RNG operations can be modeled by appending a classical register to each resource nongenerating Kraus operator K_j and summing over all outcomes $\Phi(\cdot) =$ $\sum_j K_j(\cdot)K_j^{\dagger} \otimes |j\rangle \langle j|^X$. This CPTP map is sometimes called a "heralded" or "flagged" measurement since the outcome jcan always be recovered after applying Φ by measuring the classical system X.

A final class of operations for a given set of free states \mathcal{F} actually violates the golden rule of QRTs. Nevertheless, as discussed in Sec. VII.C, these operations have proven to be quite useful in the study of asymptotic resource convertibility. For a fixed $\epsilon > 0$, the class of ϵ -resource generating (ϵ -RG)

operations is the set of CPTP maps belonging to $\mathcal{Q}(A \rightarrow B)$ such that

$$\sup_{\rho \in \mathcal{F}(A)} \mathcal{R}_{\text{rob}}(\Phi(\rho)) < \epsilon, \tag{11}$$

where

$$\mathcal{R}_{\rm rob}(\omega) = \min_{\sigma \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H})} \left\{ s \ge 0 \left| \frac{\omega + s\sigma}{1 + s} \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H}) \right\} \right\}$$

is the resource robustness for $\omega \in S(\mathcal{H})$ (Brandão and Gour, 2015); see also Sec. VI.E.2.

D. Types of QRTs

Definition 1 provides the general definition of a QRT, and it imposes little structure on the theory. We immediately introduced the tensor-product structure since it embodies a collection of highly natural properties that are possessed by almost all QRTs studied in literature. In this section we review other types of mathematical structures that can arise in QRTs that are independent of the tensor-product structure. A summary of these structures is given in Fig. 4.

1. Convex resource theories

Convexity is a convenient mathematical property. A QRT $\mathcal{R} = (\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{O})$ is called *convex* if $\mathcal{O}(A \to B)$ is convex for any choices of Hilbert spaces [i.e., $p\Phi + (1-p)\Lambda \in \mathcal{O}(A \to B)$ for any $\Phi, \Lambda \in \mathcal{O}(A \to B)$, $p \in [0, 1]$, and arbitrary \mathcal{H}^A and \mathcal{H}^B]. In our formulation of QRTs, the free states $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H}) = \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{C} \to \mathcal{H})$ are defined as a special case of the free operations, and so convexity of the free operations implies that the set of free states $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})$ is convex for every \mathcal{H} . The converse however is not true in general: a convex set of free states does not imply a convex set of free operations. On the other hand, if the set of free



FIG. 4. A heuristic diagram of QRTs, classified according to the properties of their set of free states. Non-Gaussianity is an example of a QRT with a nonconvex set of free states. Entanglement theory is an example of a QRT that is convex but not affine. Real (vs complex) quantum mechanics is an example of an affine QRT that does not have a resource-destroying map, and athermality, asymmetry, and coherence, are examples of QRTs with a resource-destroying map. From Hickey and Gour, 2018.

states is convex, then any convex combination of free operations is a RNG map. In particular, the set of RNG maps is convex if and only if the set of free states is convex.

Many QRTs, such as entanglement, coherence, asymmetry, and athermality, are all convex. The rich mathematical tools from convex analysis can therefore be applied to these resource theories. This is briefly discussed in Sec. VII.B.

There are subtleties in associating physical meaning to the convexity of a QRT. It is often argued that convex QRTs do not allow for the generation of resource simply through the act of forgetting. Specifically, suppose a free state ρ_i is prepared with probability p_i , for i = 1, ..., n. Then, as the reasoning goes, forgetting which state was prepared leads to the mixture $\sum_{i} p_{i} \rho_{i}$, which should also be a free state. However, as pointed out by Plenio and Virmani, this model for forgetting information is too simplistic (Plenio, 2005; Plenio and Virmani, 2007). First, the described transformation of an ensemble of states $\{\rho_i, p_i\}_i$ to the mixed density matrix $p\rho$ + $(1-p)\sigma$ is not a CPTP map, and it therefore lies outside the resource-theoretic framework described here. But more importantly, "forgetting information" involves discarding classical information, and this process needs to be considered. A more precise model begins by describing a probabilistic state preparation through the introduction of some classical randomness $\sum_i p_i |i\rangle \langle i|^X$, which is a density matrix diagonal in the computational basis $\{|i\rangle\}_i$. State preparation maps are then performed, conditioned on the classical system X. This leads to the QC state $\sum_{i} p_i \rho_i^A \otimes |i\rangle \langle i|^X$. The act of forgetting is then modeled by discarding the classical system X, which corresponds to the transformation

$$\sum_{i} p_{i} \rho_{i}^{A} \otimes |i\rangle \langle i|^{X} \to \sum_{i} p_{i} \rho_{i}^{A}$$
(12)

(Plenio, 2005; Plenio and Virmani, 2007). Thus, if the classically "flagged" mixture $\sum_i p_i \rho_i^A \otimes |i\rangle \langle i|^X$ is free, one naturally expects that the "unflagged" mixture $\sum_i p_i \rho_i^A$ is also free. In this model, the intuition that "forgetting should not generate quantum resource" is made precise in the condition that "discarding classical information does not generate a quantum resource."

While every ensemble-to-mixture transformation

$$\{\rho_i, p_i\}_i \to \sum_i p_i \rho_i \tag{13}$$

is resource nongenerating if and only if the QRT is convex, whether or not the transformation in Eq. (12) is resource nongenerating has nothing to do with the QRT being convex. Rather, it depends entirely on whether discarding classical systems is a free operation in the theory. Nevertheless, in most nonconvex QRTs discarding classical systems can indeed be resource generating, which explains why nonconvexity is often associated with the phenomenon of "resource generation by forgetting," even though the precise model described here is usually overlooked.

2. Affine resource theories

Many QRTs such as quantum thermodynamics, coherence, and asymmetry satisfy a stronger condition than convexity,

which can be described as the *affine* condition. Recall that $\mathcal{F}(A)$ is convex if any convex combination of free states $\sigma_j \in \mathcal{F}(A)$, i.e., $\sum_j t_j \sigma_j$, is itself free. Here the numbers t_j are all non-negative and sum to 1. In an affine combination of states, the non-negativity condition on the coefficients is relaxed while still requiring that $\sum_j t_j = 1$. As a result, affine combinations of states are not necessarily positive semidefinite, but their trace is still 1.

A QRT $\mathcal{R} = (\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{O})$ is called affine if, for any two physical systems *A* and *B*, any CPTP map that can be written as an affine combination of elements in $\mathcal{O}(A \to B)$ is itself in $\mathcal{O}(A \to B)$. Like convexity, this definition implies that the set of free states is closed under affine combinations that result in a valid density matrix. That is, if $\sigma = \sum_j t_j \sigma_j \in S(A)$ with $t_j \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\sigma_j \in \mathcal{F}(A)$, then $\sigma \in \mathcal{F}(A)$. This property alone does not ensure that the QRT is affine. However, the set of free states is affine if and only if the set of RNG maps is affine, as well as the set of free operations is affine if and only if their Choi matrices form an affine set.

In entanglement theory, every bipartite quantum state (even an entangled one) can be written as an affine combination of pure product states. Therefore, in this sense, entanglement theory is maximally nonaffine. On the other hand, the sets of free states in the QRTs of quantum thermodynamics, coherence, and asymmetry are all affine. In thermodynamics it is affine because there is only one free state, namely, the Gibbs state, while in the QRT of coherence it is affine because the free states are all the diagonal states and any linear combination of diagonal states is still diagonal.

As exemplified by entanglement theory, the affine condition is much stronger than convexity. Consequently, certain mathematical tools used to study affine QRTs cannot be applied to convex QRTs (Gour, 2017). If a QRT has an affine free set of states, but nonaffine free operations, then one can replace the free operations with an affine one (e.g., the set of RNG or dually RNG) to obtain a fully affine QRT. This can often provide a good approximation to the original QRT.

3. QRTs with a resource-destroying map

While the structure of a general affine QRT is simpler than a convex one, it can still be very rich and complex thereby making certain information-theoretic tasks difficult to analyze. In fact, many of the highly studied QRTs (such as quantum thermodynamics, coherence, and asymmetry) have an additional structure that is not captured by the affine condition. These theories all possess what is called a resource-destroying map (Liu, Hu, and Lloyd, 2017).

Definition 6. Given a QRT $\mathcal{R} = (\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{O})$ and Hilbert space \mathcal{H} , a resource-destroying map is a (not necessarily linear) map $\Delta \colon \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ with the following two properties:

- (1) It maps any free state $\rho \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})$ to itself; i.e., $\Delta(\rho) = \rho$.
- It maps any (possibly not free) state ρ ∈ S(H) to a free state; i.e., Δ(ρ) ∈ F(H).

From its definition, it is not clear that a resource-destroying map exists for a given QRT. However, for quantum correlations (specifically quantum discord), Liu, Hu, and Lloyd (2017) described a nonlinear resource-destroying map and studied some of its applications in the QRT of quantum discord. They further showed that nonlinearity is a necessary condition of a resource-destroying map in any nonconvex QRT, such as quantum discord. In contrast, for the QRT of coherence, a linear resource-destroying map indeed exists and plays a central role in the theory. Namely, it is the completely dephasing map which removes all the off-diagonal terms from the input density matrix (with respect to some fixed basis).

One necessary condition for the existence of a linear CPTP resource-destroying map is that the set of free states $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})$ be affine (Gour, 2017). This follows from the simple observation that if $\sigma = \sum_j t_j \sigma_j \ge 0$ is an affine combination of free states then $\Delta(\sigma) = \sum_j t_j \Delta(\sigma_j) = \sum_j t_j \sigma_j = \sigma$, which implies that σ is free since the output of a resource-destroying map is always free. However, the affine condition alone is not sufficient to determine if there exists a CPTP resource-destroying map. Particularly, there exists affine QRTs that do not have a CPTP resource-destroying map. The full necessary and sufficient conditions for the existence of a CPTP resource-destroying map were derived by (Gour (2017).

4. Nonconvex resource theories

While convexity is a mathematically convenient property to have, there are many QRTs that are not convex. For example, consider a bipartite quantum system consisting of two subsystems A and B held by Alice and Bob, respectively. If the parties cannot communicate (not even classically) due to some constraint, then their physical capabilities amount to applying local quantum channels Φ and Λ , resulting in an overall CPTP map of the form $\Phi \otimes \Lambda$. Therefore, in this scenario every allowed operation is a tensor product of two CPTP maps, and similarly every free state is a tensor-product state $\rho^A \otimes \rho^B$. The sets of free states and free operations are not convex, which makes this QRT mathematically difficult to study. The resources in this model are bipartite states having either classical or quantum correlations. It is therefore a QRT of total correlations, distinguished from resource theories of quantum correlations, such as discord.

There are other important nonconvex QRTs. For example, in quantum optics, Gaussian operations are relatively easier to implement than non-Gaussian operations, and therefore one can construct a QRT in which Gaussian states and Gaussian operations are free. This QRT is neither convex nor finite dimensional, making results relatively difficult to obtain (see Sec. IV.C.1 for recent progress).

One general strategy for studying a nonconvex theory is to enlarge the set of free states and free operations by taking their convex hulls. Then the standard techniques of convex analysis can be employed. In some cases, such as the QRT of total correlations, this relaxation is too strong, and all states become free. On the other hand, this strategy leads to nontrivial results in the QRT of non-Gaussianity (Lami *et al.*, 2018; Zhuang, Shor, and Shapiro, 2018).

5. Resource theories of quantum processes

So far we have discussed QRTs involving interconversions among resource states. That is, the resources have been identified as all states not belonging to the set of free states $\mathcal{F}(A)$. However, quantum states are static objects, and not all resources are static in nature. To generalize the concept of resource, recall first that every resource state can be identified as a special type of CPTP map $\Psi: \mathcal{B}(A) \to \mathcal{B}(B)$, in which $\mathcal{B}(A) = \mathbb{C}$. More generally, one then constructs a QRT in which the resources are CPTP maps $\Psi: \mathcal{B}(A) \to \mathcal{B}(B)$ for different input spaces $\mathcal{B}(A)$. We say that Ψ is a dynamical resource if $d_A = \dim(\mathcal{H}^A) > 1$.

Already in its early days (Bennett, 2004; Devetak and Winter, 2004; Devetak, Harrow, and Winter, 2008; Wilde, 2017), it was recognized that the whole field of quantum information can be viewed as a theory of interconversions among different resources, where the resources can be classified as being static or dynamic, classical or quantum, noisy or noiseless. This diverse classification of resources leads to the rich field of quantum Shannon theory.

From this more general perspective in which resources are not limited to quantum states, any QRT must also specify what type of transformations a given dynamical resource Ψ can undergo. To answer this question, we first need to understand what is the most general yet still physical transformation that a quantum channel can undergo. Let $\mathcal{B}(A \to B)$ be the space of all linear maps from $\mathcal{B}(A)$ to $\mathcal{B}(B)$. The space $\mathcal{B}(A \to B)$ is itself a finite-dimensional Hilbert space with inner product given by

$$\langle \Phi, \Psi \rangle \coloneqq \operatorname{Tr}[(J_{\Phi})^{\dagger} J_{\Psi}],$$

for all linear maps $\Psi, \Phi: \mathcal{B}(A) \to \mathcal{B}(B)$ having Choi matrices J_{Φ} and J_{Ψ} , respectively. Similarly, let $\mathcal{B}(C \to D)$ be the Hilbert space of all linear maps from $\mathcal{B}(C)$ to $\mathcal{B}(D)$, and let $\Theta: \mathcal{B}(A \to B) \to \mathcal{B}(C \to D)$ be a linear map. Note that the spaces $\mathcal{B}(A \to B)$ and $\mathcal{B}(C \to D)$ contain the subsets of all CPTP maps. Therefore, if Θ represents a physical transformation, then we must have $\Theta[\Psi] \in \mathcal{Q}(C \to D)$ if $\Psi \in \mathcal{Q}(A \to B)$. In this case we say that Θ is positive. Moreover, Θ is said to be completely positive if $\mathbb{1}^{A'B'} \otimes$ $\Theta: \mathcal{B}(A' \to B') \otimes \mathcal{B}(A \to B) \to \mathcal{B}(A' \to B') \otimes \mathcal{B}(C \to D)$ is positive for all systems A' and B'. Here we used the symbol $\mathbb{1}^{A'B'}$ to denote the identity map from $\mathcal{B}(A' \to B')$ to itself. Since transformations restricted to subsystems are physically possible, we conclude that any physical transformation $\Theta: \mathcal{B}(A \to B) \to \mathcal{B}(C \to D)$ must be completely positive, and we call these objects superchannels.

Chiribella, D'Ariano, and Perinotti (2008) showed that any superchannel $\Theta: \mathcal{B}(A \to B) \to \mathcal{B}(C \to D)$ can be realized as follows. Denoting $\Phi^{C \to D} := \Theta[\Psi^{A \to B}]$ for an arbitrary input $\Psi^{A \to B}$, the action of Θ decomposes as

$$\Phi^{C \to D} = \Gamma^{BE \to D}_{\text{post}} \circ (\Psi^{A \to B} \otimes \mathsf{id}^{E}) \circ \Gamma^{C \to AE}_{\text{pre}}, \qquad (14)$$

where $\Gamma_{\text{pre}}^{C \to AE} \in \mathcal{Q}(C \to AE)$ is a preprocessing CPTP map, $\Gamma_{\text{post}}^{BE \to D} \in \mathcal{Q}(BE \to D)$ is the postprocessing CPTP map, and system *E* corresponds to a possible side channel; see Fig. 5.²

²In fact, dim(*E*) can be taken to be no greater than dim(*A*) \cdot dim(*C*), and Γ_{pre} can also be taken to be an isometry.



FIG. 5. Realization of a superchannel.

Figure 5 depicts the most general evolution that a quantum channel Ψ can undergo. In general, the only restriction on the pre- and postprocessing is that they are quantum channels (i.e., CPTP maps). However, in each QRT, the set of free channels consists of only a subset of all CPTP maps. Hence, a dynamical resource $\Psi: \mathcal{Q}(A \to B)$ can be converted by free operations to another dynamical resource $\Phi: \mathcal{Q}(C \to D)$ if and only if there exists an auxiliary system *E*, a free preprocessing map $\Gamma_{\text{post}}^{C \to AE} \in \mathcal{O}(BE \to D)$ such that the relation (14) holds. Note that we can view this interconversion as a *simulation* of the quantum channel Φ with the dynamical resource Ψ .

The free superchannels, acting on dynamical resources as previously described, cannot generate a resource from a free channel. That is, from the definition of a QRT, if $\Psi \in \mathcal{O}(A \rightarrow B)$ then the map $\Phi^{C \rightarrow D}$ as given in Eq. (14) with free pre- and postprocessing is also a free channel [i.e., $\Phi \in \mathcal{O}(C \rightarrow D)$]. However, in analogy with RNG channels, the set of all RNG superchannels (i.e., superchannels that do not generate a dynamical resource from a free resource) can, in general, be larger than the set of free superchannels. One can therefore define different types of free superchannels in analogy with those defined in the previous sections; but to our knowledge, this direction has not been studied so far.

This formalism of superchannels enables one to consider the most general conversion of a resource channel $\Psi^{A \to B}$ into another channel $\Phi^{C \to D}$. In the special case that both $d_A = 1$ and $d_C = 1$, $\Psi^{A \to B}$ and $\Phi^{C \to D}$ can be viewed as density matrices, and in this case the free superchannel that achieves this transformation becomes equivalent to a free channel in $\mathcal{O}(B \to D)$. Another interesting special case is that in which $d_A > 1$ but $d_C = 1$. That is, a dynamical resource (a quantum channel) is used to generate a static resource (a quantum state). Conversely, when $d_A = 1$ but $d_C > 1$, a static resource is used to generate a dynamical resource. Quantum teleportation is a perfect example of such an interconversion; see Fig. 6.

The resource $\Psi^{A \to B}$ can be classified into different types. Devetak and Winter (2004) introduced a useful notation to account for the different types of resources that are typically



FIG. 6. Quantum teleportation.)Single (respectively, double) line arrows corresponds to quantum (respectively, classical) communication. The static resource, a maximally entangled state, is converted to a dynamical resource via LOCC. From Bennett *et al.*, 1993.

encountered in quantum information. We follow that convention here in letting the letter c denote classical systems, and q for quantum ones. In addition, square brackets represent noiseless resources while curly brackets indicate noisy ones. Finally, an arrow \rightarrow is used to distinguish between a dynamical resource and a static resource. With these rules, $[q \rightarrow q]$, for example, corresponds to an ideal qubit channel $\Psi^{A \to B} = \operatorname{id}^{A \to B} \operatorname{with} d_A = d_B = 2$. The symbol [qq] stands for an ebit, i.e., a unit of a static noiseless resource consisting of a maximally entangled state of two qubits. Similarly, $[c \rightarrow c]$ stands for a classical bit channel capable of transmitting perfectly one classical bit, and [cc] corresponds to one bit of uniform shared randomness. An arbitrary noisy quantum channel $\Psi^{A \to B}$ is denoted by $\{q \to q\}$ and an arbitrary classical channel by $\{c \rightarrow c\}$. In addition, a preparation of a quantum system is denoted by $\{c \rightarrow q\}$ and a quantum measurement by $\{q \rightarrow c\}$.

With these symbols, all the protocols in quantum Shannon theory can be characterized as conversions between different resources (Wilde, 2017). For example, the rate at which classical communication can be communicated reliably over a quantum channel is the supremum ratio n/m such that

$$m\{q \to q\} \ge_{\epsilon} n[c \to c] \quad \forall \ \epsilon \in (0, 1].$$
(15)

This inequality is to be understood as meaning that *m* uses of the channel $\{q \rightarrow q\}$ are able to simulate *n* uses of the channel $[c \rightarrow c]$ with *e* error (Devetak and Winter, 2004; Devetak, Harrow, and Winter, 2008). A comprehensive table of many different types of resource interconversions can be found in Devetak and Winter (2004). From this perspective, the whole

field of quantum Shannon theory can be viewed as a resource theory. Continuing with the previous example, in the Holevo-Schumacher-Westmoreland (HSW) theorem (Schumacher and Westmoreland, 1997; Holevo, 1998), which identifies the optimal conversion in Eq. (15), one assumes that the side channel *E* in Fig. 5 is not allowed since only local operations are free. That is, in the setting of the HSW theorem, one can only apply coding (preprocessing) and decoding (postprocessing) to many copies of a channel $\Psi^{A \to B}$, thereby converting it to many copies of a classical bit channel id^{*X* → *Y*} (here *X* and *Y* stand for classical bit systems on Alice and Bob's sides, respectively).

Another good example to illustrate the usefulness of this notation is quantum teleportation (Bennett *et al.*, 1993). In the process of teleportation, one ebit plus two uses of a classical one-bit channel simulate a qubit channel; see Fig. 6. In the resource calculus symbols, this can be characterized as the inequality

$$[qq] + 2[c \to c] \ge [q \to q], \tag{16}$$

where here \geq indicates zero-error simulation. Note that this is an inequality, rather than equality, since a single use of a quantum channel cannot generate both a maximally entangled state and two uses of a classical channel.

For superdense coding, an ebit plus one use of a quantum channel can be used to simulate two uses of a classical channel. This can be expressed as the resource inequality

$$[qq] + [q \to q] \ge 2[c \to c]. \tag{17}$$

Note that if entanglement is not considered as a resource, that is, if the parties are supplied with unlimited singlet states, then we can remove the ebit cost [qq] in Eqs. (16) and (17) and get that $2[c \rightarrow c] \ge [q \rightarrow q]$ for teleportation and $[q \rightarrow q] \ge 2[c \rightarrow c]$ for superdense coding. This makes teleportation and superdense coding dual protocols of each other, and in this case we can say that $[q \rightarrow q] = 2[c \rightarrow c]$.

In almost all practical scenarios, however, entanglement is an expensive resource that can be difficult to generate over long distances because of its high sensitivity to decoherence and noise. The question then is whether the protocols of teleportation and superdense coding can be modified slightly to make them more symmetric, in the sense that the two resource inequalities of Eqs. (16) and (17) become a single resource equality. This is indeed possible if we replace $2[c \rightarrow c]$ on the right-hand side (rhs) of Eq. (17) with two uses of an isometry channel, denoted by $[q \rightarrow qq]$ and known as the coherent bit (cobit) channel (Harrow, 2004; Wilde, 2017).

The cobit channel is given in terms of an isometry $V^{A \to AB}$, defined with respect to some fixed basis $\{|x\rangle^A\}_{x=0,1}$ as

$$V|x\rangle^A = |x\rangle^A |x\rangle^B x = 0, 1.$$

Hence, the unit resource $[q \rightarrow qq]$ is highly nonlocal as it can be used to generate an ebit (i.e., [qq]) from the state $|+\rangle^A := (|0\rangle^A + |1\rangle^A)/\sqrt{2}$. We therefore have

$$[q \to qq] \ge [qq].$$

$$[q \to qq] \ge [c \to c].$$

Harrow (2004) showed that

$$[qq] + [q \to q] = 2[q \to qq].$$

That is, one ebit and one use of a qubit channel can be used to simulate two cobit channels (a process known as coherent superdense coding), and conversely, two cobit channels can be used to simulate a qubit channel along with one ebit (a process known as coherent teleportation). This result demonstrates that superdense coding is not the most efficient protocol since it simulates only two uses of a classical bit channel, whereas in coherent superdense coding, two cobit channels are simulated with the exact same resources.

The previous discussion reflects the perspective that all of quantum (and classical) information theory can be viewed as a theory of interconversions among different types of resources. Moreover, it reveals how a resource-theoretic framework can not only help determine if a protocol is optimal, but it can also help to motivate novel and innovative protocols. Most of the current literature has focused on QRTs of states, and much less work has been conducted on resource theories of quantum processes. Nevertheless, among the QRTs of processes are the recent works on Markovian evolution (Huelga, Rivas, and Plenio, 2012; Wakakuwa, 2017a), quantum memories (Rosset, Buscemi, and Liang, 2018), incompatibility of quantum measurements (Gour, Heinosaari, and Spekkens, 2018), simulability of quantum measurements (Guerini et al., 2017; Oszmaniec et al., 2017), steering (Gallego and Aolita, 2015), quantum coherence beyond states (Ben Dana et al., 2017), and the amortized resource of a channel in a general QRT (Kaur and Wilde, 2018).

IV. EXAMPLES OF SPECIFIC RESOURCE THEORIES

A. Convex resource theories

1. Entanglement

The theory of quantum entanglement is an exemplar of a QRT. In this resource theory, the free operations capture the physical scenario where spatially separated parties freely exchange classical information, but all quantum information is processed locally through CPTP maps on the individual subsystems. The global maps that can be implemented under this restriction constitute the class of LOCC, and this represents the free operations in the QRT of entanglement (Bennett, Bernstein *et al.*, 1996; Bennett, DiVincenzo *et al.*, 1996; Vedral *et al.*, 1997).

The general structure of an LOCC map is quite complex. Every LOCC operation is built from an interactive protocol in which each round of the protocol involves a local measurement by one of the parties followed by a global broadcast of the measurement outcome. By concatenating the Kraus operators for each round, it is then not too difficult to see that every LOCC map Λ will have the form

$$\Lambda(\cdot) = \sum_{k} (\bigotimes_{i=1}^{N} M_{k,i}^{A_{i}})(\cdot) (\bigotimes_{i=1}^{N} M_{k,i}^{A_{i}})^{\dagger}, \qquad (18)$$

where $M_{k,i}^{A_i}$ acts on the Hilbert space of party A_i . In other words, Λ has a Kraus operator decomposition in which each Kraus operator is a tensor product (Bennett et al., 1999; Donald, Horodecki, and Rudolph, 2002). Structurally, LOCC is a physically implementable set of operations, and the dual of every LOCC map also has the form of Eq. (18). However, LOCC is not a closed set of operations in the sense that there exists a sequence of protocols, each increasing in round number, that converge to a map which cannot be implemented by either finite-round or unbounded-round LOCC (Chitambar, 2011; Chitambar, Cui, and Lo, 2012; Chitambar et al., 2014). Hence the number of interactive communication rounds can also be seen as a resource in the LOCC framework, and the general topic of LOCC round complexity is an active area of research (Owari and Hayashi, 2008; Nathanson, 2013; Wakakuwa, Soeda, and Murao, 2016; Chitambar and Hsieh, 2017).

Turning to the free states, one can easily identify $\mathcal{F}_{\min}(\mathcal{H})$, the minimal set of free states for LOCC on *N*-partite state space $\mathcal{H} = \bigotimes_{k=1}^{N} \mathcal{H}^{A_k}$. From its definition in Eq. (7), this set consists of all density matrices on \mathcal{H} that can be generated from any other state using LOCC. Since LOCC involves local operations coordinated by global classical communication, the transformation $\sigma^{A_1 \cdots A_N} \rightarrow \rho^{A_1 \cdots A_N}$ is achievable by LOCC for any $\sigma^{A_1 \cdots A_N}$ and any $\rho^{A_1 \cdots A_N}$ of the form

$$\rho^{A_1\cdots A_n} = \sum_{k=1}^n p_k \rho^{A_1}_{1,k} \otimes \rho^{A_2}_{2,k} \otimes \cdots \otimes \rho^{A_N}_{N,k}, \qquad (19)$$

where $\rho_{i,k}^{A_i}$ is an arbitrary state for party A_i . Indeed, the parties can just discard the state σ and then locally generate their respective state according to a globally shared probability distribution p_k (Werner, 1989). Any state having the form of Eq. (19) is called separable, and we denote the set of separable states by SEP(\mathcal{H}), where \mathcal{H} has a fixed tensor-product structure. Furthermore, from Eq. (18), it can be directly seen that LOCC leaves SEP(\mathcal{H}) invariant; hence $\mathcal{F}_{\min}(\mathcal{H}) =$ SEP(\mathcal{H}). Any state not belonging to SEP(\mathcal{H}) is called entangled.

The set $SEP(\mathcal{H})$ is closed, a fact that follows from the continuity of certain entanglement measures, such as the entanglement of formation (Nielsen, 2000). Also, since every convex combination of separable states is again separable, entanglement theory is a convex QRT. However, it is non-affine. In fact, it is maximally nonaffine in the sense that every state can be expressed as an affine combination of free states. This can be seen by taking an Hermitian tensor-product basis of $\mathcal{B}(A_1A_2\cdots A_N)$ and then spectrally decomposing each of the Hermitian operators into a linear combination of eigenspace projectors.

Deciding membership of SEP(\mathcal{H}) is a notoriously difficult problem. In fact, the problem is *NP*-Hard (Gurvits, 2003; Gharibian, 2010). To cope with this difficulty, one strategy involves relaxing the separability constraint to encompass a more computationally manageable and experimentally verifiable set of states. Traditionally this approach has consisted of identifying separability criteria, which are necessary (but not) sufficient conditions for a state to be separable (Horodecki *et al.*, 2009). The most famous separability criterion is PPT (Peres, 1996), which says that $\rho^{\Gamma_i} \ge 0$ for any separable state ρ , where Γ_i indicates a partial transpose on system A_i . Satisfying the PPT criterion is also sufficient for separability in 2 \otimes 3 and 3 \otimes 2 bipartite systems (Horodecki, Horodecki, and Horodecki, 1996). In higher dimensions, PPT entangled states are known to exist and are called "bound" entangled states since no pure-state entanglement can be asymptotically distilled from them (see Sec. V.B) (M. Horodecki, Horodecki, and Horodecki, 1998). One of the most prominent open problems in entanglement theory is determining whether the converse is true; i.e., whether non-PPT (NPT) bound entangled states exist.

The complexity of LOCC presents formidable challenges for understanding its precise operational capabilities. For example, it is currently unknown how to decide whether a given map Λ belongs to LOCC. While having the form of Eq. (18) is a necessary condition for LOCC maps, it is not sufficient. Any map having tensor-product Kraus operators belongs to the class of separable maps (Rains, 1997; Vedral et al., 1997), and LOCC represents a strict subset of the separable maps. Separable maps that cannot be implemented by LOCC were originally described as demonstrating "nonlocality without entanglement" (Bennett et al., 1999). This expression is perhaps best understood from a QRT perspective. For the set of separable states $SEP(\mathcal{H})$, separable operations are precisely the class of completely RNG operations, $\mathcal{O}_{c \max}(\mathcal{H})$ (Cirac *et al.*, 2001). Therefore, nonlocality without entanglement in this context refers to non-LOCC maps lacking the ability to generate entanglement, even when acting on one part of some larger system.

One can move beyond separable maps to consider other classes of free operations that are consistent with the set of separable states. Even though LOCC is the physically motivated class of operations in the study of entanglement, its operational power is sharply limited when the number of parties exceeds 2. Specifically, for a generic state $|\psi\rangle^{A_1A_2\cdots A_N}$ with N > 3, the set of states into which it can transform using LOCC constitutes a measure zero set in state space (Sauerwein *et al.*, 2017). Hence to obtain interesting QRTs, one needs to consider free operations more powerful than LOCC.

Starting with the set \mathcal{O}_{max} , the RNG or nonentangling operations consist of all CPTP maps that map separable states to separable states. Nonentangling operations were first proposed by Harrow and Nielsen (2003) in the study of quantum computation. Later, Brandão and Plenio (2008, 2010b) invoked such maps and their asymptotic variant in the study of entanglement reversibility. Nonasymptotic studies on the power of general nonentangling maps have been conducted by Brandão and Datta (2011) and Chitambar et al. (2017). The simplest example of a bipartite nonentangling quantum operation that has no LOCC implementation is the swap operator \mathbb{F} . Since $\mathbb{F}|\alpha\rangle^A |\beta\rangle^B = |\beta\rangle^A |\alpha\rangle^B$ for any two states $|\alpha\rangle$ and $|\beta\rangle$, the map is clearly nonentangling. However, by considering \mathbb{F} on subsystems A and B in the unentangled state $(|00\rangle + |11\rangle)^{A'A} \otimes (|00\rangle + |11\rangle)^{B'B}/2$, we see that entanglement is generated across the bipartite cut A'A:B'B. In fact, the swap operator is not even a 2-RNG operation.

Other types of relaxations on LOCC can be obtained by considering the Choi matrix. In the study of multipartite QRTs, it is helpful to define the Choi matrix of a map $\Lambda: \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^{A_1} \otimes \cdots \mathcal{H}^{A_N}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^{A'_1} \otimes \cdots \mathcal{H}^{A'_N})$ in terms of the underlying tensor-product structure:

$$J_{\Lambda} = \mathsf{id}^{A_1 \cdots A_k} \otimes \Lambda[(\phi^+)^{A'_1 A_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes (\phi^+)^{A'_k A_k}].$$
(20)

Because separable operations are completely RNG, the Choi matrix of a CPTP map Λ is separable, and the converse is also true (Cirac *et al.*, 2001). Consequently, any separability criterion on the set of density matrices can be applied to the Choi matrix J_{Λ} as a separable criterion on the set of CPTP maps. For example, a condition of *k*-symmetric extendibility has been integrated on the level of maps to study entanglement distillation and quantum communication (Pankowski *et al.*, 2013; Kaur *et al.*, 2018). Similarly, the use of entanglement witnesses on the level of Choi matrices was recently investigated by Chitambar *et al.* (2017).

The operations most frequently employed beyond LOCC are the so-called PPT operations. As originally defined by Rains (1999a), a CPTP map is called PPT (or completely PPT preserving) if its Choi matrix is PPT for any party A_i . This is equivalent to the condition that $\Gamma_i \circ \Lambda \circ \Gamma_i$ is completely positive, where Γ_i is the partial transpose map for party A_i . A strictly weaker condition is that the map be PPT preserving, i.e., $\Lambda(\rho)^{\Gamma_i} \geq 0$ whenever $\rho^{\Gamma_i} \geq 0$. The distinction between these two operational classes can be elegantly characterized by considering a QRT of NPT entanglement. Letting the free states be all density matrices with positive partial transpose, then the PPT-preserving maps correspond to the set of RNG operations, while Rains' original PPT maps correspond to the set of CRNG operations (Horodecki, 2001; Matthews and Winter, 2008). The QRT of NPT entanglement under completely PPT-preserving operations has been studied in the literature (Audenaert, Plenio, and Eisert, 2003; Ishizaka and Plenio, 2005; Matthews and Winter, 2008; Wang and Duan, 2017), primarily motivated by the insight it offers on the nature of entanglement and the limitations of LOCC.

2. Quantum reference frames and asymmetry

In Shannon theory, information is modeled as having a fungible nature. Information can be encoded into any degree of freedom of any physical system, and the information content is independent of the choice of encoding. For example, a simple yes or no message can be equivalently transmitted through a 5- or 0-volt potential difference across a circuit element, or through a heads or tails orientation of a coin. Information of this sort is called *speakable information*, and it is characterized by its ability to be communicated verbally or through a string of symbols.

On the other hand, there also exists nonfungible types of information such as a direction in space, the time of some event, or the relative phase between two quantum states in a superposition state. Information of this sort is called *unspeakable information* since it cannot be communicated verbally without first having a shared coordinate system, a synchronized clock, or a common phase reference (Peres and Scudo, 2002; Bartlett, Rudolph, and Spekkens, 2007; Chiribella *et al.*, 2012). For example, in the absence of, say, a common gravitational field or stellar background, directional information can be transmitted between two parties only through the exchange of some physical system whose state represents the direction itself, such as a classical gyroscope.

Unspeakable information becomes speakable in the presence of a reference frame (Bartlett, Rudolph, and Spekkens, 2007), and this applies to both classical and quantum information. Furthermore, even though speakable information is fungible, two or more parties must first establish how this information is to be encoded or decoded in some physical system, and this implicitly requires a common reference frame. Thus, one always assumes a shared reference frame in the background of any quantum information processing task, and the absence of this greatly limits what can be accomplished.

A lack or degradation of a shared reference frame is therefore a natural constraint that often arises in the physics of multiple systems. As such, it leads to a resource theory of reference frames. For simplicity, let us consider two parties (Alice and Bob) who do not share a reference frame, and we mathematically represent the information about the frame by an element g of a compact group G. For instance, $g \in G$ could correspond to a particular orientation in space, clock synchronization, phase information, etc. Each element $g \in G$ is represented by a unitary matrix U_g such that if $\rho \in S(\mathcal{H})$ is the density matrix assigned to some quantum system relative to Alice's reference frame, then

$$\mathcal{U}_q(\rho) \coloneqq U_q \rho U_q^{\dagger} \tag{21}$$

is the state of the same physical system as described in Bob's frame. On the other hand, since Alice lacks the information of g, her description of Bob's density matrix is obtained by averaging over all the possible values of g. Denoting by dg the uniform Haar measure over the group G, this average can be expressed as

$$\mathcal{G}(\rho) \coloneqq \int dg \mathcal{U}_g(\rho).$$

The averaging CPTP map G is called the *G*-twirling map. If the group *G* is finite then the integral is replaced with a discrete sum over the |G| elements of the group; i.e.,

$$\mathcal{G}(
ho) = rac{1}{|G|} \sum_{g=1}^{|G|} \mathcal{U}_g(
ho).$$

The lack of a shared reference frame hence imposes a restriction on what type of states Alice can prepare relative to Bob's reference frame. Specifically, she can prepare states only of the form $\mathcal{G}(\rho)$, and these constitute the free states in the QRT of reference frames,

$$\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H}) \coloneqq \{\mathcal{G}(\rho) \colon \rho \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H})\}.$$
(22)

The free states in this QRT have a very particular structure. First note that $\rho \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})$ if and only if it is *G* invariant, meaning that $\mathcal{U}_g(\rho) = \rho$ for all *g*. In particular, $\mathcal{G}(\rho) = \rho$ for all $\rho \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})$. Combining this with the definition of $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})$ implies that *G* twirling is a resource-destroying map (see Sec. III.D.3). Additionally, one can characterize the free states using techniques from representation theory. This is accomplished by decomposing the underlying Hilbert space \mathcal{H} into its irreducible representations (irreps) of \mathcal{G} (Bartlett, Rudolph, and Spekkens, 2007):

$$\mathcal{H} = \sum_{q} \mathcal{H}_{q} \equiv \sum_{q} \mathcal{M}_{q} \otimes \mathcal{N}_{q},$$

where q labels the irreps of G (with the sum over q being a direct sum), and \mathcal{M}_q and \mathcal{N}_q are the q-representation space and the q-multiplicity space, respectively. Note that \mathcal{M}_q and \mathcal{N}_q are virtual (mathematical) subspaces which do not correspond to physical subsystems. With this notation, any free state has the form

$$\mathcal{G}(\rho) = \sum_{q} \Delta_{\mathcal{M}_{q}} \otimes \mathsf{id}_{\mathcal{N}_{q}}(\Pi_{\mathcal{H}_{q}}\rho\Pi_{\mathcal{H}_{q}}), \tag{23}$$

where $\Delta_{\mathcal{M}_q}$ is the completely decohering map in the space \mathcal{M}_q , $\mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{N}_q}$ is the identity map on the space \mathcal{N}_q , and $\Pi_{\mathcal{H}_q}$ is the projection onto \mathcal{H}_q .

As an example, consider the group G = U(1) that corresponds to an optical phase reference. In this case, the unitary representation of *G* is given by $U_{\theta} = e^{i\hat{N}\theta}$, where $\theta \in U(1)$ and \hat{N} is the total number operator. All the irreps of U(1) are one dimensional and can be labeled by the eigenvalues of \hat{N} (i.e., non-negative integers). In this case, $q = n \in \mathbb{N}$, and the action of *G* twirling on a pure state $|\psi\rangle = \sum_n \sqrt{p_n} |n\rangle$ therefore produces the state

$$\mathcal{G}(|\psi\rangle\langle\psi|) = \sum_{n} p_{n} |n\rangle\langle n|.$$
(24)

More generally, we can see from the forms of the free states in Eqs. (23) and (24) that the lack of a shared reference frame imposes a *superselection rule* on the type of states that Alice can prepare. This superselection rule is manifested by the fact that coherent superposition between states in different irrep subspaces \mathcal{H}_q and $\mathcal{H}_{q'}$ are not possible. For example, with U(1) states in a coherent superposition among eigenstates of the number operator are not free and cannot be prepared by Alice.

The set of free operations in the QRT of reference frames can be defined in a way similar to the free states. Consider an arbitrary density matrix $\sigma \in S(\mathcal{H})$ of system \mathcal{H} described relative to Bob's reference frame. Suppose now that Alice performs a quantum operation on this system, with the operation being described by the CPTP map $\Phi: \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) \rightarrow \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ relative to her frame. How would this operation be described relative to Bob's frame? If he knows that their reference frames are related by an element $g \in G$, then $\mathcal{U}_g^{\dagger}(\sigma)$ is Alice's description of the initial state and $\Phi(\mathcal{U}_g^{\dagger}(\sigma))$ is her description of the final state. Hence the final state relative to Bob's system is given by $\mathcal{U}_g(\Phi(\mathcal{U}_g^{\dagger}(\sigma)))$, and his description of Alice's operation would be $\mathcal{U}_g \circ \Phi \circ \mathcal{U}_g^{\dagger}$. However, if Bob does not know how their frames are related, he averages over G, and the resulting CPTP map has the form



FIG. 7. Heuristic description of *G*-covariant operations. The channel Φ is *G* covariant if the blue and purple pathways commute for all group elements.

$$\int dg \mathcal{U}_g \circ \Phi \circ \mathcal{U}_g^{\dagger}.$$
 (25)

Alice and Bob have a similar description of the CPTP map Alice performs only if her operation has this form. Quantum channels of this sort are called *G* covariant, and they constitute the free operations in the QRT of reference frames. Similar to *G*-invariant states, a quantum channel is *G* covariant if and only if it commutes with U_g for all $g \in G$. Therefore, the set of free operations in the QRT of reference frames can be expressed as

$$\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{H}) = \{ \Phi \in \text{CPTP} \colon [\Phi, \mathcal{U}_q] = 0 \quad \forall \ g \in G \}, \quad (26)$$

where $[\Phi, \mathcal{U}_g] := \Phi \circ \mathcal{U}_g - \mathcal{U}_g \circ \Phi$; see Fig. 7. Note also that Φ being *G* covariant is equivalent to the condition that $\Phi = \int dg \mathcal{U}_g \circ \Phi \circ \mathcal{U}_g^{\dagger}$. Gour and Spekkens (2008) showed that *G*-covariant operations can be expressed in terms of Kraus operators, each being an irreducible tensor operator as defined in nuclear and atomic physics [see, e.g., Sakurai (1994)].

To summarize, we found that in the QRT of reference frames the set of free states is the set of symmetric states (i.e., those states that commute with U_g for all $g \in G$), and the set of free operations is the set of symmetric operations (i.e., those operations that commute with \mathcal{U}_g for all $g \in G$). Symmetric evolutions are very common in physics and can occur in different contexts, other than those arising from the lack of a shared reference frame. Therefore, the set of *G*-covariant operations defines a resource theory that has applications far beyond quantum reference frames. It can therefore be described as a QRT of asymmetry, since in any QRT for which \mathcal{O} defines a family of *G*-covariant operations, asymmetric states and asymmetric operations are the resources of the theory.

So far we considered only *G*-covariant channels with the same input and output dimensions. More generally, a quantum channel $\Phi: \mathcal{B}(A) \to \mathcal{B}(B)$ is *G* covariant with respect to two (unitary) representations of *G*, $\{U_g^A\}_{q \in G}$ and $\{U_g^B\}_{q \in G}$, if

$$\Phi \circ \mathcal{U}_a^A = \mathcal{U}_a^B \circ \Phi \quad \forall \ g \in G.$$

See Fig. 7 for a heuristic depiction of G-covariant operations.

The reformulation of symmetric dynamics in the context of a resource theory has profound implications. For example, quite often the dynamics of a system is so complicated that a complete characterization of its evolution becomes infeasible. Instead, by learning the symmetries of the Hamiltonian, one can gain partial information about its dynamics. Here one can invoke Noether's theorem, which states that a differentiable symmetry of the action of a physical system has a corresponding conservation law. However, Noether's theorem is not applicable to open systems, and it therefore does not capture all the consequences of symmetric evolution of mixed states. Recently, Marvian and Spekkens (2013, 2014) showed that the QRT of asymmetry provides a systematic way to capture all the consequences of symmetric evolution. The main idea is that the conserved quantities of closed systems can be replaced with resource monotones in open systems. These resource monotones quantify the amount of asymmetry in a quantum state, and they cannot increase under symmetric evolution (see Sec. VI.A.2).

3. Quantum thermodynamics

Thermodynamics and quantum mechanics represent two pillars of physics, and connections between them have been studied long before the advent of quantum information science. However, recently quantum information theory has shed new light on some of the most fundamental questions in thermodynamics. For example, by adopting a QRT perspective, the four laws of thermodynamics can be stated more precisely, and the relationships between them can be made more apparent (Brandão, Horodecki *et al.*, 2015; Masanes and Oppenheim, 2017). This is not surprising since the "golden rule" of QRTs can be seen as expressing something akin to the second law of thermodynamics, and similar connections between thermodynamics and the structure of general QRTs can also be formulated (Sparaciari *et al.*, 2018).

Within quantum thermodynamics, several different QRTs have been studied, but almost all can be described using a similar framework. The essential idea is to identify free operations as those that conserve certain extensive properties (such as energy, particle number, volume, etc.) when a given system interacts with a bath. Here we describe the resource theory of athermality, which involves just energy conservation, but its generalization to other conserved observables follows analogously (Yunger Halpern and Renes, 2016; Gour et al., 2018; Yunger Halpern, 2018), including noncommuting observables (Guryanova et al., 2016; Halpern et al., 2016; Lostaglio, Jennings, and Rudolph, 2017). One begins by characterizing a physical system not only by its underlying Hilbert space \mathcal{H} , but also by its Hamiltonian, since this corresponds to the property being conserved. Hence a "state" in this QRT is represented by a pair (ρ, H) consisting of a density matrix and a time-independent Hamiltonian. For a heat bath held at some fixed inverse temperature $\beta = 1/k_B T$, the free states consist of those that are in thermal equilibrium with the bath. That is, the free states $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})$ are given by (γ_H, H) , where $\gamma_H = e^{-\beta H} / \text{Tr}[e^{-\beta H}]$ is the thermal equilibrium state (also called the Gibbs state) for the Hamiltonian H. Next a physical justification is given for why these objects are considered free.

As first introduced by Janzing et al. (2000) and later extended by Brandão et al. (2013) and Horodecki and Oppenheim (2013a), the free operations in the QRT of athermality consist of all physical dynamics that conserve total energy as the system exchanges heat with the bath. Any such process is called a thermal operation, and it is constructed from three basic steps. Let S denote the primary system and H_S its Hamiltonian. First, the experimenter introduces an ancilla system A in free state (γ_{H_A}, H_A) . Second, the primary and ancilla systems can interact via some unitary U that commutes with the total Hamiltonian, i.e., $[U, H_{\text{tot}}] = 0$ where $H_{\text{tot}} = H_S \otimes \mathbb{I} + \mathbb{I} \otimes H_A$. Third, a subsystem B is discarded whose Hamiltonian enters the total Hamiltonian collectively; i.e., $H_{\text{tot}} = H_{SA \setminus B} \otimes \mathbb{I} + \mathbb{I} \otimes H_B$, with $SA \setminus B$ denoting all subsystems other than B. Note that B may include part of the original system in addition to all or just part of the ancilla system A. The composition of these three steps yields a CPTP map $\Phi \in \mathcal{B}(S \to SA \setminus B)$ having the form

$$\Phi(\rho) = \operatorname{Tr}_{B}[U(\rho \otimes \gamma_{H_{A}})U^{\dagger}].$$
(27)

By construction, the QRT of athermality is a physically implementable resource theory. In fact, having physically implementable free operations is essential to the overall objective of rigorously accounting for all dynamics in a system-bath exchange. As a result, a thermodynamic transformation $(\rho, H) \rightarrow (\sigma, H')$ on a system becomes possible if and only if there exists a map having the form of Eq. (27) such that $\Phi(\rho) = \sigma$ and $H' = H_{tot} - H_B$. Whereas macroscopic state transformations via heat exchange are essentially governed by a decrease in free energy, in the quantum regime, more constraints dictate whether a given transformation is possible (Horodecki and Oppenheim, 2013a; Brandão, Horodecki *et al.*, 2015; Gour *et al.*, 2018).

The free states in the QRT of athermality consist of Gibbs states (γ_H, H) , and there is strong operational justification for this. First, the Gibbs state is the unique equilibrium state that a quantum system will evolve to under weak coupling with the bath (Riera, Gogolin, and Eisert, 2012). Second, if, in the implementation of a thermal operation, one could freely introduce any other density operator σ inequivalent to the Gibbs state of the ancilla system, then the QRT would become trivial. More precisely, it would be possible to freely generate any density matrix ρ to arbitrary precision by consuming many copies of σ (Brandão, Horodecki *et al.*, 2015; Yunger Halpern and Renes, 2016). The final and perhaps most compelling reason for considering the Gibbs state to be free involves work extraction and the notion of passivity. A thermodynamic state (ρ, H) is called passive if $\text{Tr}[U\rho U^{\dagger}H] \geq$ $Tr[\rho H]$ for all unitaries U. Intuitively, if there exists some unitary for which this relation does not hold, then there exists a process in which energy can be drawn from the state to perform work. For example, all states diagonal in the energy eigenbasis with eigenvalues decreasing with energy are passive. A state ρ is called completely passive if $\rho^{\otimes n}$ is passive for any n. A classic result says that a state is completely passive if and only if it is the Gibbs state (Lenard, 1978; Pusz and Woronowicz, 1978; Jennings, 2018). Hence, the state (γ_H, H) is the unique state from which work cannot be extracted, even after taking multiple copies.

Returning to Eq. (27), it is straightforward to verify that if the discarded system *B* is the original ancilla system *A*, then every thermal operation acts invariantly on the Gibbs state. That is,

$$\gamma_{H_s} = \Phi(\gamma_{H_s}), \tag{28}$$

and all maps having this property are called Gibbs preserving with respect to the Hamiltonian H. It is interesting to compare thermal operations with the more general class of Gibbspreserving maps. In the case that ρ and σ both commute with the Hamiltonian, if ρ can be converted to σ by some Gibbspreserving map, then it can also be converted by thermal operations (Janzing et al., 2000; Horodecki and Oppenheim, 2013a; Korzekwa, 2016). However, for the convertibility between general states ρ and σ (i.e., those not commuting with the Hamiltonian), Gibbs-preserving operations are strictly more powerful (Faist, Oppenheim, and Renner, 2015). The origin of this difference can be understood by invoking principles from the QRT of asymmetry. With a timeindependent Hamiltonian, states diagonal in the energy eigenbasis are symmetric under time evolution. By introducing the one-parameter group of time translations $\{U_t := e^{-iHt}: t \in \mathbb{R}\}, \text{ we see that } [\rho, H] = 0 \text{ if and only if }$ $\mathcal{U}_t(\rho) = \rho$ for all *t*, where we adopted the notation of Eq. (21). States with full time-translation symmetry are often called quasiclassical because, while having discrete eigenvalues, they lack coherence between the different energy eigenspaces. In addition, from Eq. (27) (with the system A being discarded), it can be seen that every thermal operation is timetranslation covariant, i.e., $[\Phi, U_t] = 0$ for all t (Lostaglio, Jennings, and Rudolph, 2015). In contrast, a general Gibbspreserving map need not satisfy this constraint. Unlike thermal operations, Gibbs-preserving operations can break the time-translation symmetry of a state, and this is precisely what is demonstrated in the example of Faist, Oppenheim, and Renner (2015).

In summary, every thermal operation with the same input or output system satisfies the two properties of being

(i) Gibbs preserving: $\Phi(\gamma_H) = \gamma_H$;

(ii) time-translation covariant: $[\Phi, U_t] = 0$ for all *t*. Maps satisfying these properties were identified as Gibbspreserving covariant (GPC) maps by Gour *et al.* (2018), and they represent a strictly larger class than thermal operations. It was shown that GPC maps are equivalent to the maps generated by so-called *thermal processes*, which are more general physical processes than the ones leading to thermal operations in Eq. (27) (Gour *et al.*, 2018). Nevertheless, it remains an open problem whether there exists a state transformation $\rho \rightarrow \sigma$ that is possible by a GPC but not by a

A special type of QRT emerges when the Hamiltonians are required to have a fully degenerate spectrum. For instance, a paramagnetic system in the absence of an external magnetic field has complete degeneracy in its energy. In this case, the Gibbs state of a *d*-dimensional system is the completely mixed state \mathbb{I}/d , and all unitaries commute with the total Hamiltonian. Every free CPTP map then has the form

$$\Phi(\rho) = \operatorname{Tr}_{B}[U(\rho \otimes \mathbb{I}_{d})U^{\dagger}], \qquad (29)$$

where U is an arbitrary unitary and B is an arbitrary subsystem. Maps having this form are called noisy operations, and they were originally proposed by Horodecki *et al.* (2003) and Horodecki, Horodecki, and Oppenheim (2003) as the free operations in the resource theory of purity. The latter is also called the QRT of nonuniformity to better reflect the dimensional dependence in the resourcefulness of pure states (Gour, Muller *et al.*, 2015). The set of Gibbs-preserving maps here is precisely the set of unital maps, and all operations are trivially time-translation covariant. Haagerup and Musat (2011) showed that noisy operations form a strict subset of unital channels. Yet, the two operational classes have the same conversion power since one density matrix can be converted to another by noisy operations if and only if the conversion can be achieved by a unital channel (Gour, Muller *et al.*, 2015).

4. Quantum coherence

For a given quantum system, consider some quantum observable T with eigenvectors $\{|\lambda_n\rangle\}_n$ and eigenvalues $\{\lambda_n\}_n$. Quantum mechanics allows the system to be prepared in a coherent superposition of eigenstates $|\psi\rangle =$ $\cos\theta |\lambda_i\rangle + \sin\theta |\lambda_i\rangle$, and there are two ways in which such states can be viewed as a resource. The first identifies a specific task in which $|\psi\rangle$ can assist in accomplishing the task, and the degree of its resourcefulness depends on the particular $|\lambda_i\rangle$ and $|\lambda_i\rangle$ forming the superposition. For example, when $\lambda_n = n \in \mathbb{N}$, the state $\cos \theta |0\rangle + \sin \theta |1\rangle$ can detect a phase shift of $\phi = \pi$ induced by the unitary $e^{-i\phi T}$ while the state $\cos\theta |0\rangle + \sin\theta |2\rangle$ cannot (Marvian and Spekkens, 2014, 2016). The second interpretation deems $|\psi\rangle$ as a resource simply because it is a coherent superposition in the eigenbasis $\{|\lambda_n\rangle\}_n$. From this perspective, the eigenvectors $|\lambda_i\rangle$ and $|\lambda_i\rangle$ of T appearing in the superposition are irrelevant, and the full nature of this resource is captured just in the wave components $\cos \theta$ and $\sin \theta$.

These two ways of characterizing $|\psi\rangle$ as a resource reflects the broader distinction between speakable and unspeakable information described in Sec. IV.A.2. The QRT of unspeak*able coherence* is essentially a resource theory of asymmetry for translations generated by some quantum observable (Marvian and Spekkens, 2014, 2016; Marvian, Spekkens, and Zanardi, 2016). Similar to the group of time translations discussed in the previous section, for an observable T, one defines the group of s translations $\{U_s := e^{-iTs} : s \in \mathbb{R}\}$. A map is called a translationally covariant incoherent operation (TIO) if it is covariant under the action of this group (i.e., $[\Phi, \mathcal{U}_s] = 0$ for all s), and likewise a quantum state is identified as free in this QRT if it is invariant under the action of the group (i.e., $[\rho, \mathcal{U}_s] = 0$ for all s). Coherence here refers to nonzero off-diagonal elements of a density matrix when it is expressed in an eigenbasis of T. This coherence is said to be unspeakable since it is needed when establishing a phase reference for *s* translations, information which is unspeakable.

The second school of thought regards coherence as a resource in the context of processing speakable information.

thermal map.

³Note this group is isomorphic to U(1) provided the energy levels of *H* are evenly spaced.

These are QRTs of *speakable coherence*, and most attention in the literature has focused on coherence theories of this sort. Åberg (2006) first proposed a resource theory of speakable coherence as an operational framework for quantifying superposition in general mixed states. For a given system, one begins by fixing a direct sum decomposition of state space $\mathcal{H} = \bigoplus_{i} \mathcal{H}_{i}$. The set of free states $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})$ then consists of all those for which $\rho = \sum_{i} P_{i}\rho P_{i}$, where P_{i} is the projector onto \mathcal{H}_{i} . The free operations, as originally considered by Äberg, consists of the maximal set $\mathcal{O}_{max}(\mathcal{H})$, i.e., the collection of all resource nongenerating operations. This is sometimes called

the set of maximal incoherent operations (MIO). Note the subspaces \mathcal{H}_i in the direct sum decomposition of \mathcal{H} could correspond to the eigenspaces of some observable T. Then this QRT would resemble the theory of unspeakable coherence previously described. However, the key difference is that in Äberg's theory, the index *i* on the eigenspace \mathcal{H}_i functions exclusively as a label, having no connection to the resource content of the state. In contrast, the index is important in the QRT of unspeakable coherence since coherence across different eigenspaces of H carries different physical meaning when the encoded quantum information is unspeakable. Hence, transformations of the form

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|0\rangle + |1\rangle) \rightarrow \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|0\rangle + |2\rangle)$$

are forbidden using TIO but not by MIO.

A different QRT of speakable coherence was put forth by Baumgratz, Cramer, and Plenio (2014), which has now become the most frequently studied resource theory of coherence. In the approach of Baumgratz *et al.*, a complete orthonormal basis $\{|i\rangle\}_i$ is fixed for every Hilbert space. This is called the incoherent basis, and a state is free (or "incoherent") if it is diagonal in this basis, a condition that can be expressed as

$$\rho = \Delta(\rho), \tag{30}$$

where $\Delta(\cdot) = \sum_i |i\rangle \langle i|(\cdot)|i\rangle \langle i|$ is the completely dephasing map in the incoherent basis. The free states in this QRT are thus defined in the same way as Äberg's theory, except that the direct sum decomposition of \mathcal{H} consists of one-dimensional subspaces. For the free operations, Baumgratz *et al.* defined the class of incoherent operations (IO), which consists of all stochastically resource nongenerating operations. In other words, Φ is free if it can be represented by Kraus operators $\{K_i\}_i$ such that for all ρ

$$K_j \Delta(\rho) K_j^{\dagger} = \Delta(K_j \rho K_j^{\dagger}) \quad \forall \ j.$$
(31)

It is not difficult to show that every Kraus operator satisfying Eq. (31) has the form $K_j = \sum_k c_{j,k} |f(k)\rangle \langle k|$, where f is a function with domain and range being the labels of the incoherent basis vectors. In particular, every coherence non-generating unitary belongs to IO since it has the form $U = \sum_k e^{i\phi_k} |\pi(k)\rangle \langle k|$. Yadin *et al.* (2016) used this latter observation to consider what CPTP maps arise when such unitaries are used in a Stinespring dilation, i.e.,

$$\Phi(\rho) = \sum_{j} \operatorname{Tr}_{E}[(\mathbb{I} \otimes P_{j})U(\rho^{S} \otimes \gamma^{E})U^{\dagger}] \otimes |j\rangle\langle j|^{X}$$
$$= \sum_{j} K_{j}\rho K_{j}^{\dagger} \otimes |j\rangle\langle j|^{X}, \qquad (32)$$

where γ^{E} is an arbitrary incoherent state, *U* is coherence nongenerating on systems *SE*, and the $\{P_j\}_j$ form an arbitrary rank-one projective measurement on system *E*. The Kraus operators K_j can be shown to have the form $K_j = \sum_k c_{j,k} |\pi(k)\rangle \langle k|$, where π is a permutation on the labels of the incoherent basis vectors. These operations have been referred to as strictly incoherent operations (SIO) by Yadin *et al.* (2016), and they also received prior consideration by Winter and Yang (2016) as a special subclass of IO.

Note in the description of an SIO operation, the projectors $\{P_j\}_j$ on the ancilla system might be coherence generating. Consequently, the resource theory of coherence under SIO is not a physically implementable theory, as defined in Sec. III.C.2. Starting from the set of incoherent states, which consists of those satisfying Eq. (30), the most general set of physical implementable operations can be constructed. This is the set \mathcal{O}_{\min} , and Chitambar and Gour (2016b) showed that every $\Phi \in \mathcal{O}_{\min}$ has a Kraus operator decomposition of the form $K_j = U_j P_j = \sum_i e^{i\phi_i} |\pi_j(i)\rangle \langle i| P_j$, where the P_j are coherence nongenerating projectors and the π_j are permutations. These physically implementable incoherent operations (PIO) represent a highly restricted operational class, and in terms of state convertibility, almost any two pure states will not be interconvertible using PIO.

If one discards the classical system X in Eq. (32), the resulting map has the property that

$$\Phi(\Delta(\rho)) = \Delta(\Phi(\rho)). \tag{33}$$

Any CPTP satisfying this equality is called a dephasing covariant incoherent operation (DIO). These operations were introduced independently by Chitambar and Gour (2016b) and Marvian and Spekkens (2016). While not being physically implementable, DIO does represent a dually RNG set of operations, unlike IO. A number of results have been established comparing the convertibility of states using different classes of incoherent operations (Chitambar and Gour, 2016a; Fang *et al.*, 2018; Regula *et al.*, 2018; Zhao, Liu, Yuan, Chitambar, and Ma, 2018; Zhao, Liu, Yuan, Chitambar, and Winter, 2018).

Note that the set of incoherent states forms an affine set of density matrices, and therefore the QRT is affine. Indeed this already follows from the fact that the completely dephasing map $\Delta(\cdot)$ is resource destroying (see Sec. III.D.3). All operational classes discussed can interconvert any two incoherent states, and they therefore identify $\mathcal{F}_{\min}(\mathcal{H})$ as the set of incoherent states acting on \mathcal{H} . Other families of incoherent operations have also been studied in the literature (de Vicente and Streltsov, 2017), and connections with stabilizer operations have been considered (Mukhopadhyay, Sazim, and Pati, 2018).

5. Stabilizer computation and "magic" states

One of the most important questions in quantum information theory is to what extent quantum computers offer advantages over their classical counterparts. Shor's algorithm provides one of the most celebrated examples of how, in principle, a quantum computer can perform a task exponentially faster than the best known classical algorithms (Shor, 1997). This has motivated researchers to try and identify certain features of quantum mechanics that appear to enable its superior computational capabilities. Such features become a resource for the purposes of quantum computation.

To make this more precise, a resource-theoretic formalism can be adopted in which the free operations are quantumcomputational processes that can be efficiently simulated using a classical computer. Interestingly, the known results of such a resource theory depend on whether the underlying dimension of the system is even or odd. Nevertheless, the basic framework is the same in both cases. For prime dimension d, one first introduces the Heisenberg-Weyl operators

$$T_{(a_1,a_2)} = \begin{cases} iZ^{a_1}X^{a_2} & \text{for } d = 2, \\ e^{-\pi i a_1 a_2/d}Z^{a_1}X^{a_2} & \text{for odd } d, \end{cases}$$
(34)

for $(a_1, a_2) \in \mathbb{Z}_d \times \mathbb{Z}_d$, where all arithmetic is done modulo d, and

$$X|j\rangle = |j+1\rangle$$
 $Z|j\rangle = e^{2\pi i j/d}|j\rangle.$ (35)

The $T_{(a_1,a_2)}$ generalize the Pauli operators in d = 2 up to a modification in the overall phase, and extending to nonprime dimensions can be accomplished by taking tensor products of the $T_{(a_1,a_2)}$. The Clifford group C_d consists of operators that, up to an overall phase, transform the $T_{\mathbf{u}}$ among themselves by conjugation. In other words, U is a Clifford operator on the d-dimensional space if $UT_{\mathbf{b}}U^{\dagger} = e^{i\phi}T_{\mathbf{b}'}$ for $\mathbf{b}, \mathbf{b}' \in \mathbb{Z}_d \times \mathbb{Z}_d$ and arbitrary ϕ . The family of d-dimensional stabilizer states is defined as

$$\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H}_d) = \operatorname{conv}\{U|0\rangle\langle 0|U^{\dagger}: U \in \mathcal{C}_d\},$$
(36)

where $conv\{\cdot\}$ indicates the convex hull of the set. These are the free states in the theory. The free operations are called stabilizer operations, and they consist of (i) preparing an ancilla in a stabilizer state, (ii) applying a Clifford unitary, (iii) measuring in the computational basis, and (iv) discarding subsystems (Veitch *et al.*, 2014). The QRT of stabilizer quantum computation for odd dimensions was developed by Veitch *et al.* (2012, 2014), while a multiqubit treatment was conducted by Howard and Campbell (2017). The maximal QRT consistent with stabilizer states was also recently studied by Ahmadi *et al.* (2018).

Stabilizer operations provide a fault-tolerant scheme for quantum computation (Gottesman, 1998b), thereby making them an attractive candidate for implementing scalable quantum computation. Unfortunately, the Gottesman-Knill theorem stipulates that any stabilizer operation acting on pure stabilizer states can be efficiently simulated using classical computers (Gottesman, 1998a). Thus, to attain a computational speed-up using quantum computers, some additional ingredient beyond stabilizer states and operations is needed. Perhaps the cleanest approach involves simulating nonstabilizer operations through stabilizer operations and the consumption of nonstabilizer states. In fact, this technique is universal in that any nonstabilizer operation can be implemented in such a way, provided the nonstabilizer states consumed belong to the class of so-called *magic states* (Gottesman and Chuang, 1999; Bravyi and Kitaev, 2005; Knill, 2005). For example, the nonstabilizer qubit state $\cos(\pi/8)|0\rangle + \sin(\pi/8)|1\rangle$ can be used to realize the $\pi/8$ phase gate using stabilizer operations, which can then be subsequently used to perform any single qubit gate with arbitrary precision (Nielsen and Chuang, 2000).

In realistic implementations, an experimenter is faced with noisy and nonideal ancilla states. One of the most important questions in this resource theory is whether a general mixed state can be freely converted into a magic state. In many-copy form, this is a problem of resource transformation $\rho^{\otimes n} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{O}}_{\epsilon} |\phi\rangle \langle \phi|$, where $|\phi\rangle$ is a magic state. This task has been coined magic state distillation (Bravyi and Kitaev, 2005; Reichardt, 2005; Campbell and Browne, 2009; Anwar, Campbell, and Browne, 2012), and it is an analog to the task of ebit distillation in the QRT of entanglement.

A natural question is whether all nonstabilizer states can be distilled into magic states. For qubit states, Campbell and Browne (2010) showed that undistillable resource states indeed exist if a finite limit is placed on the number of copies consumed in the distillation protocol. For odd dimensions, Mari and Eisert (2012) and Veitch et al. (2012) demonstrated a stronger form of bound resource, in the sense that no magic state can be distilled from certain nonstabilizer states even in the asymptotic limit. The proof of this result involves connecting the task of magic state distillation to the discrete Wigner function of a quantum state (Wootters, 1987; Gross, 2006). Veitch et al. (2012) showed that the action of a stabilizer operation on any state with a nonnegative discrete Wigner function can be efficiently simulated by a classical computer. Consequently, magic states cannot be distilled from a state if its discrete Wigner function is nonnegative. Hence, positivity of the discrete Wigner function is analogous to the PPT distillability criterion in entanglement. The existence of bound resource states in the QRT of magic states then follows from the existence of nonstabilizer states with a non-negative discrete Wigner function (Gross, 2006; Veitch et al., 2012).

It remains an open problem whether, conversely, negativity of the discrete Wigner function is a sufficient condition for magic state distillability (analogous to the question of NPT bound entanglement). However, a deep connection has been drawn between the QRT of magic states and the QRT of contextuality (see Sec. IV.B.2 for a description of the latter). Any state having a negative discrete Wigner function can be used, in principle, to demonstrate contextuality in some family of stabilizer measurements (Howard et al., 2014). In other words, a quantum state must have the capacity to reveal contextual effects using the free operations if it can generate universal quantum computation through magic state distillation. This suggests that contextuality may be a key resource that empowers quantum computing. However, this cannot be the full story in qubits, at least, since undistillable multiqubit states can nevertheless demonstrate contextuality (Mermin, 1990; Howard, Brennan, and Vala, 2013).

B. Resource theories in quantum foundations

QRTs can transform the way we think about previously well-studied properties of physical systems, even those



FIG. 8. Resource theory of Bell nonlocality.

touching the foundations of quantum mechanics. This includes Bell nonlocality, contextuality, incompatibility of quantum measurements, steering, nonprojectiveness, and more. Here we provide a succinct description of some of these properties, focusing on how the set of free operations is defined in each of the theories.

1. Bell nonlocality

Perhaps one of the most profound discoveries in the history of science is the incompatibility between quantum mechanics and the intuitive notion of locality, as first demonstrated by Bell (1964). Since Bell's discovery, there have been numerous studies on the subject, and quantum nonlocality has emerged as a genuine resource in quantum communication (Buhrman *et al.*, 2010) and cryptography (Ekert, 1991) tasks. A comprehensive review on its state of the art can be found by Brunner *et al.* (2014).

A resource theory of nonlocality can be formulated on different levels, and we begin by describing the most abstract, which is characterized entirely in terms of classical channels. We focus just on bipartite systems, but its generalization to multipartite systems is straightforward. Consider all possible classical channels p(a, b|x, y) from input set $\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}$ to output set $\mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}$. One can then construct a static resource theory in which states are bipartite probability distributions p(x, y) and the allowed operations belong to some restricted set of channels. A particular class of channels are those that are generated by local channels $p^A(a|x,\lambda)$ and $p^B(b|y,\lambda)$ for Alice and Bob, which are conditioned on some shared variable λ ; see Fig. 8(b). When averaging over λ with some probability density function q_{λ} , the resulting channel is given by

$$p(a,b|x,y) = \int d\lambda p^A(a|x,\lambda) p^B(b|y,\lambda) q_{\lambda}.$$
 (37)

Channels of this form constitute the class of classical local operations and shared randomness (LOSR). However, these operators are too powerful to define a static resource theory: any probability distribution p(x, y) can be converted into any other p(a, b) by a suitable LOSR channel. To obtain a nontrivial theory, one must move a level higher and consider the dynamical resource theory of non-LOSR processes. Applying the general discussion of Sec. III.D.5, the induced resource theory here is a resource theory of nonlocality, and it involves the conversion of one bipartite channel p(a, b|x, y) (or "box") into another p(a', b'|x', y') by LOSR superchannels



FIG. 9. Free superchannels.

(Jones and Masanes, 2005; Barrett, 2007; Gallego *et al.*, 2012; de Vicente, 2014). The free boxes in this theory are those satisfying Eq. (37), and the allowed conversions are built using three ingredients: pre-LOSR, post-LOSR, and local side channels (see Fig. 9 and compare with the general construction of a free superchannel in Fig. 5 with free pre- and postprocessing).

The abstract resource theory of nonlocal boxes can be connected to a fully quantum resource theory of nonlocality by studying the boxes generated through local quantum measurements. Consider a bipartite quantum state $\rho^{AB} \in S(AB)$, and suppose Alice and Bob perform one out of several possible positive-operator valued measures (POVMs) on their respective subsystems. Letting $\Theta_x^A = \{M_{a|x}\}_a$ denote the POVM elements for Alice's *x* POVM and $\Theta_y^B = \{N_{b|y}\}_b$ the POVM elements for Bob's *y* POVM, the probability of outcome (a, b) given measurement choice (x, y) is computed using Born's rule:

$$p(a, b|x, y) = \operatorname{Tr}[\rho^{AB}(M_{a|x} \otimes N_{b|y})].$$
(38)

It is immediately straightforward to verify that separable states, i.e., states of the form $\rho^{AB} = \sum_{\lambda} q_{\lambda} \sigma_{\lambda}^A \otimes \omega_{\lambda}^B$, can generate boxes only having the structure of Eq. (37), although determining the minimum amount of shared randomness needed to simulate the quantum statistics can still be nontrivial (Jebaratnam, Aravinda, and Srikanth, 2017). Any state whose local measurements have outcomes that can always be described in the form of Eq. (37) are called Bell local and are said to admit a local hidden-variable model (Augusiak, Demianowicz, and Acn, 2014).

One very natural class of free operations in a QRT of Bell nonlocality consists of quantum LOSR maps. These are bipartite CPTP maps of the form $\int_{\lambda} d\lambda q_{\lambda} \Phi_{\lambda}^{A}(\cdot) \otimes \Psi_{\lambda}^{B}(\cdot)$. It is easy to see that such operations act invariantly on the set of Bell-local density matrices. Thus, a QRT of nonlocality can be defined in which the free states are all Bell local. In such a theory, a state ρ is a quantum static resource if and only if it can be converted into a dynamical classical resource via Eq. (38). Other approaches can be taken, however, such as the semiquantum theory of Buscemi (2012), which identifies a state as being a static nonlocal resource if it can be converted into a dynamic quantum-classical resource. Even more generally, one could consider the dynamic nonlocal resource of quantum channels themselves, which is manipulated under LOSR superchannels.

The relationship between entanglement and Bell nonlocality is subtle. Werner (1989) showed that there exist bipartite entangled states that cannot generate a nonlocal box by local measurements. Historically this gave the first indication that entanglement and nonlocality may be inequivalent resources, and the precise relationship between the two is still an area of active research (Méthot and ?, 2007; Lipinska et al., 2018). Another topic of ongoing investigation involves the activation of nonlocality. Palazuelos (2012) showed that there exist bipartite quantum states ρ and σ such that each one of them cannot be converted into a nonlocal box, but when combined together, the joint state $\rho \otimes \sigma$ can generate a nonlocal box. This phenomenon occurs in some other QRTs as well, and it is known as resource *activation* since the nonlocality of ρ is activated by the state σ and vice versa. In some cases, it is even possible to activate the nonlocality of ρ with the same state ρ or several copies of it, in which case it is called superactivation.

2. Contextuality

Bell nonlocality can be seen as a specific manifestation of contextuality in quantum mechanics. In general, contextuality refers to a certain way in which a state is prepared, a transformation arises, or a measurement is performed (Spekkens, 2005). Here we focus just on measurement contextuality.

We begin by reviewing the notion of measurement incompatibility in quantum mechanics, and this discussion will be relevant to the QRTs described in the next section as well. A family of POVMs is called compatible if its elements can be generated from a single "mother" POVM (Guerini *et al.*, 2017). More precisely, a collection of POVMs $\{\Theta_x\}_{x=1}^n$ with $\Theta_x = \{E_{a_x|x}\}_{a_x}$ is compatible if there exists a single POVM $\{F_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda}$ such that

$$E_{a_x|x} = \sum_{\lambda} p(a_x|x,\lambda) F_{\lambda} \quad \forall \ a_x, x, \tag{39}$$

where $p(a_x|\lambda, x)$ is some classical conditional probability distribution. For an arbitrary state ρ , Eq. (39) immediately yields a joint distribution for the measurement outcomes $\mathbf{a} = (a_1, a_2, ..., a_n)$ of the POVMs $(\Theta_1, \Theta_2, ..., \Theta_n)$ given by

$$p(\mathbf{a}|\rho) \coloneqq \sum_{\lambda} \prod_{x=1}^{n} p(a_x|x,\lambda) \operatorname{Tr}[F_{\lambda}\rho] = \operatorname{Tr}[G_{\mathbf{a}}\rho], \quad (40)$$

where $G_{\mathbf{a}} \coloneqq \sum_{\lambda} \prod_{x=1}^{n} p(a_x | x, \lambda) F_{\lambda}$ defines the elements of a multivalued POVM $\overline{\Theta} = \{G_{\mathbf{a}}\}_{\mathbf{a}}$. Note that $E_{a_x | x} = \sum_{y \neq x} \sum_{a_y} G_{\mathbf{a}}$. Thus, the single POVM $\overline{\Theta}$ is able to simultaneously measure all of the Θ_x , and the Θ_x are therefore described as being "jointly measurable" (Kraus, 1983; Lahti,

2003; Heinosaari, Reitzner, and Stano, 2008). We use the terms "compatible" and "jointly measurable" interchangeably.

Returning to contextuality, suppose that Θ is a POVM belonging to two different families of jointly measurable POVMs, \mathcal{M}_1 and \mathcal{M}_2 . We say that each of these families constitutes a *context* for measuring Θ . This can be understood from Eq. (39), which shows \mathcal{M}_1 and \mathcal{M}_2 arising from two different mother POVMs, each one generating a different way, or context, for measuring Θ .

This notion of contextuality can be used to distinguish and rule out certain hidden-variable theories of quantum mechanics. Let $\mathcal{M} = (\Theta_1, \Theta_2, ...)$ be an arbitrary family of POVMs for some quantum system. A noncontextual classical model for \mathcal{M} on state ρ is a probability distribution $f_{\rho}(\mathbf{a})$ over all sequences $\mathbf{a} = (a_1, a_2, ...)$ of outcomes for the POVMs in \mathcal{M} . To be consistent with the predictions of quantum mechanics, the model must have the correct marginals for any subset of jointly measurable POVMs. That is, if $\mathcal{M}' \subset \mathcal{M}$ is one family of jointly measurable POVMs, i.e., one context, then

$$\operatorname{Tr}[G_{\mathbf{a}'}\rho] = \sum_{a_i \notin \mathbf{a}'} f_\rho(a_1, a_2, \ldots), \tag{41}$$

where \mathbf{a}' is any sequence of outcomes in \mathcal{M}' , the operator $G_{\mathbf{a}'}$ is a POVM element for outcomes \mathbf{a}' as defined, and the sum is over all outcomes for POVMs not in \mathcal{M}' . The model is called *noncontextual* because for every POVM in \mathcal{M} , the state ρ is assigned an outcome distribution with no regard to contexts. Hence in such a model, the measurement outcomes for any POVM depend only on the state ρ and not on the way the measurement is carried out.

The famous Bell-Kochen-Specker theorem shows that a full description of quantum mechanics cannot be attained by a noncontextual hidden-variable theory (Bell, 1966; Kochen and Specker, 1967). In other words, there exist families of POVMs \mathcal{M} that require context-dependent hidden-variable models to accurately match the predictions of quantum mechanics. Since context-dependent effects are purely a quantum phenomenon, it is possible to consider quantifying the amount of noncontextuality in a quantum measurement scenario, as a numerical signature of nonclassicality (Kleinmann *et al.*, 2011; Svozil, 2012; Grudka *et al.*, 2014; Fagundes and Kleinmann, 2017).

Additionally, steps have been taken to develop a resource theory of contextuality (Horodecki et al., 2015; Abramsky, Barbosa, and Mansfield, 2017; Amaral et al., 2018). In this resource theory, one first fixes a collection of POVMs \mathcal{M} . A state is then a family of probability distributions $\{p(\mathbf{a}'|\mathcal{M}')\}_{\mathcal{M}'}$ called a "box," with a distribution defined for every jointly measurable subset $\mathcal{M}' \subset \mathcal{M}$. A consistency condition requires that if two contexts $\mathcal{M}_1{'}$ and $\mathcal{M}_2{'}$ share a common POVM, then $p(\mathbf{a}_1'|\mathcal{M}_1')$ and $p(\mathbf{a}_2'|\mathcal{M}_2')$ must have the same reduced distributions for this POVM (Horodecki et al., 2015; Amaral et al., 2018). Free states, called noncontextual boxes, are boxes in which $p(\mathbf{a}'|\mathcal{M}')$ is a marginal distribution of a single distribution $p(\mathbf{a}|\mathcal{M})$ for every jointly measurable subset $\mathcal{M}' \subset \mathcal{M}$. Regarding free operations, Horodecki et al. (2015) proposed all consistency-preserving transformations of boxes that act invariantly on the set of noncontextual boxes, i.e., the set \mathcal{O}_{max} . A more operational approach was taken by Amaral *et al.* (2018), which involves modifying the formalism slightly to allow for composing, or "wiring" of boxes. Then the free operations are described analogously to Fig. 9 in the resource theory of nonlocality. Namely, free operations are built by composing pre- and postnoncontextual boxes with a classical side channel extending from the latter to the former.

It is interesting to observe that within this resource-theoretic framework, Bell nonlocality can be characterized as a special case of contextuality (Horodecki *et al.*, 2015). Consider again the local POVMs Θ_x^A and Θ_y^B leading to Eq. (37) for a given state ρ . By the locality constraint, $\mathcal{M}_{x,y} := (\Theta_x^A, \Theta_y^B)$ is a jointly measurable pair for every (x, y). It can then be seen that $\{p(a, b | \mathcal{M}_{x,y})\}_{x,y}$ forms a noncontextual box if and only if p(a, b | x, y) is an LOSR channel [i.e., satisfying Eq. (38)] (Fine, 1982; Abramsky, Barbosa, and Mansfield, 2017). Consequently, a state ρ is Bell local if and only if it generates noncontextual boxes under any family of local POVMs.

3. Incompatibility, steering, and projective simulability

Measurement incompatibility, as previously described in detail, is a property of quantum mechanics that has been intensely studied since the early days of the subject. This highly nonclassical feature can be characterized in terms of a quantum resource theory. The main objects in this QRT are sets of quantum measurements. Formally, these can be characterized in terms of a special type of quantum channel, called a multimeter (Pusey, 2015; Gour, Heinosaari, and Spekkens, 2018), which has one classical input (the setting variable) that determines which measurement to perform, one quantum input upon which the measurement is performed, and one classical output corresponding to the measurement outcome. The notion of a multimeter can be further generalized to include a quantum output of the measurements. In this case, the device is called a multi-instrument (see Fig. 10). Note that if we trace out the quantum output, then a multiinstrument reduces to a multimeter, and if we remove the quantum input, then the device reduces to a multisource.

In Fig. 10(b) a free (i.e., compatible) multi-instrument is depicted, which is a single quantum instrument that simulates



FIG. 10. (a) Multi-instrument: Quantum input and output in purple (double line) and classical input and output in black (single line). (b) Free (compatible) multi-instrument.

several instruments. Note that a compatible multi-instrument has the property that the quantum output is independent of the setting variable. This is a property belonging to a more general class of multi-instruments called *semicausal* (Beckman *et al.*, 2001; Eggeling, Schlingemann, and Werner, 2002; Piani *et al.*, 2006), and these can always be realized by replacing the classical communication and classical processing in Fig. 10(b) with quantum communication and quantum processing.

With the definition of free operations, the QRT of incompatibility of quantum instruments is well defined. Since this is a resource theory of quantum processes, one resource (i.e., incompatible multi-instrument) can simulate another by a free superchannel as depicted in Fig. 5, where the pre- and postprocessing are compatible multi-instruments [see more details in Gour, Heinosaari, and Spekkens (2018)].

The QRT of compatibility also captures the notion of steering as a special case, and it can therefore be used to define the QRT of steering (Gallego and Aolita, 2015). Steering is a process by which a bipartite quantum state ρ^{AB} is used to remotely prepare an ensemble of quantum states in system *B*, by performing local measurements on system *A* (Jones, Wiseman, and Doherty, 2007; Wiseman, Jones, and Doherty, 2007; Cavalcanti and Skrzypczyk, 2017). The objects in this resource theory are called "assemblages," which are equivalent to multisources in the terminology used here (i.e., devices with classical input and both classical and quantum outputs). That is, an assemblage has the form $\{p(a|x), \sigma_{a|x}\}_{a \in \mathcal{A}, x \in \mathcal{X}}$ with $\{p(a|x), \sigma_{a|x}\}_{a \in \mathcal{A}}$ being an ensemble of quantum states for every $x \in \mathcal{X}$. An assemblage is called unsteerable if it admits a local hidden-state model:

$$p(a|x)\sigma_{a|x} = \sum_{\lambda} p(a|x,\lambda)\rho_{\lambda}q_{\lambda} \quad \forall \ a,x, \qquad (42)$$

and these are the free objects in the QRT of steering. From Fig. 10(b) it can be seen that unsteerable assemblages are precisely compatible multisources. Moreover, the forward classical communication in semicausal multisources corresponds to the allowed one-way communication from Bob to Alice in the steering scenario. Hence, the QRT of steering is equivalent to the QRT of incompatible (semicausal) multisources.

One can think of other types of resources that are associated with quantum measurements. One such example is the degree in which a general quantum measurement or POVM differs from a projective von-Neumann measurement. Since generalized quantum measurements and POVMs provide only an effective description of the measurement process, it is natural to ask how difficult it is to physically implement them, as in Sec. III.C.2. Any implementation will involve projective measurements acting on a larger Hilbert space (a joint system + ancillary space). As joint projective measurements can be more challenging to realize, it is natural to consider a QRT in which such measurements are forbidden; this gives rise to a resource theory of joint measurability (Guerini et al., 2017; Oszmaniec et al., 2017). In this model, the free operations are projective measurements assisted with classical processing and mixing. Simulability of one POVM (or generalized measurement) from another can be obtained as in Fig. 5 with the pre- and postprocessing being the free operations.

C. Nonconvex resource theories

1. Non-Gaussianity

The QRT of non-Gaussianity, such as entanglement, is another example of a resource theory that arises from natural constraints on the set of free operations. Gaussian states and Gaussian operations (including Gaussian measurements) are relatively easy to realize in experiments using lasers, phasesensitive and phase insensitive optical amplifiers, and spontaneous parametric downconversion (Braunstein and van Loock, 2005). Consequently, Gaussian quantum information was developed (Weedbrook et al., 2012; Serafini, 2017), demonstrating that many quantum information processing tasks, such as quantum key distribution (QKD), can be implemented with only Gaussian states and Gaussian operations. Analogous to entanglement-breaking channels, the structure of nonclassicality-breaking Gaussian channels was also investigated (Ivan, Sabapathy, and Simon, 2013; Sabapathy, 2015). Despite the success of Gaussian quantum information, it was also realized that many other important tasks such as entanglement distillation, quantum error correction, optimal cloning and more [see, e.g., Lami et al. (2018), Takagi and Zhuang (2018), and Zhuang, Shor, and Shapiro (2018) and references therein] require non-Gaussian resources to be implemented. All this provides a strong motivation to develop a resource theory in which the free operations and free states are given in terms of Gaussian states and Gaussian operations. The QRT of non-Gaussianity is different in two aspects from the QRTs we discussed. First, it deals with continuous variable systems which are described by infinite-dimensional Hilbert spaces, and second, the sets of Gaussian states and Gaussian operations are not convex. To overcome the challenge of nonconvexity, one typically enlarges the set of free states and free operations to be the convex hull of Gaussian states and Gaussian operations (Albarelli et al., 2018; Lami et al., 2018; Takagi and Zhuang, 2018; Zhuang, Shor, and Shapiro, 2018).

Some techniques from QRTs have been adopted to quantify non-Gaussianity, such as measures based on the relative entropy (Genoni, Paris, and Banaszek, 2008; Genoni and Paris, 2010; Marian and Marian, 2013), and recently more systematic methods have been explored (Albarelli et al., 2018; Lami et al., 2018; Takagi and Zhuang, 2018; Zhuang, Shor, and Shapiro, 2018). For example, Albarelli et al. (2018) developed a state-based approach, where both quantum non-Gaussianity and the Wigner negativity have been identified as resources, depending on whether one chooses the set of free states to be the convex hull of Gaussian states or the set of states with positive Wigner function. Unlike entanglement theory, Albarelli et al. (2018) showed that there is no maximal resource state in this QRT. Non-Gaussian states have also been shown to be resource states for universal quantum computation (Takagi and Zhuang, 2018), and in Zhuang, Shor, and Shapiro (2018) the entanglement-assisted non-Gaussianity generating power has been defined and proved to be a monotone under Gaussian operations.

Lami *et al.* (2018) developed a broad resource-theoretic framework that encompasses Gaussian quantum information. Interestingly, it was shown that in all these models there are

fundamental constraints on state manipulations, leading to a remarkable conclusion that no Gaussian quantum resource can be distilled with free Gaussian operations. Despite all of the recent activities on the QRT of non-Gaussianity, there is much more room for development, and the theory is undoubtedly still in its infancy.

2. Non-Markovianity

Two markedly different resource theories of quantum non-Markovianity have been proposed in the literature. We first recall the notion of Markovianity in the classical setting. Three random variables *XYZ* with joint distribution p_{XYZ} form a short Markov chain, denoted by X - Y - Z, if

$$I(X:Z|Y) = 0, (43)$$

where I(X:Z|Y) = I(X:YZ) - I(X:Y). Equivalently, the conditional distributions

$$p_{Z|X=x}(z) \coloneqq \frac{p_{ZX}(z,x)}{p_X(x)}$$

satisfy

$$p_{Z|X=x}(z) = \sum_{y} p_{Z|Y=y}(z) p_{Y|X=x}(y).$$
(44)

Equation (43) can be interpreted as a static condition on the variables *XYZ*, while Eq. (44) can be interpreted as a dynamic condition on the induced transition matrices $p_{Z|Y}$ and $p_{Y|X}$. These two sides of the same classical coin lead to two different generalizations of quantum Markovianity.

The first approach follows Eq. (44) and involves classifying a quantum dynamical process as being either Markovian or non-Markovian. In general, a time-parametrized evolution for a quantum system is represented by a family of tracepreserving dynamical maps $\{\Phi_{(t_2,t_1)}: \tau \ge t_2 \ge t_1 \ge 0\}$, with each map characterizing how the system transforms over time interval $[t_1, t_2]$. Note that this encompasses the notion of the "process" discussed in Sec. III.D.5, with the latter capturing a particular "snapshot" in some family of dynamical CP maps (Wolf et al., 2008). An evolution is called Markovian if its dynamical maps are CP and satisfy the composition law $\Phi_{t_3,t_1} = \Phi_{t_3,t_2} \circ \Phi_{t_2,t_1}$ (Rivas, Huelga, and Plenio, 2010, 2014). Markovian processes are nonconvex in the sense that the CPTP map $\lambda \Phi_{t_2,t_1} + (1-\lambda)\Phi'_{t_2,t_1}$ need not arise within some Markovian evolution even if Φ_{t_2,t_1} and Φ'_{t_2,t_1} do. Nevertheless, in the resource-theoretic spirit, several nonconvex measures have been constructed to quantify the degree in which a particular quantum evolution is non-Markovian (Wolf et al., 2008; Breuer, Laine, and Piilo, 2009; Chruścińki, Kossakowski, and Rivas, 2011; Rivas, Huelga, and Plenio, 2014; Hall et al., 2014; Bhattacharya, Bhattacharya, and Majumdar, 2018).

The second type of resource theory follows Eq. (43) and characterizes quantum non-Markovianity in terms of tripartite static resources, i.e., tripartite quantum states ρ^{ABE} . A quantum Markov state refers to any state ρ^{ABE} whose

conditional quantum mutual information vanishes. That is, $I(A:B|E)_{a} = 0$, where

 $I(A:B|E)_{\rho} \coloneqq S(AE)_{\rho} + S(BE)_{\rho} - S(ABE)_{\rho} - S(E)_{\rho}$

with $S(X)_{\rho}$ denoting the von Neumann entropy of systems X in state ρ . Non-Markov states have been shown to provide a resource for the tasks of quantum state redistribution (Devetak and Yard, 2008), secure communication by a one-time conditional pad (Sharma, Wakakuwa, and Wilde, 2017), and state deconstruction (Berta et al., 2018). The conditional quantum mutual information of a state is also closely related to how well it allows for reconstruction from its bipartite reduced states (Brandão, Harrow et al., 2015; Fawzi and Renner, 2015). Note that $I(A:B|E)_{a} = 0$ when the strong subadditivity bound is tight (Lieb and Ruskai, 1973), and the structure of such states was determined by Hayden et al. (2004). A QRT was recently proposed by Wakakuwa, Soeda, and Murao (2017) in which Markov states are free and the free operations consist of LOCC between Alice and Bob, reversible quantum operations by Eve, and quantum communication from Alice and Bob to Eve. Any combination of such actions leaves the set of Markov states invariant. Moreover, these are natural operations to consider in cryptographic settings, such as the one-time pad, where Eve is an unwanted eavesdropper. In fact, a full resource theory of secrecy involving two (or more) honest parties and one adversary can be constructed along these lines (K. Horodecki et al., 2005). Classically, such a resource theory studies the processing of tripartite distributions p_{XYZ} under local (classical) operations and public communication (LOPC) (Collins and Popescu, 2002; Christandl et al., 2007). A number of remarkable results have been obtained revealing analogous structures between quantum entanglement under LOCC and classical secrecy under LOPC (Collins and Popescu, 2002; Gisin, Renner, and Wolf, 2002; Renner and Wolf, 2003; Oppenheim, Spekkens, and Winter, 2008; Chitambar, Fortescue, and Hsieh, 2015; Chitambar and Hsieh, 2017).

3. Quantum correlations

Traditionally, the term "quantum correlations" has been used in reference to the quantum entanglement in a multipartite quantum state. However, as the subject of quantum information theory matured, quantum correlations became recognized as an arguably broader concept than just entanglement. There are a variety of ways to quantify quantum correlations (Modi *et al.*, 2012; Horodecki and Oppenheim, 2013b; Adesso, Bromley, and Cianciaruso, 2016), including those that measure the correlated dynamics in the evolution of a multipart quantum system (Rivas and Müller, 2015; Postler *et al.*, 2018). Here we just focus on bipartite quantum discord (Ollivier and Zurek, 2001) and its associated resource theory. As originally defined by Ollivier and Zurek (2001) [see also Zurek (2000)], the quantum discord from Bob to Alice is defined by

$$J(A|B)_{\rho} = I(A:B)_{\rho} - \max_{\{P_i^B\}_i} I(A:X)_{\rho'},$$
(45)

where $I(A:B)_{\rho}$ is the quantum mutual information in ρ , the maximization is taken over all projective measurements on Bob's side, and $\rho' = \sum_{i} \operatorname{Tr}_{B}(\mathbb{I}^{A} \otimes P_{i}^{B}\rho) \otimes |i\rangle \langle i|^{B}$ is a QC state. From Eq. (45), the discord J(A|B) can be interpreted as the correlations that remain when the classical correlations in ρ are subtracted from its total correlations (Henderson and Vedral, 2001). An overview of different operational interpretations of discord can be found in Modi *et al.* (2012), Streltsov (2015), and Berta *et al.* (2018).

In a QRT of discord, the free states are characterized by the condition $J(A|B)_{a} = 0$ and are said to be classically correlated. It is not difficult to show that ρ has vanishing discord if and only if it is a QC state $\rho = \sum_i p_i \rho_i^A \otimes |e_i\rangle \langle e_i|^B$, where $\{|e_i\rangle\}_i$ is any orthonormal basis for Bob's system (Ollivier and Zurek, 2001; Hayashi, 2006; Datta, 2008). An alternative characterization can be given by considering isometries of the form $U^{B\to BC}$: $|e_i\rangle^B \to |e_i\rangle^B |e_i\rangle^C$ applied to a given state ρ^{AB} . It can be shown (Datta and Madhok, 2017) that ρ^{AB} has vanishing discord if and only if there exists such an isometry for which $\hat{\rho}^{ABC} = (\mathbb{I} \otimes U)\rho^{AB}(\mathbb{I} \otimes U)^{\dagger}$ is a Markov state conditioned on system B. In other words, we must have $I(A:C|B)_{\hat{o}} = 0$ (see Sec. IV.C.2). As for the free operations, it is obvious that any local CP map on Alice's side is resource nongenerating. On the other hand, Bob's actions must be restricted, and Hu et al. (2012) showed that a CPTP map on Bob's side is resource nongenerating if and only if it is commutativity preserving; i.e., $[\Phi(\eta), \Phi(\zeta)] = 0$ whenever $[\eta, \zeta] = 0$. Other classes of free operations for discord have also recently been considered by Liu, Hu, and Lloyd (2017).

V. RESOURCE-THEORETIC TASKS

In all QRTs, the same basic information-theoretic tasks can be studied, and often techniques used to solve a problem in one QRT can be applied to solve the analogous problem in another. Here we review the most well-studied tasks in QRTs and highlight their general features.

A. Single-shot convertibility

The most basic problem studied in any QRT is the conversion of one resource state to another using the free operations of the theory. For any $\rho \in S(A)$ and $\sigma \in S(B)$, the question is whether there exists a CPTP map $\Phi \in O(A \rightarrow B)$ such that $\Phi(\rho) = \sigma$. If such a map exists, then we write

$$\rho \xrightarrow{\mathcal{O}} \sigma.$$
 (46)

Unfortunately, the task of exact state transformation is usually too strict. That is, in the most interesting QRTs, it will generally not be possible to perfectly transform one given state to another using the free operations, or vice versa. Furthermore, from an experimental perspective, exact transformations are artificial since any physical implementation will deviate from the theoretical ideal.

These considerations have motivated several variations to the problem of exact resource transformation. The first involves relaxing the condition that the transformation $\rho \rightarrow \sigma$ be achieved deterministically. Instead, one only seeks a flagged CPTP map $\Phi(\cdot) = \sum_{j} \Phi_{j}(\cdot) \otimes |j\rangle \langle j|^{X}$ that is free and such that $\Phi_{j}(\rho)/p_{j} = \sigma$ for some *j* with $p_{j} = \text{Tr}[\Phi_{j}(\rho)] \neq 0$. Starting with ρ , one then freely obtains σ with probability p_{j} by performing Φ and then measuring classical system *X*. If such a map exists, σ is said to be obtained from ρ by a stochastic or probabilistic transformation, and we denote this relationship by

$$\rho \xrightarrow{SO} \sigma.$$
 (47)

Note the only requirement in Eq. (47) is that ρ be freely transformed to σ with some nonzero probability, regardless of how small this may happen to be. A more general yet typically more difficult question is to compute the greatest probability of transforming one state to another using the free operations. That is, for a given σ one can consider the problem of determining the value

$$P_{\rho}^{(\max)}(\sigma) \coloneqq \sup_{\Phi_0} \left\{ \operatorname{Tr}[\Phi_0(\rho)] \middle| \frac{\Phi_0(\rho)}{\operatorname{Tr}[\Phi_0(\rho)]} = \sigma \right\}, \quad (48)$$

where the supremum is taken over all CP maps Φ_0 such that $\Phi(\cdot) = \Phi_0(\cdot) \otimes |0\rangle \langle 0|^X + \Phi_1(\cdot) \otimes |1\rangle \langle 1|^X$ is a free CPTP map for some CP map Φ_1 . Interest in stochastic convertibility first arose in the study of entanglement distillation where it was observed that every bipartite weakly entangled state can be transformed into a maximally entangled state with nonzero probability, a process sometimes called the *procrustean method* (Bennett, Bernstein *et al.*, 1996). But the idea of stochastic transformations applies to all QRTs in which classically flagged CPTP maps are free.

A second variation involves relaxing perfect fidelity in the target state. One allows for an ϵ ball or an " ϵ smoothing" around σ and deems the transformation a success if ρ is transformed to any state within that ball. More precisely, one first defines the set of density matrices $B_{\epsilon}(\sigma) = \{\sigma': F(\sigma, \sigma') \ge 1 - \epsilon\}$ and then writes

$$\rho \stackrel{\mathcal{O}}{\longrightarrow}_{\epsilon} \sigma \tag{49}$$

if $\rho \stackrel{\bigcirc}{\longrightarrow} \sigma'$ for some $\sigma' \in B_e(\sigma)$. Transformations like Eq. (49) are the primary focus in *one-shot* information theories, and they are operationally linked to the "smooth" entropic quantities (see Sec. VII.C). The single-shot transformations of Eqs. (46)–(49) are ostensibly different from the *many-copy* or asymptotic transformations that are traditionally considered in information theory, and which we discuss next.

B. Asymptotic convertibility

Even after relaxing the demand of exact transformation to allow for stochastic or approximate outcomes, most pairs of states in a typical QRT will still not be interconvertible. Another approach is to abandon the one-shot scenario and consider transforming multiple copies of the same state. The object of interest now becomes the optimal rate of input to output states that is achievable using the free operations. More precisely, a rate *R* is said to be achievable in transforming ρ to σ if for every R' < R and every $\epsilon \in (0, 1]$ there exists an integer *n* sufficiently large so that

$$\rho^{\otimes n} \stackrel{\mathcal{O}}{\longrightarrow}_{\epsilon} \sigma^{\otimes \lfloor nR' \rfloor}. \tag{50}$$

The optimal rate is then denoted as $R(\rho \rightarrow \sigma) = \sup\{R | \text{ such that } R \text{ is achievable under } \mathcal{O}\}.$

Computing $R(\rho \rightarrow \sigma)$ for arbitrary states is usually a formidable task. Nevertheless, there are some general properties of $R(\rho \rightarrow \sigma)$ that can be observed. Trivially if the QRT allows for the preparation of free states, then $R(\rho \rightarrow \sigma) = +\infty$ for any free state σ . Likewise, one would expect that $R(\rho \rightarrow \sigma) = 0$ for any free state ρ and any resource state σ . However, some care is needed because a nonzero asymptotic rate in this case would not automatically violate the golden rule of QRTs. On the other hand, if (for any dimension) the set of free states is closed and discarding subsystems is RNG, then it is easy to show that indeed $R(\rho \rightarrow \sigma) = 0$ for $\rho \in \mathcal{F}$ and $\sigma \notin \mathcal{F}$.

A fundamental problem in any QRT is to compare the two directions of asymptotic convertibility for a given pair of states. How does $R(\rho \rightarrow \sigma)$ compare to $R(\sigma \rightarrow \rho)$? States ρ and σ are said to be weakly reversible in a QRT if $R(\rho \rightarrow \sigma)R(\sigma \rightarrow \rho) = 1$. Roughly speaking, reversibility in this sense means that the transformation cycle $\rho \rightarrow \sigma \rightarrow \rho$ returns one copy of ρ for each starting copy of ρ , in the asymptotic limit. For the definition of optimal convertibility rate, it follows that $R(\rho \rightarrow \omega) \ge R(\rho \rightarrow \sigma)R(\sigma \rightarrow \omega)$ for any three states (Horodecki, Sen(De), and Sen, 2003). Consequently, if ρ and σ are reversible, and σ and ω are also reversible, then we must have that ρ and ω are reversible.

Reversibility thus establishes an equivalence class on the set of all density matrices such that two states belong to the same family if and only if they are asymptotic reversible under the free operations of the QRT. A canonical representative τ_0 can be identified for each equivalence class, and to compute $R(\rho \rightarrow \sigma)$ for any two states in the class, it suffices to determine $R(\rho \rightarrow \tau_0)$ for all ρ in the class. For example, in bipartite entanglement theory, the maximally entangled state $|\Phi^+\rangle = \sqrt{1/2}(|00\rangle + |11\rangle)$ is the natural choice for a class representative, and all pure states belong to the same reversibility class as $|\Phi^+\rangle$ (Bennett, Bernstein *et al.*, 1996). In this case, the quantity $R(\rho \rightarrow |\Phi^+\rangle \langle \Phi^+|)$ is called the distillable entanglement of ρ (Bennett, DiVincenzo *et al.*, 1996), while $R(|\Phi^+\rangle \langle \Phi^+| \rightarrow \rho)$ is called the entanglement cost of ρ (Hayden, Horodecki, and Terhal, 2001).

In most QRTs, Brandão and Gour (2015) showed that all resource states become asymptotically reversible using operations that are asymptotically resource nongenerating for the set of free states, and the optimal rate of convertibility is determined by $\mathcal{R}_{rel}^{\infty}$, the regularized relative entropy of resource (see Sec. VII.C). Using strictly weaker classes of operations, reversibility between any two states was also shown to hold in the QRTs of purity (Horodecki, Horodecki, and Oppenheim, 2003) and coherence (Chitambar, 2018).

However, in most QRTs, different reversibility classes will exist and $R(\rho \rightarrow \sigma)R(\sigma \rightarrow \rho) < 1$ for states belonging to different classes. In this case, the states ρ and σ demonstrate resource irreversibility and the cycle $\rho \rightarrow \sigma \rightarrow \rho$ incurs nonzero loss per initial copy of ρ . The strongest manifestation of irreversibility arises when $R(\rho \rightarrow \sigma) > 0$ but $R(\sigma \rightarrow \rho) = 0$ for some resource state σ . This has been observed most prominently in the QRT of entanglement, a phenomenon known as bound entanglement (M. Horodecki, Horodecki, and Horodecki, 1998). A bound entangled state ρ is characterized by the conditions that $R(|\Phi^+\rangle\langle\Phi^+|\rightarrow\rho) \in (0, +\infty)$ and $R(\rho \rightarrow |\Phi^+\rangle\langle\Phi^+|) = 0$. An analog to bound entanglement was also discovered in the resource theories of thermodynamics (Lostaglio, Jennings, and Rudolph, 2015), magic state quantum computation (Veitch *et al.*, 2012), speakable (de Vicente and Streltsov, 2017; Zhao, Liu, Yuan, Chitambar, and Winter, 2018) and unspeakable (Marvian, 2018) coherence, and even multipartite secret key (Acín, Cirac, and Masanes, 2004).

There is a stronger form of asymptotic reversibility that is not defined in terms of transformation rates. Again, consider the transformation cycle $\rho \rightarrow \sigma \rightarrow \rho$, but instead of just demanding that one copy of ρ returns for every initial copy, one demands that the output of the cycle have arbitrarily close fidelity to the input. While second-order losses can be ignored when just focusing on rates, they become largely important when considering transformation fidelities. A precise definition for this stronger form of resource reversibility was proposed by Kumagai and Hayashi (2013) for the specific case of entanglement. Under the stronger definition of reversibility, nonmaximally entangled pure states can no longer be reversibly transformed into $|\Phi^+\rangle$.

C. Catalytic convertibility

In a chemical process, a reaction catalyst is a substance whose presence makes the process possible while remaining unaltered at the end of the process. This effect can be incorporated within the framework of QRTs. A state ω is called a resource catalyst for the transformation of ρ to σ if

$$\rho \not \to \sigma \text{ but } \rho \otimes \omega \xrightarrow{\mathcal{O}} \sigma \otimes \omega. \tag{51}$$

If ρ can be transformed into σ using some catalysis state, then we write $\rho \xrightarrow{cO} \sigma$.

The fact that catalysts exist in QRTs is not obvious. However, it was discovered by Jonathan and Plenio that entanglement transformations allow for catalysts (Jonathan and Plenio, 1999a), and since then nearly all QRTs have been found to demonstrate catalytic phenomena. Analyzing catalyst-assisted transformations has been particularly illuminating in the QRT of quantum thermodynamics where a family of free energies has been shown to characterize convertibility from one state to another, thereby generalizing the second law of thermodynamics (Brandão, Horodecki *et al.*, 2015).

Like the single-shot problem of Eq. (46), variations to the question of exact catalytic convertibility can also be considered. Stochastic catalytics transformations refer to pairs of states ρ and σ such that $\rho \not\to \sigma$ but $\rho \otimes \omega \to \sigma \otimes \omega$ for some ω (Chen *et al.*, 2010). A more general question is whether catalysts can increase the optimal success probability of a stochastic transformation. In other words, does there exist an ω such that

where $P^{(\text{max})}$ is defined in Eq. (48) (Feng, Duan, and Ying, 2005)?

It is also possible to consider ϵ approximations in the catalytic transformation, i.e., $\rho \otimes \omega \xrightarrow{\mathcal{O}}_{\epsilon} \sigma \otimes \omega$. Here one can further stipulate that the output be an exact tensor-product state with σ obtained on the primary system and all the error in the final state occurring on the catalysis system. Error in this case represents noncyclic behavior for the catalysis, and often a more operationally based measure of this acyclicity is better to use than just the fidelity between initial and final states (Brandão, Horodecki *et al.*, 2015). If one allows for ϵ error to occur across both the primary and the catalysis systems, then the problem often becomes trivial. This is because of a powerful phenomenon known as *resource embezzlement*, which refers to a family of states $\{\omega_n\}_n$ such that for any $\sigma \in S(\mathcal{H})$ and any $\epsilon > 0$,

$$\omega_n \xrightarrow{\mathcal{O}}_{\epsilon} \sigma \otimes \omega_n \tag{53}$$

for all *n* sufficiently large. Entanglement embezzlement was first discovered by van Dam and Hayden (2003), and it has found important applications in, for example, proving the quantum reverse Shannon theorem (Berta, Christandl, and Renner, 2011; Bennett *et al.*, 2014). Outside of entanglement, resource embezzlement or variations to this idea have also been demonstrated in the QRTs of thermodynamics (Brandão, Horodecki *et al.*, 2015; Gour, Muller *et al.*, 2015) and coherence (Åberg, 2014).

D. Convertibility preordering

The convertibility tasks described in the past three sections establish various preorderings of state space. Recall that for a general set *S*, a preorder is a binary relation \prec satisfying the properties of (i) reflexivity $a \prec a$ for all $a \in S$, and (ii) transitivity $a \prec b$ and $b \prec c$ implies $a \prec c$ for all $a, b, c \in S$. Clearly the relations $\stackrel{\mathcal{O}}{\rightarrow}, \stackrel{S\mathcal{O}}{\rightarrow}$, and $\stackrel{\mathcal{C}\mathcal{O}}{\rightarrow}$ form preorders. Approximate convertibility fails to be transitive in general, but if $\rho \stackrel{\mathcal{O}}{\rightarrow}_e \sigma$, and $\sigma \stackrel{\mathcal{O}}{\rightarrow}_e \omega$, then $\rho \stackrel{\mathcal{O}}{\rightarrow}_{2e} \omega$. Optimal rates of asymptotic convertibility also induce a preorder on state space, the details of such can be found in Bennett *et al.* (2000).

One advantage of studying preorders in a QRT is that it allows for a comparison of resources without first having to specify any sort of resource measure. If $\rho \rightarrow \sigma$ under any of the aforementioned orders, then ρ has no less resource than σ in a truly operational sense. However, comparing resources in this manner is limited since typically state convertibility will not form a total order on the set of density matrices, whether the convertibility is considered to be exact, asymptotic, or even with small ϵ error.

There are two extremes that can arise in a convertibility preorder for a given QRT. The first occurs when most if not all pairs of states fail to be ordered, i.e., one cannot be transformed into any other. This is the case in the QRT of multipartite entanglement under LOCC (Sauerwein *et al.*, 2017). The other extreme is when any state can be converted

into any other. In this case the free operations are so powerful that all preorders collapse, and all states are essentially equivalent. Both extremes are uninteresting to study from a QRT perspective. An analytically rich QRT is one where the preorders are not trivial and resource hierarchies can be established for a wide range of physically relevant states.

E. Simulation of nonfree operations

One of the most important tasks in any QRT is overcoming the operational limitations intrinsic to the definition of the resource theory. Given that the QRT allows only certain physical operations, how can the experimenter transcend this restriction and perform essentially nonfree operations? This question is especially important because often the operational constraints in a QRT reflect practical challenges that would not arise in ideal experimental setups. In general, it is possible for nonfree operations to be simulated by free operations at the cost of consuming a resource state. More precisely, we say $\Phi_{\text{Resource}} \notin \mathcal{O}(A \to B)$ is simulated by $\Phi_{\text{Free}} \in \mathcal{O}(AC \to B)$ and $\nu \notin \mathcal{F}(C)$ if

$$\Phi_{\text{Resource}}(\rho) = \Phi_{\text{Free}}(\rho \otimes \nu) \tag{54}$$

for all $\rho \in S(A)$. Such channels have been studied for LOCC under the name of σ -stretchable channels (Pirandola *et al.*, 2017), and later for general resource theories under the name of ν -freely simulable channels (Kaur and Wilde, 2018). This equation can be seen simply as the conversion of a static resource ν into the dynamic resource Φ_{Resource} (see Sec. III.D.5).

For a given QRT, a natural question is whether all CPTP maps $\Phi \in \mathcal{O}(A \to B)$ can be simulated in such a manner. If not, what is the largest set of channels that can be simulated? Furthermore, for those channels that can be simulated, what is the minimal amount of resource needed? Note that the task of channel simulation generalizes the task of catalytic convertibility.

Quantum teleportation describes one of the most important examples of such a simulation, where general bipartite CPTP maps can be simulated using shared entanglement (Bennett *et al.*, 1993; Bennett, DiVincenzo *et al.*, 1996; Horodecki, Horodecki, and Horodecki, 1999). A similar result holds for coherence (Chitambar and Hsieh, 2016). As another example, the underlying motivation for the QRT of magic states lies in the fact that magic states generate universal computation when consumed by stabilizer operations (Gottesman and Chuang, 1999; Bravyi and Kitaev, 2005; Knill, 2005). Finally, in the QRT of asymmetry, the state ω in Eq. (54) could represent a shared reference frame, or more generally one that breaks the underlying symmetry, thereby allowing for the simulation of asymmetric transformations (Bartlett, Rudolph, and Spekkens, 2007).

F. Erasing resources

In Sec. III.D.3 resource-destroying maps were discussed, and the existence of such maps was shown to be intimately linked to the overall structure of the particular QRT. Although not all QRTs possess resource-destroying maps, the general task of erasing resource can be studied in any QRT. By understanding the operational requirements to erase the resource in a given state, a fundamental connection is drawn between dynamic physical processes and the static resource held in the state. This idea has its origins in Landauer's principle, which identifies the amount of information stored in a computer system as being proportional to the amount of work needed to reset (i.e., erase) the system into some fixed initial configuration (Landauer, 1961).

Landauer's principle can be extended to the erasing of resources in a general QRT having minimal structure. Suppose maps of the form

$$\rho \mapsto \sum_{i=1}^{N} p_i U_i \rho U_i^{\dagger} \otimes |i\rangle \langle i|^X$$
(55)

are allowed, where the U_i are free unitaries. If discarding classical information is also permitted (as in Sec. III.D.1), then Eq. (55) could be continued to obtain the CPTP map $\Phi(\cdot) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} p_i U_i(\cdot) U_i^{\dagger}$. Even though this process is deemed free by the QRT, Landauer's principle still associates a thermodynamical cost with the step of discarding classical information. In the many-copy limit, the rate of physical work required to erase the classical memory is given by the entropy of the distribution p_i . For a given resource ρ , one can minimize the entropy over all such channels such that $\sum_{i=1}^{N} p_i U_i(\rho) U_i^{\dagger}$ is a free state. This then captures the asymptotic minimal work cost to erase the resource in ρ via such a protocol. The minimum number of random unitaries needed to erase the resource in a given state (i.e., N in the sum) also provides a more conservative and often asymptotically tight measure of erasure cost (Groisman, Popescu, and Winter, 2005).

One can also consider the task of erasing resources using catalysis. Building on the work of Majenz *et al.* (2017) involving catalytic decoupling, Anshu, Hsieh, and Jain (2017) recently showed that in convex QRTs admitting a tensor-product structure, $\mathcal{R}_{rel}^{\infty}$ quantifies the optimal asymptotic rate of erasing resource using free unitaries and catalysis, where $\mathcal{R}_{rel}^{\infty}$ is the regularized relative entropy of resource (see Sec. VI.C). Roughly speaking this means that for any $R > \mathcal{R}_{rel}^{\infty}$, there exists free unitaries U_i and a probability distribution p_i such that

$$\Phi(\rho^{\otimes n} \otimes \omega) = \sum_{i=1}^{2^{nR}} p_i U_i(\rho^{\otimes n} \otimes \omega) U_i^{\dagger} \approx \sigma \otimes \omega, \quad (56)$$

where σ is a free state. Specific cases of this task have been investigated in the QRTs of entanglement (Groisman, Popescu, and Winter, 2005), coherence (Singh *et al.*, 2015), non-Markovianity (Wakakuwa, Soeda, and Murao, 2017), asymmetry (Wakakuwa, 2017b), and more generally in scenarios involving state deconstruction (Majenz *et al.*, 2017; Berta *et al.*, 2018). One-shot variations of the problem have also been proposed and extensively studied by Anshu, Hsieh, and Jain (2017), Majenz *et al.* (2017), and Berta and Majenz (2018).

VI. QUANTIFYING RESOURCES

One of the most useful aspects of a QRT is that it generates precise and operationally meaningful ways to quantify a given physical resource. Dedicated studies on the broad characterization and computation of resource measures in a general QRT have been conducted (Liu, Hu, and Lloyd, 2017; Bromley *et al.*, 2018; Regula, 2018). Here we review a variety of resource measures that can be introduced in any QRT. We first begin with an axiomatic approach which involves identifying some necessary and desirable properties that any resource measure should satisfy. After that, we review different families of specific resource measures that can be used in the study of general QRTs.

A. An axiomatic approach

In its definition, a QRT is defined for any Hilbert space \mathcal{H} . Therefore, a true resource measure should be able to quantify the resource of a density operator acting on any space; that is, we should consider non-negative functions of the form $f: \cup_{\mathcal{H}} S(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$. However, in practice one may be satisfied with restricting the domain of a measure and focusing on just a single input space \mathcal{H} . The additional structure required of f to be a resource measure can be cast in axiomatic form. Next we state five axioms for a resource measure. Lest this approach be too restrictive, we distinguish the first two axioms (vanishing for free states and monotonicity) as being essential, while the others (convexity, subadditivity and subextensivity, and asymptotic continuity) as being convenient and nonessential.

1. Vanishing for free states

The first and most obvious axiom of a resource measure is that for a given system A

$$\rho \in \mathcal{F}(A) \Rightarrow f(\rho) = 0. \tag{57}$$

This condition makes the statement "no resource" quantitatively precise. Intuitively it may be tempting to require that the converse of Eq. (57) also holds. This property is called *faithfulness*, and a general function f is called resource faithful if $f(\rho) = 0$ implies that ρ is free. However, it may be that for a given task, certain resource states provide no operational advantage over free states. Such states should then be assigned zero resource by any measure that quantifies the utility of a state for performing the given task. For example, the distillable entanglement is an important measure of entanglement that vanishes for all bound entangled states. Thus, while faithfulness is intuitively appealing, it is not required for a resource measure.

2. Monotonicity

A more fundamental property of any resource measure is that its value cannot be increased using free operations. This is called monotonicity, and it can be seen as encompassing the golden rule of QRTs. A non-negative function $f: \cup_{\mathcal{H}} \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ is called a resource monotone if, for any $\Phi \in \mathcal{O}(A \to B)$ and $\rho \in \mathcal{S}(A)$, it holds that

$$f(\rho) \ge f(\Phi(\rho)). \tag{58}$$

For QRTs in which any two free states are interconvertible, such as those admitting a tensor-product structure,

monotonicity immediately implies that $f(\rho) = f(\sigma)$ whenever ρ and σ are free. Thus, the axiom of vanishing for free states can always be satisfied by shifting the function f so that $f(\rho) = f(\sigma) = 0$.

Quantum measurements represented in the form of QC maps $\Phi(\cdot) = \sum_i \Phi_i(\cdot) \otimes |i\rangle \langle i|^X$ are not permitted in every resource theory, quantum thermodynamics being one such example. However, in QRTs such as entanglement and magic states, measurements are physically allowed, and they represent an important component of the theory. We are thus typically interested in the behavior of a resource monotone when evaluated on QC states. We say that such a function *f* is convex linear on QC states if

$$f\left(\sum_{i} p_{i}\sigma_{i} \otimes |i\rangle\langle i|\right) = \sum_{i} p_{i}f(\sigma_{i} \otimes |i\rangle\langle i|) \qquad (59)$$

for every QC state $\sigma^{QX} = \sum_i p_i \sigma_i \otimes |i\rangle \langle i|$. For example, the von Neumann entropy and all Schatten *p* norms have this property. If *f* is convex linear on QC states, then monotonicity obviously implies

$$f(\rho) \ge \sum_{i} p_{i} f(\sigma_{i} \otimes |i\rangle \langle i|).$$
(60)

Equation (60) says that the function is nonincreasing on average under any "flagged-outcome" quantum measurement. In many QRTs appending or discarding classical flags is a free operation; i.e., $\rho \leftrightarrow \rho \otimes |i\rangle \langle i|^X$ is allowed for any orthonormal set of vectors $\{|i\rangle\}_i$. For such QRTs, all monotones must satisfy $f(\rho_i) = f(\rho_i \otimes |i\rangle \langle i|)$. Then from Eq. (60) it follows that

$$f(\rho) \ge \sum_{i} p_{i} f(\sigma_{i}), \tag{61}$$

where $\rho \mapsto \sum_i \Phi_i(\rho) \otimes |i\rangle \langle i|$ is any free QC measurement map, $\sigma_i = \Phi_i(\rho)/p_i$, and $p_i = \text{Tr}[\Phi_i(\rho)]$. This property is sometimes referred to as strong monotonicity (Vidal, 2000). An intuitive justification for requiring strong monotonicity is to prevent f from increasing on average when the experimenter can postselect or flag the multiple outcomes of a quantum measurement. However, Eq. (61) does not precisely reflect this justification since the full description of a postmeasurement quantum system with measurement outcome i is the QC state $\sigma_i \otimes |i\rangle \langle i|^X$. When including the measurement outcome, the statement of f being nonincreasing on average is Eq. (60), which always holds when f satisfies Eq. (58) and demonstrates convex linearity on QC states.

Every non-negative monotone satisfying Eq. (61) can be used to derive an upper bound on the stochastic convertibility of transforming one state ρ into another σ using the free operations. For any stochastic transformation on ρ generating outcomes ρ_x , Eq. (61) immediately implies that $f(\rho)/f(\rho_x) \ge p_x$. Hence one obtains

$$P_{\rho}^{\max}(\sigma) \le \frac{f(\rho)}{f(\sigma)},\tag{62}$$

with $P_{\rho}^{\max}(\sigma)$ defined in Eq. (48). In fact, $P_{\rho}^{\max}(\sigma)$ is itself a resource monotone (Vidal, 2000).

3. Convexity

Convexity of a resource measure says that

$$f\left(\sum_{i} p_{i}\rho_{i}\right) \leq \sum_{i} p_{i}f(\rho_{i}) \tag{63}$$

for any collection of density matrices ρ_i and associated probability distribution p_i . This is a desirable property to have from a mathematical perspective when it comes to computing the value of some function for a given state (Girard, Gour, and Friedland, 2014; Regula, 2018). A physical interpretation often associated with convex measures is that mixing states never increases the amount of resource. However, since mixing in this sense describes a process of discarding information, care is needed when relating convexity to the physical process of mixing states (see Sec. III.D.1).

4. Subadditivity

A function $f: \cup_{\mathcal{H}} S(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathbb{R}$ is called subadditive if

$$f(\rho \otimes \sigma) \le f(\rho) + f(\sigma) \tag{64}$$

for all ρ , σ . While subadditvity is a natural property to suppose of a resource measure, Eq. (64) will not hold for all measures in a general QRT. In particular, for any QRT admitting superactivion, such as nonlocality (Palazuelos, 2012) and quantum channel capacities (Smith and Yard, 2008; Cubitt, Chen, and Harrow, 2011), all faithful resource measures will not be subadditive.

The function f is called additive when equality holds in Eq. (64) for all states. This is a strong property that most resource measures will not possess. However, a procedure known as regularization allows for the general construction of functions that are additive on multiple copies of the same state. For a function $f: \cup_{\mathcal{H}} S(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathbb{R}$, its regularized version is defined by

$$f^{\infty}(\rho) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} f(\rho^{\otimes n}), \tag{65}$$

provided the limit exists. One sufficient condition for the existence of this limit is a weaker form of subadditivity given by $f(\rho^{\otimes (m+n)}) \leq f(\rho^{\otimes m}) + f(\rho^{\otimes n})$ for all ρ and m, n (Donald, Horodecki, and Rudolph, 2002). By definition, $f^{\infty}(\rho^{\otimes n}) = nf^{\infty}(\rho)$, and furthermore, if f is a resource monotone then so will be f^{∞} .

5. Asymptotic continuity

Continuity of measure is a reasonable property to expect for any resource measure having physical meaning. If one state can be obtained from another through subtle perturbation, then one would naturally anticipate their resource content to be very similar. Of course, the range of a resource measure should grow as the system dimension increases, and thus relative to the dimension, two states can have similar resource content while their absolute difference in resource measure is proportional to the dimension. Asymptotic continuity is a notion of continuity that considers convergence relative to the dimension. More precisely, a function f is said to be asymptotically continuous if $|f(\rho) - f(\sigma)| \le K\epsilon \log[\dim(\mathcal{H})] + c(\epsilon) \tag{66}$

for all states ρ and σ having support on \mathcal{H} , where *K* is some constant, $\epsilon = (1/2) \|\rho - \sigma\|_1$, and $c(\epsilon)$ is any function converging to zero as $\epsilon \to 0$ (Synak-Radtke and Horodecki, 2006). For example, the von Neumann entropy *S* is an asymptotic continuous function, as revealed by the Fannes-Audenaert inequality

$$|S(\rho) - S(\sigma)| \le \epsilon \log[\dim(\mathcal{H}) - 1] + h(\epsilon),$$

where $h(x) = -x \log x - (1 - x) \log(1 - x)$ (Fannes, 1973; Audenaert, 2007). Asymptotic continuity plays a crucial role in the analysis of asymptotic state convertibility. As we discuss in Sec. VII.C, the regularized version of all asymptotically continuous measures coincides on states in the same reversibility class.

The regularization of an asymptotically continuous monotone can be used to bound the rate of any asymptotic transformation. Suppose that f is an asymptotically continuous monotone with regularization f^{∞} , and consider the asymptotic convertibility of ρ into σ . If R is an achievable rate, then for any $\delta > 0$, there exists some n such that $\rho^{\otimes n} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{O}} \sigma_n$ with $F(\sigma_n, \sigma^{\otimes \lfloor nR \rfloor}) > 1 - \delta$. In terms of the trace distance, this means

 $\frac{1}{2} \|\sigma_n - \sigma^{\otimes \lfloor nR \rfloor}\| < \sqrt{2\delta}.$

Then

$$f(\rho^{\otimes n}) \ge f(\sigma_n)$$

$$\ge f(\sigma^{\otimes \lfloor nR \rfloor}) - K' \sqrt{\delta} n R \log d - c(\delta), \quad (67)$$

where the first inequality follows from monotonicity and the second from asymptotic continuity, with *d* being the dimension of supp(σ). To obtain the regularizations, we divide both sides by *n* and take the limit. Noting that

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\frac{1}{n}f(\sigma^{\otimes \lfloor nR \rfloor}) \geq \lim_{\lfloor nR \rfloor\to\infty}\frac{R}{\lfloor nR \rfloor}f(\sigma^{\otimes \lfloor nR \rfloor}),$$

we have $f^{\infty}(\rho) \ge Rf^{\infty}(\sigma) - O(\sqrt{\delta})$. Since this holds for all $\delta > 0$ and any achievable rate *R*, the optimal asymptotic rate of conversion is bounded as (Horodecki, Oppenheim, and Horodecki, 2002)

$$R(\rho \to \sigma) \le \frac{f^{\infty}(\rho)}{f^{\infty}(\sigma)}.$$
(68)

This can be seen as the asymptotic version of Eq. (62).

B. General distance-based constructions

We now describe a general recipe for constructing measures in a general QRT. The idea is to quantify the amount of resource in a quantum state by "how far" it is from the set of free states. There are many well-defined measures that satisfy the mathematical requirements of distance between two positive operators in Hilbert space. However, from a physical perspective, the property of monotonicity offers a more useful foundation for quantifying distance than standard metric space approaches. A function $d: S(\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}) \to \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ is said to be *contractive* under CTPP maps Φ if $d(\rho, \sigma) \geq d(\Phi(\rho), \Phi(\sigma))$ for arbitrary ρ and σ . If d is such a function, then one can define for any QRT the resource measure

$$\mathcal{R}_d(\rho) = \inf_{\sigma \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})} d(\rho, \sigma).$$
(69)

This is easily shown to be a resource monotone by the following argument. Let $\rho \in \mathcal{S}(A)$ be a density matrix, and $\Phi \in \mathcal{O}(A \to B)$ a free operation. Then,

$$\mathcal{R}_{d}(\Phi(\rho)) = \inf_{\tau \in \mathcal{F}(B)} d(\Phi(\rho), \tau)$$

$$\leq \inf_{\sigma \in \mathcal{F}(A)} d(\Phi(\rho), \Phi(\sigma))$$

$$\leq \inf_{\sigma \in \mathcal{F}(A)} d(\rho, \sigma) = \mathcal{R}_{d}(\rho).$$
(70)

Under this construction strong monotonicity is not guaranteed to be satisfied, but for the measures considered later this will indeed be the case. In general, \mathcal{R}_d is subadditive, and it will be a convex measure for all convex QRTs. We describe in the next few sections specific resource measures that are constructed using the approach described here.

C. Entropic measures

The starting point for most entropic measures is some quantum generalization of the relative Rényi entropies from classical information theory (Rényi, 1961). Two well-studied generalizations are the quantum relative Rényi entropies (Petz, 1986), defined by

$$D_{\alpha}(\rho \| \sigma) = \begin{cases} +\infty & \text{if } \alpha \notin (0,1) \land \operatorname{supp}(\rho) \not\subset \operatorname{supp}(\sigma), \\ \frac{1}{\alpha - 1} \log(\operatorname{Tr} \rho^{\alpha} \sigma^{1 - \alpha}) & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(71)

for all $\alpha \in [0, +\infty) \setminus \{1\}$, and the quantum Rényi divergences (Müller-Lennert *et al.*, 2013) or sandwiched Rényi entropies (Wilde, Winter, and Yang, 2014), defined by

$$\tilde{D}_{\alpha}(\rho \| \sigma) = \begin{cases} +\infty & \text{if } \alpha \notin (0,1) \land \operatorname{supp}(\rho) \not\subset \operatorname{supp}(\sigma), \\ \frac{1}{\alpha - 1} \log\{ \operatorname{Tr}[(\sigma^{(1-\alpha)/2\alpha} \rho \sigma^{(1-\alpha)/2\alpha})^{\alpha}] \} & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases}$$
(72)

for all $\alpha \in (0, +\infty) \setminus \{1\}$. Both families of entropies have found applications in quantum information theory, particularly in quantum hypothesis testing (Mosonyi and Hiai, 2011; Mosonyi and Ogawa, 2015; Hayashi and Tomamichel, 2016), and various strong converse proofs (König and Wehner, 2009; Wilde, Winter, and Yang, 2014; Cooney, Mosonyi, and Wilde, 2016; Leditzky, Wilde, and Datta, 2016). Of special interest are certain limiting cases of $D_{\alpha}(\rho \| \sigma)$ and $D_{\alpha}(\rho \| \sigma)$. For states ρ , σ with supp $(\rho) \subset$ $supp(\sigma)$, we have

$$D_0(\rho \| \sigma) = -\log \operatorname{Tr}(\Pi_\rho \sigma), \tag{73}$$

$$\lim_{\alpha \to 1} D_{\alpha}(\rho \| \sigma) \to S(\rho \| \sigma) \coloneqq -\operatorname{Tr}[\rho(\log \sigma - \log \rho)], \quad (74)$$

where Π_{ρ} is the projector onto supp (ρ) and $S(\rho \| \sigma)$ is the quantum relative entropy (Vedral, 2002). Similarly, we have

$$\lim_{\alpha \to 1} \tilde{D}_{\alpha}(\rho \| \sigma) \to S(\rho \| \sigma), \tag{75}$$

$$\lim_{\alpha \to \infty} \tilde{D}_{\alpha}(\rho \| \sigma) \to D_{\max}(\rho \| \sigma) \coloneqq \inf\{\lambda | \rho \le 2^{\lambda} \sigma\}, \quad (76)$$

where $D_{\max}(\rho \| \sigma)$ is called the max-relative entropy (Datta, 2009b). Henceforth we use the definitions $D_1(\rho \| \sigma) =$ $\tilde{D}_1(\rho \| \sigma) \coloneqq S(\rho \| \sigma) \text{ and } \tilde{D}_{\infty}(\rho \| \sigma) \coloneqq D_{\max}(\rho \| \sigma).$

The relative Rényi entropy serves as a building block for a number of other useful entropic quantities. For example, if ρ is a state whose support is contained in a d-dimensional subspace \mathcal{H} , then the Rényi entropy of the eigenvalues of ρ can be obtained by taking $\sigma = \mathbb{I}_{\mathcal{H}}$:

$$S_{\alpha}(\rho) \coloneqq -D_{\alpha}(\rho \| \mathbb{I}_{\mathcal{H}}) = \frac{-1}{\alpha - 1} \log(\mathrm{Tr}\rho^{\alpha}).$$
(77)

As described in Sec. VII.A.2, the quantities $S_{\alpha}(\rho)$ determine catalytic convertibility of states in many resource theories. For special choices of α we have

$$H_{\min}(\rho) = -D_{\max}(\rho \| \mathbb{I}_{\mathcal{H}}) = -\log \| \rho \|_{\infty},$$

$$S(\rho) = -D_{1}(\rho \| \mathbb{I}_{\mathcal{H}}) + \log d = -\mathrm{Tr}[\rho \log(\rho)],$$

$$H_{\max}(\rho) = -D_{0}(\rho \| \mathbb{I}_{\mathcal{H}}) = \log \mathrm{rank}[\rho],$$
(78)

where $\|\rho\|_{\infty}$ is the largest eigenvalue of ρ .

For operational purposes, one crucial property of the Rényi relative entropies is that they are contractive under CPTP maps for certain ranges of α , i.e., $D_{\alpha}(\rho \| \sigma) \geq D_{\alpha}(\Phi(\rho) \| \Phi(\sigma))$ for any CPTP map Φ and all states ρ and σ . This is also sometimes referred to as a data-processing inequality. For the range $\alpha \in [0, 2]$, the quantum relative Rényi entropy is monotonic under CPTP maps (Petz, 1986), similarly the quantum Rényi divergence behaves monotonically for $\alpha \in [1/2, \infty]$ (Beigi, 2013; Frank and Lieb, 2013; Wilde, 2018). It also holds that $D_{\alpha}(\rho \| \sigma) = 0$ if and only if $\rho = \sigma$, and likewise for the equality $\tilde{D}_{\alpha}(\rho \| \sigma) = 0.$

Given these properties, one then obtains a whole family of resource measures for any QRT (\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{O}). These are functions \mathcal{R}_{α} and $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{\alpha}$ whose values on any $\rho \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H})$ are given by

$$\mathcal{R}_{\alpha}(\rho) \coloneqq \inf_{\sigma \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})} D_{\alpha}(\rho \| \sigma) \quad \text{for } \alpha \in [0, 2],$$
(79)

$$\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{\alpha}(\rho) \coloneqq \inf_{\sigma \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})} \tilde{D}_{\alpha}(\rho \| \sigma) \quad \text{for } \alpha \in [1/2, \infty].$$
(80)

In particular, we define

$$\mathcal{R}_{\max}(\rho) \coloneqq \tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{\infty}(\rho) = \inf_{\sigma \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})} \{ \lambda | \rho \le 2^{\lambda} \sigma \}.$$
(81)

Note that whenever the set of free states $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})$ is closed, each infimum is attained by some free state σ . These are true resource measures since $\mathcal{R}_{\alpha}(\rho) = 0$ and $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{\alpha}(\rho) = 0$ if and only if $\rho \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})$. Monotonicity under any free CPTP map Φ follows from the data-processing inequality and the discussion of Sec. VI.B. Furthermore, \mathcal{R}_{α} and $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{\alpha}$ demonstrate strong monotonicity for $\alpha \in [1, 2]$. To see this, consider any free transformation $\rho \to \Phi(\rho) = \sum_i p_i \rho_i \otimes |i\rangle \langle i|$ and suppose for simplicity that $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})$ is closed. Then there exists some $\sum_i q_i \sigma_i \otimes |i\rangle \langle i| \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}^X)$ attaining the minimum in the definition of $\mathcal{R}_{\alpha}(\Phi(\rho))$. Monotonicity or \mathcal{R}_{α} then implies

$$\mathcal{R}_{\alpha}(\rho) \geq D_{\alpha} \left(\sum_{i} p_{i} \rho_{i} \otimes |i\rangle \langle i| || \sum_{i} q_{i} \sigma_{i} \otimes |i\rangle \langle i| \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{\alpha - 1} \log \left(\sum_{i} p_{i}^{\alpha} q_{i}^{1 - \alpha} \operatorname{Tr}[\rho_{i}^{\alpha} \sigma_{i}^{1 - \alpha}] \right)$$

$$\geq \frac{1}{\alpha - 1} \sum_{i} p_{i} \log \left\{ (q_{i}/p_{i})^{1 - \alpha} \operatorname{Tr}[\rho_{i}^{\alpha} \sigma_{i}^{1 - \alpha}] \right\}$$

$$\geq \sum_{i} p_{i} \mathcal{R}_{\alpha}(\rho_{i}), \qquad (82)$$

where the concavity of the logarithm function has been used for $\alpha > 1$, and the last inequality follows from the fact that $-\sum_i p_i \log(q_i/p_i)$ is non-negative as it is the relative entropy of the distributions $(p_i)_i$ and $(q_i)_i$. An analogous argument holds for \tilde{R}_{α} . It is also easy to see that these measures are subadditive and subextensive in general, and they are convex for all convex QRTs.

For example, in the QRT of thermodynamics the Gibbs state γ_H is the unique free state for a given Hamiltonian and bath temperature. The quantities $\mathcal{R}_{\alpha}(\rho) = D_{\alpha}(\rho || \gamma_H)$ and $\mathcal{R}_{\alpha}(\rho) = \tilde{D}_{\alpha}(\rho || \gamma_H)$ are then resource measures, and their monotonicity represents an α family of second laws of thermodynamics (Brandão, Horodecki *et al.*, 2015).

The most important entropic measure emerges when $\alpha = 1$, and it is called the relative entropy of resource, denoted as

$$\mathcal{R}_{\text{rel}}(\rho) = \inf_{\sigma \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})} S(\rho \| \sigma)$$
(83)

for $\rho \in S(\mathcal{H})$. It can be shown that \mathcal{R}_{rel} is asymptotically continuous in any convex QRT for which the maximally mixed state is free (Donald and Horodecki, 1999; Synak-Radtke and Horodecki, 2006) [see also (Winter (2016)]. As

mentioned, the regularization of \mathcal{R}_{rel} is the key quantifier in most asymptotic resource tasks such as the asymptotic convertibility and erasing resources (see also Sec. VII.C).

One can also consider a relative entropy-type measure by switching the roles of ρ and σ (Vedral and Plenio, 1998; Eisert, Audenaert, and Plenio, 2003). That is, the function

$$\mathcal{R}'_{\rm rel}(\rho) = \inf_{\sigma \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})} S(\sigma \| \rho) \tag{84}$$

provides a resource measure that vanishes on free states and behaves monotonically under free operations. In addition, \mathcal{R}'_{rel} has the relatively rare feature of being an additive function in QRTs admitting a tensor-product structure. This follows from the equality

$$S(\sigma^{AB} \| \rho^A \otimes \rho^B) = -\text{Tr}[\sigma^{AB} \log(\rho_1 \otimes \rho_2)] - S(\sigma^{AB})$$
$$= S(\sigma^A \| \rho^A) + S(\sigma^B \| \rho^B) + I(A:B)_{\sigma}.$$

This is minimized by taking $\sigma^{AB} = \sigma^A \otimes \sigma^B$. In QRTs with a tensor-product structure, $\sigma^A \otimes \sigma^B$ is free whenever σ^{AB} is free. Hence, additivity holds: $\mathcal{R}'_{rel}(\rho^A \otimes \rho^B) = \mathcal{R}'_{rel}(\rho^A) + \mathcal{R}'_{rel}(\rho^B)$. Unfortunately, despite having these nice properties, \mathcal{R}'_{rel} is usually not convenient to use as a resource measure. If, for example, the set of free states contains full rank states, then $\mathcal{R}'_{rel}(\rho)$ will diverge for all states ρ not of full rank.

D. Geometric measures

The relative entropies are not proper metrics in the mathematical sense since they, for example, fail to satisfy the triangle inequality. One resource measure derived from a true metric is the trace distance of resource, defined as

$$\mathcal{R}_{\mathrm{Tr}}(\rho) = \inf_{\sigma \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})} D_{\mathrm{Tr}}(\rho, \sigma) = \inf_{\sigma \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})} \frac{1}{2} \|\rho - \sigma\|_{1}$$
(85)

for any $\rho \in S(\mathcal{H})$. Since $\|\cdot\|_1$ is contractive under CPTP maps, it automatically holds that $\mathcal{R}_{Tr}(\rho) \geq \mathcal{R}_{Tr}(\Phi(\rho))$ for any free channel Φ .

The trace distance of resource has an appealing operational meaning in terms of state distinguishability. Namely, for a system prepared in one of two states ρ_0 and ρ_1 with respective probabilities p_0 and p_1 , the minimum error in guessing the correctly prepared state after measuring the system is given by $1/2 - (1/2) || p_0 \rho_0 - p_1 \rho_1 ||_1$ (Helstrom, 1969; Holevo, 1973). When guessing between the equiprobable state preparation of ρ or some free state in the QRT, the quantity $1/2 - (1/2)\mathcal{R}_{Tr}(\rho)$ represents the minimum-error probability over all the free states, provided the QRT is convex (Gutoski and Watrous, 2005).

Another example of a metric used in quantum information theory is the Bures metric $D_B(\rho, \sigma) = \sqrt{2}\sqrt{1 - F(\rho, \sigma)}$. Using it, the Bures distance of resource measure can be defined as

$$\mathcal{R}_B(\rho) = \inf_{\sigma \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})} D_B(\rho, \sigma).$$
(86)

Both \mathcal{R}_{Tr} and \mathcal{R}_B are called geometric measures because they are built from a true metric. Historically, however, the first type of geometric measure studied was for pure states in entanglement theory, and it involves minimizing $F(\rho, \sigma)^2$ directly (Shimony, 1995; Barnum and Linden, 2001). This is typically referred to as the geometric measure of entanglement, and we generalize it to a measure on pure states in an arbitrary QRT as

$$\mathcal{R}_G(|\psi\rangle) = \inf_{\sigma \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})} [1 - F(|\psi\rangle\langle\psi|, \sigma)^2] = \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{R}_B(|\psi\rangle)^4.$$
(87)

If $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})$ is a convex set whose extreme points are pure states, then this infimum is always attained by a pure state. Entanglement theory is one such QRT where this is the case, and thus in entanglement theory $\mathcal{R}_G(|\psi\rangle)$ is essentially given by the largest overlap that $|\psi\rangle$ has with a product state. Such a quantity has wide applications in quantum information theory, such as quantifying performance in LOCC state discrimination (Markham, Miyake, and Virmani, 2007) and quantum algorithms (Biham, Nielsen, and Osborne, 2002; Gross, Flammia, and Eisert, 2009).

There are two ways to extend \mathcal{R}_G defined in Eq. (87) to be a resource measure for mixed states as well (Chen, Aulbach, and Hajdušek, 2014). The first and most obvious does not change the functional form at all, and one simply defines

$$\mathcal{R}_G(\rho) = \inf_{\sigma \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})} [1 - F(\rho, \sigma)^2]$$
(88)

for $\rho \in S(\mathcal{H})$. As an interesting observation, the $\alpha = 1/2$ case of $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{\alpha}(\rho)$ in Eq. (80) reduces to a quantity quite similar to $\mathcal{R}_{G}(\rho)$. One sees from Eq. (72) that

$$\tilde{D}_{1/2}(\rho \| \sigma) = -2\log \operatorname{Tr} \sqrt{\sqrt{\sigma}\rho\sqrt{\sigma}} = -\log F(\rho, \sigma)^2.$$
(89)

Minimizing both sides over all free states σ yields

$$\mathcal{R}_G(\rho) = 1 - 2^{-\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{1/2}(\rho)}.$$
(90)

Monotonicity of $\tilde{R}_{1/2}$ then implies $F(\Phi(\rho), \Phi(\sigma)) \ge F(\rho, \sigma)$ for any CPTP map Φ .

The second approach to obtaining a mixed-state measure from Eq. (87) uses a standard technique in entanglement theory known as convex-roof extension (Wei and Goldbart, 2003; Uhlmann, 2010). For any arbitrary mixed state, its extended geometric measure is defined by

$$\mathcal{R}'_{G}(\rho) = \inf_{\{|\phi_{i}\rangle, p_{i}\}} \sum_{i} p_{i} \mathcal{R}_{G}(|\phi_{i}\rangle), \tag{91}$$

where the infimum is taken over all pure-state ensembles such that $\rho = \sum_i p_i |\psi_i\rangle \langle \psi_i |$. Remarkably, if the QRT has the property that its free states are the convex hull of some set of pure states, then the two proposed geometric measures of resource coincide (Streltsov, Kampermann, and Bru, 2010); i.e.,

$$\mathcal{R}_G(\rho) = \mathcal{R}'_G(\rho). \tag{92}$$

A consequence of this equality is that $\mathcal{R}_G(\rho)$ necessarily satisfies strong monotonicity since \mathcal{R}'_G is built from a purestate function \mathcal{R}_G that satisfies strong monotonicity under pure-state transformations (Vidal, 2000).

Even though \mathcal{R}_G has a relatively convenient mathematical form, it lacks an operational interpretation such as the minimum-error guessing probability associated with \mathcal{R}_{Tr} . However, \mathcal{R}_G is still useful in deriving bounds for the latter since from Eq. (1) we immediately have

$$1 - \sqrt{1 - \mathcal{R}_G(\rho)} \le \mathcal{R}_{\mathrm{Tr}}(\rho) \le \sqrt{\mathcal{R}_G(\rho)}.$$
 (93)

E. Witness-based measures

The next family of measures we consider relies on the idea of resource *witnessing*. In a general QRT, a witness for the particular resource is a quantum observable $W \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ such that

$$\exists \sigma \notin \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H}) \colon \operatorname{Tr}[W\sigma] < 0, \qquad \forall \ \rho \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H}) \colon \operatorname{Tr}[W\rho] \ge 0.$$
(94)

If *W* satisfies these two conditions, then it is said to witness the resource content of σ . For convex closed QRTs, the separating hyperplane theorem assures that every resource state possesses at least one observable that witnesses it (Barvinok, 2002). Consequently, in such QRTs witnesses themselves can be used to fully characterize the free states.

The theory of witnesses is appealing from an experimental perspective. If multiple copies of a quantum system are prepared in the same unknown state, the presence of a quantum resource can be detected whenever a resource witness yields a negative average measurement value. In entanglement theory, the study of entanglement witnesses is a mature research area (Chruciski and Sarbicki, 2014), with a number of experimental applications already developed (Gühne and Tóth, 2009). In the QRT of Bell nonlocality, the so-called Bell operators serve as resource witnesses, and the experimental implementation of these witnesses in a "loophole" free manner has been a long quest that only recently was completed (Giustina *et al.*, 2015; Hensen *et al.*, 2015).

Beyond distinguishing resource states from free ones, witnesses can also be used for the construction of resource measures. This approach was originally taken by Brandão (2005) in the context of entanglement, but it was recently expanded by Regula (2018) to encompass general convex resource theories. While we encourage the reader to consult the latter for a detailed mathematical development of the subject, here we just review the basic framework and describe the more well-known applications.

For a collection of Hermitian operators $C(\mathcal{H}) \subset \text{Herm}(\mathcal{H})$, we let $C^*(\mathcal{H}) \subset \text{Herm}(\mathcal{H})$ denote its dual cone, i.e.,

$$\mathcal{C}^*(\mathcal{H}) \coloneqq \{X \colon \operatorname{Tr}[XY] \ge 0, \quad \forall \ Y \in \mathcal{C}(\mathcal{H})\}.$$

For a given QRT $(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{O})$ and any Hilbert space \mathcal{H} , let $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{H})$ be a collection of Hermitian operators that is closed under the

adjoint of every free CPTP map; more precisely, for spaces \mathcal{H} and \mathcal{H}' it holds that $\Phi^*(X) \in \mathcal{C}(\mathcal{H})$ whenever $X \in \mathcal{C}(\mathcal{H}')$ and $\Phi \in \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}')$. Then for $\rho \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H})$ we define the function

$$\mathcal{R}_{W}^{\mathcal{C}}(\rho) = \sup\{-\mathrm{Tr}[X\rho] \colon X \in \mathcal{F}^{*}(\mathcal{H}) \cap \mathcal{C}(\mathcal{H})\}.$$
(95)

By definition, $\mathcal{R}_{W}^{\mathcal{C}}(\rho) = 0$ for all $\rho \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})$, and monotonicity is easy to verify. First note that $\mathcal{F}^{*}(\mathcal{H})$ itself is closed under the adjoint of every free map, which follows from the observation that if $0 \leq \operatorname{Tr}[X\rho]$ for all free states ρ , then under any RNG map Φ , we likewise have $0 \leq \operatorname{Tr}[X\Phi(\rho)] =$ $\operatorname{Tr}[\Phi^{*}(X)\rho]$. Monotonicity of $\mathcal{R}_{W}^{\mathcal{C}}$ is then a consequence of the inequality

$$-\mathrm{Tr}[X\Phi(\rho)] = -\mathrm{Tr}[\Phi^*(X)\rho] \le \mathcal{R}^{\mathcal{C}}_W(\rho),$$

since $\Phi^*(X) \in \mathcal{F}^*(\mathcal{H}) \cap \mathcal{C}(\mathcal{H})$. In any QRT with tensorproduct structure, one can see that $\mathcal{F}^*(\mathcal{H})$ is also closed under processing of classical flags; i.e., $\sum_i X_i \otimes |i\rangle \langle i|^X \in$ $\mathcal{F}^*(\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}^X)$ if and only if $X_i \in \mathcal{F}^*(\mathcal{H})$ for all *i*. If the set $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{H})$ also has this property, then the constructed resource measure $\mathcal{R}^{\mathcal{C}}_W(\rho)$ is convex linear on QC states. Consequently, the monotonicty

$$\mathcal{R}_{W}^{C}(\rho) \ge \sum_{i} p_{i} \mathcal{R}_{W}^{C}(\rho_{i})$$
(96)

holds for any free transformation $\rho \to \sum_i p_i \rho_i \otimes |i\rangle \langle i|$.

As an example, for any real numbers m < n, the set $C = \{X: -m\mathbb{I} \le X \le n\mathbb{I}\}$ is closed under the adjoint of every CPTP map (Brandão, 2005). Indeed, if $n\mathbb{I} \ge X$, then $0 \le \Phi^*(n\mathbb{I} - X) = n\mathbb{I} - \Phi^*(X)$, where the inequality follows from Φ being CP and the equality follows from Φ being trace preserving, which implies Φ^* is unital. A similar argument holds for the operator $X + m\mathbb{I}$, and therefore we see that \mathcal{R}_W^C is a resource measure for any choice of m and n (Regula *et al.*, 2018).

In many cases of interest, the chosen set C is a cone in the space of Hermitian matrices. That is, C is such that $\sum_i c_i X_i \in C$ whenever $X_i \in C$ and $c_i \ge 0$. From its definition, \mathcal{F}^* is also a cone, and thus the value $\mathcal{R}_W^C(\rho)$ represents a conic optimization problem (Boyd and Vandenberghe, 2004). Every conic optimization problem has a dual representation obtained by the introduction of Lagrange multipliers. If C is convex with $\mathcal{F}^* \cap C$ having a nonempty interior, then strong duality holds, and we are assured that the dual-optimal solution is equal to $\mathcal{R}_W^C(\rho)$. In what follows, we consider three resource measures built using the dual formulation of \mathcal{R}_W^C under different choices of C.

1. Trace distance measures

Building from the example in the previous section, consider the specific choice of m = n = 1 so that $C = \{X: -\mathbb{I} \le X \le \mathbb{I}\}$. The dual optimization problem of Eq. (95) is given by

$$\inf_{\substack{R,S\geq 0\\\omega\in\mathcal{F}_+(\mathcal{H})}} \{ \operatorname{Tr}[R+S] \colon \rho - \omega = R - S \}$$

where $\mathcal{F}_+(\mathcal{H}) = \mathcal{F}^{**}(\mathcal{H}) \coloneqq \{\lambda \sigma \colon \sigma \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H}), \lambda \ge 0\}$. It is well known that this minimization problem is equivalent to minimizing the trace distance between ρ and the set $\mathcal{F}_+(\mathcal{H})$. Since strong duality holds for all nontrivial QRTs in this case, we therefore have

$$\mathcal{R}^+_{\mathrm{Tr}}(\rho) \coloneqq \inf_{\omega \in \mathcal{F}_+(\mathcal{H})} \|\rho - \omega\|_1.$$
(97)

We refer to this as the modified trace distance of resource, as it has been given such a name in the study of quantum coherence (Yu *et al.*, 2016).

One advantage of considering the modified trace distance of resource rather than the standard \mathcal{R}_{Tr} of Eq. (85) is that the former satisfies strong monotonicity while the latter does not. To see where the distinction arises, consider a multi-outcome free operation $\Phi(\cdot) = \sum_i \Phi_i(\cdot) \otimes |i\rangle \langle i|^X$. For an input state $\rho \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^S)$, its postmeasurement trace distance of resource is given by

$$\mathcal{R}_{\mathrm{Tr}}(\Phi(\rho)) = \inf_{\omega \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}^X)} \left\| \sum_i \mathcal{E}_i(\rho) \otimes |i\rangle \langle i|^X - \omega^{SX} \right\|_1$$

where ω^{SX} is a QC state of the form $\omega^{SX} = \sum_i q_i \omega_i \otimes |i\rangle \langle i|^X$ for quantum states ω_i . Then writing $\rho_i = \mathcal{E}_i(\rho)/p_i$ and $p_i = \text{Tr}[\mathcal{E}_i(\rho)]$, we have

$$\mathcal{R}_{\mathrm{Tr}}(\Phi(\rho)) = \sum_{i} p_{i} \inf_{\substack{q_{i}\omega_{i}\in\mathcal{F}_{+}(\mathcal{H})\\\sum_{i}q_{i}=1}} \left\| \rho_{i} - \frac{q_{i}}{p_{i}}\omega_{i} \right\|_{1}.$$
 (98)

In general the terms in the sum on the rhs will differ from $\mathcal{R}_{\text{Tr}}(\rho_i)$. On the other hand, if the normalization condition $\sum_i q_i = 1$ is removed from the infimum in Eq. (98), then the rhs becomes $\sum_i p_i \mathcal{R}_{\text{Tr}}^+(\rho_i)$. Hence, we can conclude that the modified trace distance demonstrates convex linearity on QC states and therefore also strong monotonicity,

$$\mathcal{R}_{\mathrm{Tr}}^{+}(\rho) \ge \sum_{i} p_{i} \mathcal{R}_{\mathrm{Tr}}^{+}(\rho_{i}).$$
(99)

While strong monotonicity of \mathcal{R}_{Tr} is known to hold in coherence and entanglement theories for special cases (Eisert, Audenaert, and Plenio, 2003; Rana, Parashar, and Lewenstein, 2016), explicit counterexamples can be found (Yu *et al.*, 2016).

2. Robustness measures

One appealing way to quantify the resource content of a quantum state is by its resilience to hold resource when mixed with some other state. Let $\mathcal{T}(\mathcal{H})$ be any set of quantum states, and for a given state ρ consider mixtures of the form $\omega = \lambda \rho + (1 - \lambda)\sigma$ with $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}(\mathcal{H})$. If $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H}) \cap \mathcal{T}(\mathcal{H}) \neq \emptyset$, there always exists a λ such that ω is a free state for some choice of $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}(\mathcal{H})$. The smallest such λ having this property quantifies a resource robustness of ρ against mixtures from $\mathcal{T}(\mathcal{H})$.

For many interesting choices of $\mathcal{T}(\mathcal{H})$, this notion of robustness can be captured using the framework of resource witnesses. Specifically, suppose that the set

$$\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{H}) = \mathbb{I} - \mathcal{T}^* = \{X \colon \mathbb{I} - X \in \mathcal{T}^*(\mathcal{H})\}$$

is closed under the adjoint action of every free map. The dual of Eq. (95) is readily found to be

$$\inf_{\omega \in \mathcal{F}_+(\mathcal{H})} \{ \operatorname{Tr}[\omega] - 1 \colon \omega - \rho \in \mathcal{T}_+(\mathcal{H}) \},\$$

6

where $\mathcal{T}_+(\mathcal{H})$ is the conic hull of $\mathcal{T}(\mathcal{H})$. If there exists an $\omega \in \mathcal{T}_+(\mathcal{H})$ so that $\rho + \omega$ lies in the interior of $\mathcal{F}_+(\mathcal{H})$, then strong duality holds. In this case, we can rewrite the previous equation in a more standard form, which represents the resource robustness of ρ against \mathcal{T} ,

$$\mathcal{R}_{\text{rob}}^{\mathcal{T}}(\rho) \coloneqq \inf_{\gamma \in \mathcal{T}(\mathcal{H})} \left\{ s \colon \frac{\rho + s\gamma}{1 + s} \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H}) \right\}.$$
(100)

Different robustness measures are obtained for different choices of \mathcal{T} . For example, if $\mathcal{T} = \mathcal{F}$, then one obtains the resource absolute robustness (Vidal and Tarrach, 1999), which quantifies the minimum fraction that a given state ρ must be mixed with a free state so that their convex combination is free. An analogous measure has been studied in the QRT of magic states (Howard and Campbell, 2017). The other extreme involves taking \mathcal{T} to be the set of all density matrices. This is called the resource global robustness (Harrow and Nielsen, 2003), and it is written as

$$\mathcal{R}_{\rm rob}(\rho) = \inf_{\gamma \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H})} \left\{ s \colon \frac{\rho + s\gamma}{1 + s} \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H}) \right\}.$$
(101)

Beyond its study in entanglement theory, the global robustness was recently investigated in the QRTs of coherence and asymmetry (Napoli *et al.*, 2016; Piani *et al.*, 2016). In addition, the global robustness plays an important role in the study of general asymptotic resource reversibility since it is used to define the class of asymptotically RNG transformations (Brandão and Plenio, 2008; Brandão and Gour, 2015) (see Sec. VII.C). A thoughtful comparison between Eqs. (101) and (81) shows that

$$\mathcal{R}_{\max}(\rho) = \log[1 + \mathcal{R}_{\text{rob}}(\rho)]$$
(102)

(Datta, 2009a). The rhs is sometimes referred to as the *log* robustness.

A third type of robustness commonly considered is the resource random robustness of ρ , and it is defined by taking $\mathcal{T}(\mathcal{H}) = \{(1/d)\mathbb{I}\}\)$, where $d = \dim[\mathcal{H}]\)$ (Vidal and Tarrach, 1999). Assuming the maximally mixed state is free, this quantity essentially measures how much "white noise" must be mixed with ρ before it becomes a free state. Alternatively, it can be characterized as the minimal depolarizing parameter λ that removes all resource content from ρ when it is sent through the completely depolarizing channel $\Phi_{\lambda}(\rho) = (1 - \lambda)\rho + \lambda(1/d)\mathbb{I}$. However, unlike the absolute and global robustness measures, the resource random robustness is not a monotone in general (Harrow and Nielsen, 2003).

For the choice of $\mathcal{T}(\mathcal{H})$ taken here, it holds that $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{H}) = \{X: \operatorname{Tr}[X] \leq d\}$. Consequently, it follows that the resource random robustness is a monotone in any QRT for which every free map has an adjoint that is trace nonincreasing on the set of Hermitian operators. For example, the random robustness is a monotone if the free CPTP maps are unital, a fact which also directly follows from the definition of random robustness.

3. Resource-rank measures

We introduce one final family of witness-based measures that extends the general construction previously described. Suppose that $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})$ possesses a collection of rank-one free states $\{|f_i\rangle\langle f_i|\}_i$ such that the vectors $\{|f_i\rangle\}_i$ form a basis for \mathcal{H} . Then one can define the resource rank of an arbitrary pure state $|\phi\rangle$ as

$$\mathcal{R}_{\rm rk}(|\phi\rangle) = \inf\bigg\{r \colon |\phi\rangle = \sum_{i=1}^r c_i |f_i\rangle, \text{ the } |f_i\rangle \text{ are free}\bigg\}.$$
(103)

The rank is then extended to mixed states using the prescription of Eq. (91),

$$\mathcal{R}_{\mathrm{rk}}(\rho) = \inf_{\{|\phi_i\rangle, p_i\}} \sum_i p_i \mathcal{R}_{\mathrm{rk}}(|\phi_i\rangle), \qquad (104)$$

where the infimum is taken over all pure-state decompositions of ρ . The most well-known example of \mathcal{R}_{rk} is in entanglement theory where it is referred to as the Schmidt rank or Schmidt number of a bipartite state (Terhal and Horodecki, 2000). In multipartite entanglement theory, the Schmidt rank generalizes to the so-called tensor rank (Chitambar, Duan, and Shi, 2008), and it can be used certify the presence of genuine multipartite entanglement (Eisert and Briegel, 2001). Outside of entanglement, the coherence rank has been used to quantify and experimentally measure multilevel coherence (Ringbauer *et al.*, 2018). Additionally, in the resource theory of magic states, the stabilizer rank of magic states has been related to their classical simulation costs (Bravyi, Smith, and Smolin, 2016).

If we let $S_k(\mathcal{H})$ denote the set of states on space \mathcal{H} with resource rank no greater than k, then $S_k(\mathcal{H})$ forms a convex set. Thus, there exist observables W which, analogous to Eq. (94), witness a resource rank greater than k (Sanpera, Bruß, and Lewenstein, 2001; Shahandeh, Sperling, and Vogel, 2014; Regula, 2018). That is, $Tr[W\sigma] < 0$ for some $\sigma \notin$ $\mathcal{S}_k(\mathcal{H})$ yet $\operatorname{Tr}[W\rho] \geq 0$ for all $\rho \in \mathcal{S}_k(\mathcal{H})$. Note that these witnesses depend just on the structure of the free states in the resource theory. To promote $\mathcal{R}_{rk}(\rho)$ to a genuine resource measure, it must be shown to be a monotone under the free operations. In the resource theories of entanglement and magic states, the resource rank is a monotone under LOCC and stabilizer operations, respectively. For coherence, the coherence rank has been shown to be a monotone under IO (Baumgratz, Cramer, and Plenio, 2014) but not DIO (Yue and Chitambar, 2018). Operationally, the resource ranks have been shown to quantify one-shot resource costs in entanglement (Buscemi and Datta, 2011) and coherence theories (Zhao, Liu, Yuan, Chitambar, and Ma, 2018).

VII. GENERAL TECHNIQUES, MATHEMATICAL TOOLS, AND RESULTS

A. Majorization theory

We saw earlier that the set of free operations induces a preorder. Specifically, we write $\rho \xrightarrow{\mathcal{O}} \sigma$ if there exists a free operation $\Phi \in \mathcal{O}$ such that $\sigma = \Phi(\rho)$, and in general, determining if $\rho \xrightarrow{\mathcal{O}} \sigma$ can be a difficult task. Moreover, even if the solution is computationally feasible, it is still possible that the preorder $\xrightarrow{\mathcal{O}}$ has no simple elegant characterization. Remarkably, for pure bipartite entanglement the preorder $\xrightarrow{\mathcal{O}}$ has a simple characterization known as majorization.

Majorization theory is a topic in matrix analysis with several textbooks written on the subject; see, e.g., Bhatia (1996) and Marshall, Olkin, and Arnold (2011). It has many applications in different areas of science, from mathematics to economy and statistics, and more recently quantum physics. Nielsen's discovery (Nielsen, 1999) of the role that majorization plays in entanglement theory has been extended to other resource theories using generalizations of majorization. These include thermomajorization (Horodecki and Oppenheim, 2013a), conditional majorization (Gour, Grudka et al., 2018), relative majorization and subrelative majorization (Renes, 2016), matrix majorization (Dahl, 1999), and quantum majorization (Gour et al., 2018). Before introducing the mathematical definitions, we start with a simple example to gain some intuition behind the definition of majorization.

1. Majorization in gambling

Consider the following three gambling games. In each game a player is given the choice between one of two biased dice. The first has probability vector $\mathbf{p} = (1/16, 1/2, 1/8, 1/16, 1/4, 0)^T$ for the distribution of symbols (outcomes) $x \in \{1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6\}$, while the second is described by probability vector $\mathbf{q} = (1/12, 1/3, 1/3, 1/4, 0, 0)^T$. In the first game, the player rolls her die, and she wins if she correctly guesses its outcome. In the second game she can guess two outcomes, and in the third she can guess three outcomes. Which die should the player choose in each of these games to maximize her winning probability?

Clearly, in the first game the answer is the first die since if she bets on outcome 2 she will have a 1/2 chance to win the game, whereas with the second die the highest probability of correctly guessing is 1/3. In the second game, the player should also choose the first die since if she gambles on outcomes 2 and 5 she will have a probability 1/2 + 1/4 =3/4 to win, whereas with the second die the maximum probability that she can win is 1/3 + 1/3 = 2/3 < 3/4. However, for the third game, the second die has a higher probability to win since 1/3 + 1/3 + 1/4 = 11/12, which is greater than 1/2 + 1/4 + 1/8 = 7/8. Therefore, the best die to choose in this scenario depends on the game.

In general, if the player can guess k symbols, she should choose a die with probability vector $\mathbf{p} = (p_1, ..., p_6)^T$ over a die with probability vector $\mathbf{q} = (q_1, ..., q_6)^T$ if and only if the following condition holds:

$$\sum_{x=1}^{k} p_x^{\downarrow} \ge \sum_{x=1}^{k} q_x^{\downarrow}, \tag{105}$$

where the symbol \downarrow stands for the rearrangement of the elements of **p** in a nonincreasing order; i.e., $p_1^{\downarrow} \ge p_2^{\downarrow} \ge \cdots \ge p_6^{\downarrow}$. If Eq. (105) holds for all k = 1, ..., 5 then the player should choose the **p** die over the **q** die to maximize her chances of winning every such game. When Eq. (105) is satisfied for all k, we say that the probability vector **p** majorizes the probability vector **q**, and we write $\mathbf{q} < \mathbf{p}$ or $\mathbf{p} \succ \mathbf{q}$. This definition extends to arbitrary probability distributions $\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q} \in \mathbb{R}^n_{\ge 0}$; that is, $\mathbf{p} \succ \mathbf{q}$ if and only if Eq. (105) holds for all k = 1, ..., n with equality for k = n.

Majorization is a preorder. Moreover, if both $\mathbf{p} < \mathbf{q}$ and $\mathbf{q} < \mathbf{p}$ then \mathbf{p} and \mathbf{q} are related by a permutation matrix. Therefore, up to permutations, the majorization relation \prec can be viewed as a partial order. It is simple to check that any *d*-dimensional probability vector \mathbf{p} satisfies

$$(1/d, ..., 1/d)^T \prec \mathbf{p} \prec (1, 0, ..., 0)^T$$

This relationship lends itself to the interpretation that majorization measures how spread out a probability distribution is over its possible events. This idea is further clarified in what follows.

Consider again the **p** die and suppose that the player can permute (relabel) its symbols before guessing an outcome. Such a relabeling corresponds to a permutation of the probability vector **p**. Denoting this permutation by π , the relabeled die has probability distribution π **p**. Clearly, such relabeling will not change her probability of winning any of the games described above. Additionally, suppose she flips an unbiased coin, and if it lands "heads" she does nothing, while she relabels the die according to the permutation π if it lands "tails." If she forgets the outcome of the coin flipping, the probability of the die from her perspective becomes

$$\mathbf{q} = \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{p} + \frac{1}{2}\pi\mathbf{p}.$$

Since "forgetting" information clearly cannot increase the winning probability, we conclude that any die with corresponding probability \mathbf{q} has a smaller winning probability than a die with corresponding probability \mathbf{p} . This process of relabeling and forgetting is called random relabeling; see, e.g., Friedland, Gheorghiu, and Gour (2013). The relation between \mathbf{p} and \mathbf{q} can be expressed as $\mathbf{q} = D\mathbf{p}$, where $D = (1/2)I + (1/2)\pi$ is a convex combination of the identity matrix and the permutation matrix π . More generally, we conclude that if $\mathbf{q} = D\mathbf{p}$, where D is any convex combination of permutation matrices, then the \mathbf{q} die has a smaller winning probability than the \mathbf{p} die.

Birkhoff's theorem from matrix analysis states that a matrix D can be expressed as a convex combination of permutation matrices if and only if it is a doubly stochastic matrix (i.e., a matrix whose entries are non-negative and each row and column sums to 1). Moreover, a fundamental theorem of majorization states that $\mathbf{q} \prec \mathbf{p}$ if and only if $\mathbf{q} = D\mathbf{p}$ for some doubly stochastic matrix D (Bhatia, 1996).

2. Majorization in entanglement and coherence theories

In entanglement theory, any pure bipartite state is equivalent up to a local unitary operation on a state of the form (known as the Schmidt form)

$$|\psi\rangle^{AB} = \sum_{x=1}^{d} \sqrt{p_x} \, |x\rangle^A |x\rangle^B, \qquad (106)$$

where $p_x \ge 0$ and $\sum_{x=1}^{d} p_x = 1$. Since local unitary operations are reversible, all bipartite states with the Schmidt probability vector $\mathbf{p} = (p_1, ..., p_d)^T$ possess the same entanglement (Vidal, 2000). Nielsen's majorization theorem (Nielsen, 1999) states that a bipartite pure state with a corresponding Schmidt vector \mathbf{p} can be converted by LOCC to another pure bipartite state \mathbf{q} if and only if $\mathbf{p} \prec \mathbf{q}$.

One can use the definition of majorization in Eq. (105) to define *d*-entanglement monotones for the state in Eq. (106):

$$E_k(|\psi\rangle) \coloneqq \sum_{x=k}^d p_x^{\downarrow} k \in \{1, \dots, d\}.$$

With this definition, Nielsen's majorization theorem can be expressed as

$$|\psi\rangle \stackrel{\text{LOCC}}{\to} |\phi\rangle \Leftrightarrow E_k(|\psi\rangle) \ge E_k(|\phi\rangle) \quad \forall \ k.$$

Therefore, the functions E_k , known as Vidal's monotones (Vidal, 2000) (also called Ky-Fan norms), quantify the entanglement of bipartite pure states. They form a complete set in the sense that if $E_k(|\psi\rangle) \ge E_k(|\phi\rangle)$ for all k, then any other entanglement monotone (or measure), E, must satisfy $E(|\psi\rangle) \ge E(|\phi\rangle)$. The Vidal monotones play an important role also in nondeterministic LOCC transformations (Jonathan and Plenio, 1999b), and, in particular, they provide the maximum probability with which it is possible to convert $|\psi\rangle$ to $|\phi\rangle$ by LOCC (Vidal, 1999):

$$P_{\ket{\psi}}^{(\max)}(\ket{\phi}) = \min_{k} rac{E_k(\ket{\psi})}{E_k(\ket{\phi})},$$

where the minimum is over all $k \in \{1, ..., d\}$.

The majorization criterion for entanglement transformation implies the existence of entanglement catalysis. To see this, consider, for example (Jonathan and Plenio, 1999a), the two bipartite entangled states with probability vectors

$$\mathbf{p} = (2/5, 2/5, 1/10, 1/10),^T$$
 $\mathbf{q} = (1/2, 1/4, 1/4, 0)^T.$

Note that $\mathbf{q} \neq \mathbf{p}$ since 2/5 < 1/2 but also $\mathbf{p} \neq \mathbf{q}$ since 2/5 + 2/5 > 1/2 + 1/4. We say in this case that the two probability distributions are incomparable. Consider another entangled state with Schmidt vector $\mathbf{r} = (3/5, 2/5)^T$. It is straightforward to check that

even though $\mathbf{p} \not\prec \mathbf{q}$. That is, the pure bipartite state with Schmidt vector \mathbf{r} acts as a catalyst in a similar way as it happens in chemical reactions.

This example demonstrates that catalyst-assisted LOCC (CLOCC) transformations are more powerful than LOCC alone. Following the notation of Sec. V.C, we write $|\psi\rangle \stackrel{\text{CLOCC}}{\rightarrow} |\phi\rangle$ if there exists a finite-dimensional catalyst state $|\chi\rangle$ such that

$$|\psi\rangle \otimes |\chi\rangle \stackrel{\text{LOCC}}{\to} |\phi\rangle \otimes |\chi\rangle. \tag{107}$$

An important question then follows: given two bipartite states $|\psi\rangle$ and $|\phi\rangle$, under what conditions does there exist a catalyst such that $|\psi^{AB}\rangle \xrightarrow{\text{CLOCC}} |\phi^{AB}\rangle$? Note that if there exists a catalyst $|\chi^{A'B'}\rangle$ such that Eq. (107) holds, then any measure of entanglement that is additive under tensor product satisfies

$$E(\psi \otimes \chi) = E(\psi) + E(\chi) \ge E(\phi \otimes \chi) = E(\phi) + E(\chi).$$

Hence,

$$|\psi\rangle \stackrel{\text{CLOCC}}{\rightarrow} |\phi\rangle \Rightarrow E(\psi) \ge E(\phi)$$

for any additive measure of entanglement E. Remarkably, the converse is also true. In two independent works by Turgut (2007) and Klimesh (2007), it was shown that

$$|\psi^{AB}\rangle \stackrel{\text{CLOCC}}{\to} |\phi^{AB}\rangle \Leftrightarrow E_{\alpha}(\psi) \ge E_{\alpha}(\phi) \quad \forall \ \alpha \in \mathbb{R}, \quad (108)$$

where $E_{\alpha}(\psi)$ is the α -Rényi entropy of entanglement extended for all real α and defined by

$$E_{\alpha}(|\psi\rangle^{AB}) \coloneqq \operatorname{sgn}(\alpha)S_{\alpha}(\rho) = \frac{\operatorname{sgn}(\alpha)}{1-\alpha}\log\operatorname{Tr}[\rho^{\alpha}],$$

where $\rho = \text{Tr}_B |\psi\rangle \langle \psi|^{AB}$ is the reduced density matrix of $|\psi\rangle$.

Nearly all of these majorization results in entanglement theory can be translated into analogous statements in the QRT of quantum coherence. For a pure state $|\psi\rangle = \sum_{i=1} \sqrt{p_i} e^{i\phi_i} |i\rangle$ in a *d*-dimensional system with incoherent basis $\{|i\rangle\}_{i=1}^d$, the probability amplitudes $\mathbf{p} = (p_1, ..., p_d)^T$ play the role of the Schmidt coefficients. Under the classes of SIO and the more general IO, a transformation $|\psi\rangle \rightarrow |\phi\rangle$ is possible if and only if $\mathbf{p} < \mathbf{q}$, where \mathbf{p} and \mathbf{q} are the probability amplitudes of $|\psi\rangle$ and $|\phi\rangle$, respectively (Winter and Yang, 2016; Zhu *et al.*, 2017). The phenomenon of catalytic coherence convertibility is also possible, with the necessary and sufficient conditions being given by Eq. (108) and the replacement

$$E_{\alpha}(\psi) \rightarrow C_{\alpha}(\psi) \coloneqq \operatorname{sgn}(\alpha) \frac{1}{1-\alpha} \log \sum_{i=1}^{d} p_i^{\alpha}$$

(Bu, Singh, and Wu, 2016).

3. Majorization and statistical comparisons

Consider two random variables with probability distributions p and q, respectively. For concreteness imagine, as before, that these distributions represent two biased dice. However, the game is now different. The player is given one of the two die, and her goal is to determine if it is the **p** die or the q die. Clearly if she can roll the die many times, then by the law of large numbers, she can infer its underlying probability distribution and successfully guess which one she was given. However, if she canroll only a finite number of times, there is a chance that she will make an error in her identification guess. Intuitively, the smaller this error, the more distinguishable are **p** and **q**. In fact, one could quantify the distinguishability between \mathbf{p} and \mathbf{q} as the optimal probability that the player correctly guesses which die she holds after a fixed number of rolls. This is the problem of hypothesis testing, and its quantum version is discussed in Sec. VII.C. Other distance measures between **p** and **q** could also be chosen to quantify the distinguishability of the two distributions.

In statistical comparisons, we are interested in adopting a resource-theoretic perspective and measuring distinguishability in an operational way. Specifically, we say that a pair of distributions (\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}) is more distinguishable than another pair of distributions $(\mathbf{p}', \mathbf{q}')$ if there exists a column stochastic matrix M such that

$$\mathbf{p}' = M\mathbf{p}$$
 and $\mathbf{q}' = M\mathbf{q}$

To make the connection with resource theories, interpret (\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}) and $(\mathbf{p}', \mathbf{q}')$ as two states and M as a free operation. The rationale for defining distinguishability in this way is as follows: if Alice is tampering with her die and changing its probability distribution (e.g., replacing the symbols of her dice at random) then this alone cannot improve her ability to distinguish between the original two distributions. More generally, the matrix M represents a classical channel converting, respectively, the input distributions \mathbf{p} and \mathbf{q} to the output distributions \mathbf{p}' and \mathbf{q}' . In this case we write

$$(\mathbf{p}',\mathbf{q}')\prec_r(\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}),\tag{109}$$

and we say the (\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}) relatively majorizes $(\mathbf{p}', \mathbf{q}')$. Note that relative majorization is a generalization of majorization. Indeed, suppose that all vectors involved are of the same dimension and suppose $\mathbf{q} = \mathbf{q}' = \mathbf{e} := (1/d)(1, ..., 1)^T$. In this case we have

$$(\mathbf{p}',\mathbf{q}')\prec_r (\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q})\Leftrightarrow\mathbf{p}'\prec\mathbf{p},$$

since the condition $\mathbf{q}' = M\mathbf{q}$ is equivalent to $\mathbf{e} = M\mathbf{e}$, which implies that the column stochastic matrix M is in fact doubly stochastic.

Originally, the preorder as defined was called **d** majorization in the case where $\mathbf{q} = \mathbf{q}' = \mathbf{d}$ is some fixed vector **d** (Veinott, 1971). Here we follow the terminology of Renes (2016), who identified Eq. (109) as relative majorization since all relative entropy functions, such as all the quantum Rényi divergences, behave monotonically under this preorder. In this sense, relative majorization is the fined-grained version of the relative entropy.

Relative majorization has a very simple characterization in terms of testing regions (Renes, 2016), which can represent Neyman-Pearson hypothesis testing (Cover and Thomas, 2006). The testing region of a pair of d-dimensional probability vectors **p** and **q** (see Fig. 11), is a region on the plane that is defined by

$$\mathcal{T}(\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}) \coloneqq \{ (\mathbf{t} \cdot \mathbf{p}, \mathbf{t} \cdot \mathbf{q}) \in \mathbb{R}^2 | 0 \le \mathbf{t} \le \mathbf{e}; \mathbf{t} \in \mathbb{R}^d \},\$$

where the inequalities $0 \le t \le e$ are entrywise; i.e., the components of t are between 0 and 1. Such a vector t can be viewed as a "test" since t and e - t correspond to a binary-outcome experiment.

Any testing region contains both the origin (0,0) and the point (1,1). Moreover, for any test vector \mathbf{t} , the vector $\mathbf{e} - \mathbf{t}$ is also a test. Hence, if a point (x, y) is in the testing region of the pair (\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}) so is the point (1 - x, 1 - y). This in turn implies that a testing region is completely specified by its upper (or lower) boundary. The upper boundary is known in the literature [see, e.g., Gour, Muller *et al.* (2015)] as the Lorenz curve of the pair (\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}) ; see Fig. 11.

It can be shown that a pair of probability distributions (\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}) relatively majorizes another pair $(\mathbf{p}', \mathbf{q}')$ if and only if the testing region of $(\mathbf{p}', \mathbf{q}')$ is inside the testing region of (\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}) , see Fig. 12. That is,

$$(\mathbf{p}',\mathbf{q}') \prec_r (\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}) \Leftrightarrow \mathcal{T}(\mathbf{p}',\mathbf{q}') \subset \mathcal{T}(\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}).$$

This remarkable result was already proven by Blackwell (1953). However, Blackwell's proof was not direct, and a more direct proof was given later by Ruch, Schranner, and Seligman (1980). A different proof was also found by Dahl (1999), where the testing regions are viewed as zonotopes. Since testing regions are specified by their Lorenz curves, this



FIG. 11. Testing region of a pair (\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}) .



FIG. 12. Inclusion of two testing regions.

result can be expressed as follows: $(\mathbf{p}', \mathbf{q}') \prec_r (\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q})$ if and only if the Lorenz curve of $(\mathbf{p}', \mathbf{q}')$ is never above the Lorenz curve of (\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}) .

4. Majorization in quantum thermodynamics

As discussed in Sec. IV.A.3, the set of free operations in the resource theory of athermality are thermal operations. A strictly larger class of operations are those that preserve the Gibbs state $\mathcal{E}(\gamma_H) = \gamma_H$. In the quasiclassical case, where states are diagonal in the energy eigenbasis, the conversion of a state ρ to σ is possible by thermal operations if and only if it is possible by Gibbs-preserving operations (Janzing *et al.*, 2000; Horodecki and Oppenheim, 2013a; Korzekwa, 2016). To phrase this as a majorization condition, let **p**, **q**, and **g** be the vectors consisting of the diagonal components of ρ , σ , and γ_H , respectively. Then in the quasiclassical setting, ρ can be converted to σ by thermal operations if and only if there exists a column stochastic matrix M such that

$$\mathbf{q} = M\mathbf{p}$$
 and $\mathbf{g} = M\mathbf{g}$

This equation is precisely the condition

$$(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{g}) \prec_r (\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{g}).$$

When the condition above holds we say that \mathbf{p} thermomajorizes \mathbf{q} . The characterization of relative majorization in terms of testing regions immediately applies to thermomajorization. In particular, \mathbf{p} thermomajorizes \mathbf{q} if and only if the Lorenz curve of \mathbf{p} (with respect to the Gibbs state \mathbf{g}) is never below the Lorenz curve of \mathbf{q} (Horodecki and Oppenheim, 2013a).

Thermomajorization [which is equivalent to **d** majorization of Veinott (1971)] has several alternative characterizations. One of them can be expressed as (Alberti and Uhlmann, 1980)

$$\|\mathbf{p} - t\mathbf{g}\|_1 \ge \|\mathbf{q} - t\mathbf{g}\|_1 \quad \forall \ t \ge 0,$$

where $\|\mathbf{x}\|_1 \coloneqq \sum_j |x_j|$ is the ℓ_1 norm. Alberti and Uhlmann (1980) demonstrated that this characterization has a quantum

analog in the case of qubits. Specifically, given two pairs of *qubit* density matrices (ρ_1, ρ_2) and (σ_1, σ_2) , it was shown that there exists a quantum channel such that $\sigma_j = \mathcal{E}(\rho_j)$ for j = 1, 2 if and only if

$$\|\rho_1 - t\rho_2\|_1 \ge \|\sigma_1 - t\sigma_2\|_1 \quad \forall t \ge 0,$$

where $\|\cdot\|_1$ is the trace norm. Taking $\rho_2 = \sigma_2 = \gamma_H$ we obtain necessary and sufficient conditions for the existence of a Gibbs-preserving channel that converts the qubit ρ_1 to σ_1 (Buscemi and Gour, 2017). However, this result holds only for two-dimensional systems and already in three dimensions there are counterexamples (Chefles, Jozsa, and Winter, 2004) (i.e., states that satisfy the above inequality even though they cannot be converted by Gibbs-preserving operations).

In the fully quantum case with states not necessarily diagonal in the energy eigenbasis, deciding whether ρ can be transformed into σ is a more complex issue. While the convertibility equivalence between thermal operations and Gibbs-preserving maps no longer holds, one can additionally require the latter to have time-translation covariance in order to obtain a better approximation of thermal operations (Lostaglio et al., 2015; Gour et al., 2018) (see also Sec. IV.A.3). It is currently unknown whether the convertibility power of Gibbs-preserving, time-translation covariant maps is strictly greater than the convertibility power of thermal operations. This problem is important to the field of quantum thermodynamics since the former is much simpler to characterize mathematically than thermal operations. Particularly, it was demonstrated by Gour et al. (2018) that the problem of converting one general state to another by a Gibbs-preserving and time-translation covariant operation can be solved efficiently and algorithmically using SDP. It was shown by employing a generalization of relative majorization which is called quantum majorization.

Quantum majorization is a preorder among bipartite states in $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H}^A \otimes \mathcal{H}^B)$ having the same marginal state on system A. We say the ρ^{AB} quantum majorizes σ^{AB} with respect to a group G, and denote it by

 $\sigma^{AB} \prec^G_a \rho^{AB},$

if and only if there exists a G-covariant channel \mathcal{E} such that

$$\sigma^{AB} = \mathsf{id}^A \otimes \mathcal{E}(\rho^{AB}).$$

To see how quantum majorization is related to thermodynamics, take both ρ^{AB} and σ^{AB} to be the following states:

$$\rho^{AB} = \frac{1}{2} |0\rangle \langle 0| \otimes \rho_1 + \frac{1}{2} |1\rangle \langle 1| \otimes \gamma_H,$$

$$\sigma^{AB} = \frac{1}{2} |0\rangle \langle 0| \otimes \rho_2 + \frac{1}{2} |1\rangle \langle 1| \otimes \gamma_H.$$

With this choice we see that $\sigma^{AB} \prec_q^G \rho^{AB}$ if and only if ρ_1 can be converted to ρ_2 by Gibbs-preserving and time-translation symmetric operations. Hence, since quantum majorization can be determined by an SDP so can the conversion of ρ_1 to ρ_2 . Other variants of majorization and their applications in thermodynamics can be found by Egloff *et al.* (2015) and Faist *et al.* (2015).

B. Convex analysis, semidefinite programming, and duality theory

Convex analysis plays an important role in many areas of science [see, e.g., Barvinok (2002) and Boyd and Vandenberghe (2004)], so it is not surprising that many of its tools are intensively employed in quantum information. To see its application specifically to resource theories, we consider here a convex resource theory \mathcal{R} with a convex set of free states \mathcal{F} , and a convex set of free operations \mathcal{O} .

Recall in Sec. VI.E that if the set of free states is both convex and closed, then $\rho \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})$ if and only if

$$\min_{W \in \mathcal{F}^*(\mathcal{H})} \operatorname{Tr}[W\rho] \ge 0.$$
(110)

This problem is known as the weak membership problem (Gurvits, 2003) for the convex set $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})$.

In some QRTs the optimization problem is relatively easy, such as the resource theory of coherence, and it can be solved using standard techniques in semidefinite programming. For other QRTs, such as entanglement theory, the problem is computationally hard (Gurvits, 2003; Gharibian, 2010) (particularly, the computational time is believed to grow exponentially with the dimension of \mathcal{H}). In such cases, the condition that $W \in \mathcal{F}^*$ does not have a simple form.

One approach [see, e.g., Pérez-Garcìa (2004) in entanglement theory] is to allow for an ϵ error, and then intersect $\mathcal{F}^*(\mathcal{H})$ with an ϵ net, which is a finite set such that every state is at most a distance ϵ from some state in the set, as measured by the trace distance. Using an ϵ net, one can replace the minimization of W in Eq. (110) with one having a finite number of constraints on W, namely, $Tr[W\sigma_i] \ge 0$, where σ_i is the *i*th element in the ϵ net. This approach can be useful in small dimensions (Pérez-Garcia, 2004) as it provides a way to determine if a state is free or not by using standard techniques from semidefinite programming. Remarkably, Brandão, Christandl, and Yard (2011) showed that if one replaces the trace distance with an operationally motivated distance, based on the so-called one-way LOCC norm (Matthews, Wehner, and Winter, 2009), it is possible to construct a quasipolynomial-time algorithm for solving the weak membership problem for the set of separable bipartite quantum states.

Convex analysis is also useful for the study of single-shot state transformations. For a given QRT, denote the set of all free Choi matrices by

$$\mathcal{C}(A \to B) \coloneqq \{J_{\Phi}^{AB} | \Phi \in \mathcal{O}(A \to B)\},\$$

where J_{Φ}^{AB} is the Choi matrix of the channel Φ . Since we assume here that \mathcal{O} is convex we get that also the set \mathcal{C} is convex. Now consider the problem of deciding whether one quantum state $\rho \in S(A)$ can be converted into another $\sigma \in$ S(B) by free operations. That is, we want to know if there exists $\Phi \in \mathcal{O}$ such that $\sigma = \Phi(\rho)$. In the Choi picture, the question becomes if there exists a state $J^{AB} \in \mathcal{C}$ such that

$$\sigma = \mathrm{Tr}_A[J^{AB}(\rho^T \otimes \mathbb{I}^B)]$$

By multiplying both sides of this equation by some matrix $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^B)$ and taking the trace, one can express this equation in the form

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[J^{AB}\left(\rho^{T}\otimes X-\frac{\operatorname{Tr}[\sigma X]}{d_{A}}\mathbb{I}^{AB}\right)\right]=0,$$

where we used the property that $J^A = \mathbb{I}^A$. This equation has to hold for all *X*, but since it is linear in *X*, we just need to check that it holds for all $X \in \{X_j\}_{j=1}^{d_B^2}$, where X_j are some basis elements of $\mathcal{B}(B)$. If we assume again that \mathcal{C} is convex and closed (so that $\mathcal{C}^{**} = \mathcal{C}^*$) we conclude that ρ can be converted to σ by free operations if and only if there exists a matrix J^{AB} with marginal $J^A = \mathbb{I}^A$ that satisfy the following two conditions:

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[J^{AB}\left(\rho^{T}\otimes X_{j}-\frac{\operatorname{Tr}[\sigma X_{j}]}{d_{A}}\mathbb{I}^{AB}\right)\right]=0\quad\forall \ j=1,\ldots,d_{B}^{2},$$
$$\operatorname{Tr}[J^{AB}W]\geq 0\quad\forall \ W\in\mathcal{C}^{*}.$$

This problem, similar to the weak membership problem (110), is a feasibility problem in conic linear programming. In some QRTs [e.g., affine QRTs (Gour, 2017), QRTs of asymmetry and thermodynamics (Gour *et al.*, 2018)], the condition that $W \in C^*$ can be expressed as an SDP problem, and in this case determining whether $\rho \xrightarrow{\mathcal{O}} \sigma$ can be solved efficiently and algorithmically by SDP. In other QRTs, the problem can be much harder.

C. Smooth entropies and the generalized Stein's lemma

In the imperfect one-shot scenario, the goal is to transform an initial state ρ into some target state σ within an ϵ error. A fundamental technique in the study of this problem involves the "smoothing" of some function over a small subset of density matrices. The general use of ϵ smoothing in quantum information theory was pioneered by Renner (2005), originally for application in QKD [see Cachin and Maurer (1997) for classical origins]. Since then it has been used prominently in quantum hypothesis testing and other studies of one-shot quantum Shannon theory (Renner and König, 2005; Konig, Renner, and Schaffner, 2009; Tomamichel, Colbeck, and Renner, 2010; Renes and Renner, 2011; Tomamichel, 2012; Wang and Renner, 2012; Datta and Hsieh, 2013; Datta, Mosonyi et al., 2013; Datta, Renes et al., 2013; Tomamichel and 2014: Hayashi, 2013; Matthews and Wehner, Radhakrishnan, Sen, and Warsi, 2016; Wang, Xie, and Duan, 2017). Here we review two smooth entropic quantities and describe their application in terms of single-shot resource formation and distillation. This will set the stage for the asymptotic reversibility result based on quantum hypothesis testing and the generalized Stein lemma.

We begin with the quantity \mathcal{R}_{max} , which is defined in Eq. (81) as

$$\mathcal{R}_{\max}(\rho) = \inf_{\sigma \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})} \{ \lambda | \rho \le 2^{\lambda} \sigma \}.$$
(111)

As noted in Sec. VI.E.2, this is equivalent to the log robustness of resource. For $\epsilon \in (0, 1]$, a smoothed version of \mathcal{R}_{max} is given by

$$\mathcal{R}_{\max}^{\epsilon}(\rho) = \inf_{\hat{\rho}^{AB} \in B_{\epsilon}(\rho^{AB})} \mathcal{R}_{\max}(\hat{\rho}), \qquad (112)$$

where $B_{\epsilon}(\rho) = \{\sigma: F(\rho, \sigma) \ge 1 - \epsilon\}$. Essentially, $\mathcal{R}_{\max}^{\epsilon}(\rho)$ finds the smallest value of $\mathcal{R}_{\max}(\rho)$ within an ϵ ball centered at ρ . In the QRT of entanglement, $\mathcal{R}_{\max}^{\epsilon}$ quantifies the one-shot catalytic entanglement cost under δ -resource generating operations (Brandão and Datta, 2011). In the QRT of coherence, the relaxations of catalytic convertibility and δ -resource generating operations can be dropped, as $\mathcal{R}_{\max}^{\epsilon}$ provides the one-shot (noncatalytic) coherence cost of a given state using strictly resource nongenerating operations (Zhu *et al.*, 2017).

The second smooth entropic quantity we discuss is based on the problem of quantum hypothesis testing. In quantum hypothesis testing, the goal is to distinguish one state ρ , called the null hypothesis, from another σ , called the alternative hypothesis (Hiai and Petz, 1991; Ogawa and Nagaoka, 2000). Typically one attempts to minimize the identification error when the system is in state σ , given some threshold in the identification error when the system is in state ρ . In more detail, one considers a two-outcome POVM $\{M, \mathbb{I} - M\}$ with associated error probabilities

$$\alpha(M) = \operatorname{Tr}[(\mathbb{I} - M)\rho]$$
$$\beta(M) = \operatorname{Tr}[M\sigma].$$

Then for any $\epsilon > 0$, the problem asks to compute the smallest possible value of $\beta(M)$ under the constraint that $\alpha(M) \le \epsilon$. This can be phrased as an entropic quantity known as the hypothesis testing relative entropy, which is defined as

$$D_{\mathrm{H}}^{\epsilon}(\rho \| \sigma) = \sup_{0 \le M \le \mathbb{I} \atop a(M) \le \epsilon} [-\log \beta(M)].$$
(113)

This quantity, which involves an "operator smoothing" (Buscemi and Datta, 2010), provides the appropriate oneshot quantifier for many other information-theoretic tasks (Wang and Renner, 2012; Dupuis *et al.*, 2013; Tomamichel and Hayashi, 2013; Matthews and Wehner, 2014). Note that $D_{\rm H}^{e}(\rho \| \sigma)$ is expressed as a semidefinite optimization, and it can therefore be efficiently computed.

For a QRT with a compact convex set of free states, we can introduce the resource measure

$$\mathcal{R}_{\mathrm{H}}^{\epsilon}(\rho) = \inf_{\substack{\sigma \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H}) \\ \mathrm{Tr}(|I-M)| \leq \varepsilon}} D_{\mathrm{H}}^{\epsilon}(\rho \| \sigma)$$

=
$$\sup_{\substack{0 \leq M \leq I \\ \mathrm{Tr}(|I-M)| \leq \varepsilon}} \inf_{\sigma \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})} \{-\log \mathrm{Tr}[M\sigma]\}, \qquad (114)$$

where the minimax theorem has been applied to switch the order of extrema. For entanglement theory, this quantity corresponds to the one-shot distillable entanglement under maximal operations, i.e., the largest *R* such that $\rho^{AB} \xrightarrow[]{}{\rightarrow} e \phi_{2^R}^+$ (Brandão and Datta, 2011). For coherence, an analogous result holds in terms of distillable coherence provided the allowable set of σ is enlarged slightly (Regula *et al.*, 2018). The quantity

 $\mathcal{R}_{H}^{\epsilon}(\rho)$ also has application in quantum thermodynamics. Note that in thermodynamics, the Gibbs state γ_{H} is the unique free state for a given thermodynamic system, and so we have the reduction

$$\mathcal{R}_{\mathrm{H}}^{\epsilon}(\rho) = \sup_{\substack{0 \le M \le 1\\ \mathrm{Tr}[(\mathrm{I}-M)\rho] \le \epsilon}} -\log \mathrm{Tr}[M\gamma_{\mathrm{H}}].$$
(115)

Yunger Halpern and Renes (2016) showed this to, roughly speaking, quantify the one-shot extractable work of a thermodynamical state as well as the one-shot work cost of forming it.

A more traditional version of hypothesis testing is in the asymptotic setting where the two hypotheses are presented in many-copy form, $\rho^{\otimes n}$ and $\sigma^{\otimes n}$. For any $\epsilon \in (0, 1)$, the asymptotic rate of $D_{\rm H}^{\epsilon}$ is given precisely by the relative entropy:

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} D_{\mathrm{H}}^{\epsilon}(\rho^{\otimes n} \| \sigma^{\otimes n}) = S(\rho \| \sigma).$$
(116)

This is known as the quantum Stein's lemma, and its proof was given by Hiai and Petz (1991) and Ogawa and Nagaoka (2000). This result is quite appealing since any task quantified by $D_{\rm H}^{e}$ in the single-shot level can then be quantified by the relative entropy in the many-copy setting.

To apply the results and techniques of quantum hypothesis testing to quantum resource theories, one needs to generalize the problem. One such scheme involves a scenario in which either the null hypothesis ρ or a set *S* of alternative hypotheses is possible. The goal then is to distinguish ρ from the states belonging to *S*. In the context of quantum resource theories, it is typical to let $S = \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})$ be the set of free states. Brandão and Plenio (2010a) have proven a generalization of the quantum Stein's lemma that holds for most well-structured sets of free states. Specifically, suppose that $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})$ has the properties of being

- (1) closed and convex,
- (2) closed under tensor products,
- (3) closed under the partial trace, and
- (4) closed under permutation of spatially separated subsystems.

Note that the free states in any QRT having tensor-product structure will satisfy these conditions. The generalized quantum Stein's lemma ensures that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \mathcal{R}^{\epsilon}_{\min}(\rho^{\otimes n}) = \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\mathrm{rel}}(\rho)$$
(117)

for any $\epsilon \in (0, 1)$ (Brandão and Datta, 2011), and furthermore, Brandão and Plenio (2010a) were able to also show that

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \mathcal{R}^{\epsilon}_{\max}(\rho^{\otimes n}) = \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\text{rel}}(\rho).$$
(118)

In subsequent work, Brandão and Gour (2015) explicitly connected Eqs. (117) and (118) to the problem of asymptotic resource convertibility under asymptotically RNG operations. This involves transformations of the form $\rho^{\otimes n} \stackrel{\mathcal{O}_n}{\longrightarrow} \sigma^{\otimes \lfloor nR' \rfloor}$, where \mathcal{O}_n is the class of ϵ_n -resource generating operations

(see Sec. III.C.3) such that $\lim_{n\to\infty} \epsilon_n = 0$. If the free states in a QRT satisfy these four properties, then the result of Brandão and Gour (2015) says that andy two states ρ and σ are reversible under asymptotically RNG transformations, with a rate given by the ratio of the regularized relative entropies of resource. That is,

$$R(\rho \to \sigma) = \frac{\mathcal{R}_{\text{rel}}^{\infty}(\rho)}{\mathcal{R}_{\text{rel}}^{\infty}(\sigma)},$$
(119)

provided that $\mathcal{R}_{rel}^{\infty}(\rho)$, $\mathcal{R}_{rel}^{\infty}(\sigma) \in (0, \infty)$. Note the restriction that $\mathcal{R}_{rel}^{\infty}$ be nonzero and finite is more than just a mathematical detail. Physically relevant QRTs, such as the QRT of asymmetry, have free states which satisfy the four necessary properties, and yet $\mathcal{R}_{rel}^{\infty}(\rho) = 0$ for all resource states (Gour, Marvian, and Spekkens, 2009). In this case, the results of Brandão and Gour (2015) cannot be directly applied. Nevertheless, when $\mathcal{R}_{rel}^{\infty}$ is nonzero and finite, Eq. (119) along with the arguments of Horodecki, Oppenheim, and Horodecki (2002) and Gour, Marvian, and Spekkens (2009) imply that

$$\frac{\mathcal{R}_{\rm rel}^{\infty}(\rho)}{\mathcal{R}_{\rm rel}^{\infty}(\sigma)} = \frac{f^{\infty}(\rho)}{f^{\infty}(\sigma)},\tag{120}$$

where f^{∞} is the regularized versions of any asymptotically continuous function for which $f^{\infty}(\rho)$, $f^{\infty}(\sigma) \in (0, \infty)$. This says that the regularized version of all asymptotically continuous resource measures are equivalent up to an overall proportionality factor. Thus, the regularized relative entropy of resource can be interpreted as the unique measure of resource for the task of asymptotic convertibility.

VIII. OUTLOOK

A common theme in physics is the unification of theories and models that at first glance may seem completely unrelated. Most notable in this regard is the successful unification of the three nongravitational forces in nature. Such an amalgamation not only leads to new discoveries, but it also has the potential to profoundly change the way we perceive the world around us. With the advent of quantum information science, many seemingly unrelated properties of physical systems, such as entanglement, asymmetry, and athermality, have now become recognized as resources. This recognition is profound as it allows them to be unified under the same roof of quantum resource theories. Entanglement, athermality, and asymmetry are no longer regarded as just interesting physical properties of a quantum system, but they now emerge as resources that can be utilized and manipulated to execute a variety of remarkable tasks, such as quantum teleportation.

This review began with a precise definition of quantum resource theories and then considered general structural features of different QRTs. As discussed in Sec. III.D.5, all QRTs in quantum information theory can be viewed as a resource theory of processes. For example, in Sec. IV.B.3 we discussed how the phenomenon of quantum steering can be cast as a resource theory of incompatible (semicausal) multi-sources, just one specific type of quantum process. More work

is needed in the future to better understand unifications like this for other QRTs.

Section IV provided a summary of specific QRTs that reflect recent and ongoing developments in the field. We hope this choice of examples sparks the reader's interest on new topics or motivates the construction of novel ORTs. Unfortunately, since the subject of QRTs spans a large range of topics, we could not cover all resource theories previously studied in the literature. Notable omissions include the resource theory of knowledge (del Rio, Kraemer, and Renner, 2015; Kraemer and del Rio, 2016), imaginarity (Hickey and Gour, 2018), superposition (Theurer et al., 2017), and others. Moreover, this review did not discuss the characterization of resource theories as symmetric monoidal categories (Coecke, Fritz, and Spekkens, 2016; Fritz, 2017). This category theory approach to ORTs can be useful when considering other models beyond quantum physics, such as the framework of generalized probabilistic theories or when incorporating resource theories in other fields of science.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank David Jennings, Matteo Lostaglio, and Nicole Yunger Halpern for helpful discussion and insight on quantum thermodynamics, as well as Gerardo Adesso, Eneet Kaur, and Xin Wang for constructive feedback. We thank Earl Campbell for clarifying certain aspects of magic state resource theories. Finally, we thank Mark Wilde for carefully reading an earlier draft of this manuscript and providing a number of helpful comments. E. C. is supported by the National Science Foundation (NSF) Early CAREER Award No. 1352326. The research of G. G. is supported by NSERC.

REFERENCES

- Åberg, J., 2014, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113, 150402.
- Åberg, J., 2006, arXiv:quant-ph/0612146.
- Abramsky, S., R. S. Barbosa, and S. Mansfield, 2017, Phys. Rev. Lett. **119**, 050504.
- Acín, A., J. I. Cirac, and L. Masanes, 2004, Phys. Rev. Lett. 92, 107903.
- Adesso, G., T. R. Bromley, and M. Cianciaruso, 2016, J. Phys. A **49**, 473001.
- Ahmadi, M., H. B. Dang, G. Gour, and B. C. Sanders, 2018, Phys. Rev. A **97**, 062332.
- Albarelli, F., M. G. Genoni, M. G. A. Paris, and A. Ferraro, 2018, Phys. Rev. A **98**, 052350.
- Alberti, P., and A. Uhlmann, 1980, Rep. Math. Phys. 18, 163.
- Amaral, B., A. Cabello, M. T. Cunha, and L. Aolita, 2018, Phys. Rev. Lett. **120**, 130403.
- Anshu, A., M.-H. Hsieh, and R. Jain, 2017, arXiv:1708.00381.
- Anwar, H., E. T. Campbell, and D. E. Browne, 2012, New J. Phys. 14, 063006.
- Audenaert, K., M. B. Plenio, and J. Eisert, 2003, Phys. Rev. Lett. 90, 027901.
- Audenaert, K. M., 2007, J. Phys. A 40, 8127.
- Augusiak, R., M. Demianowicz, and A. Acn, 2014, J. Phys. A 47, 424002.
- Barnum, H., and N. Linden, 2001, J. Phys. A 34, 6787.
- Barrett, J., 2007, Phys. Rev. A 75, 032304.

- Bartlett, S. D., T. Rudolph, and R. W. Spekkens, 2007, Rev. Mod. Phys. **79**, 555.
- Barvinok, A., 2002, *A Course in Convexity* (American Mathematical Society, Providence).
- Baumgratz, T., M. Cramer, and M. B. Plenio, 2014, Phys. Rev. Lett. **113**, 140401.
- Beckman, D., D. Gottesman, M. A. Nielsen, and J. Preskill, 2001, Phys. Rev. A 64, 052309.
- Beigi, S., 2013, J. Math. Phys. (N.Y.) 54, 122202.
- Bell, J. S., 1964, Physics Physique Fizika 1, 195.
- Bell, J. S., 1966, Rev. Mod. Phys. 38, 447.
- Ben Dana, K., M. García Díaz, M. Mejatty, and A. Winter, 2017, Phys. Rev. A **95**, 062327.
- Bennett, C. H., 2004, Quantum Inf. Comput. 4, 460.
- Bennett, C. H., H. Bernstein, S. Popescu, and B. Schumacher, 1996, Phys. Rev. A 53, 2046.
- Bennett, C. H., G. Brassard, C. Crépeau, R. Jozsa, A. Peres, and W. K. Wootters, 1993, Phys. Rev. Lett. 70, 1895.
- Bennett, C. H., I. Devetak, A. W. Harrow, P. W. Shor, and A. Winter, 2014, IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory **60**, 2926.
- Bennett, C. H., D. P. DiVincenzo, C. A. Fuchs, T. Mor, E. Rains, P. W. Shor, J. A. Smolin, and W. K. Wootters, 1999, Phys. Rev. A 59, 1070.
- Bennett, C. H., D. P. DiVincenzo, J. A. Smolin, and W. K. Wootters, 1996, Phys. Rev. A 54, 3824.
- Bennett, C. H., S. Popescu, D. Rohrlich, J. A. Smolin, and A. V. Thapliyal, 2000, Phys. Rev. A 63, 012307.
- Berta, M., M. Christandl, and R. Renner, 2011, Commun. Math. Phys. **306**, 579.
- Berta, M., F.G.S.L. Brandão, C. Majenz, and M. M. Wilde, 2018, Phys. Rev. A **98**, 042320.
- Berta, M., and C. Majenz, 2018, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121, 190503.
- Bhatia, R., 1996, Matrix Analysis (Springer, New York).
- Bhattacharya, S., B. Bhattacharya, and A.S. Majumdar, 2018, "Resource theory of non-markovianity: A thermodynamic perspective," arXiv:1803.06881.
- Biham, O., M. A. Nielsen, and T. J. Osborne, 2002, Phys. Rev. A 65, 062312.
- Blackwell, D., 1953, Ann. Math. Stat. 24, 265.
- Boyd, S., and L. Vandenberghe, 2004, *Convex Optimization* (Cambridge University Press, New York).
- Brandão, F., M. Horodecki, N. Ng, J. Oppenheim, and S. Wehner, 2015, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 112, 3275.
- Brandão, F. G., M. Christandl, and J. Yard, 2011, in *Proceedings of the Forty-third Annual ACM Symposium on Theory of Computing*, STOC '11 (ACM, New York), pp. 343–352.
- Brandão, F. G. S. L., 2005, Phys. Rev. A 72, 022310.
- Brandão, F. G. S. L., and N. Datta, 2011, IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory 57, 1754.
- Brandão, F.G.S.L., and G. Gour, 2015, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115, 070503.
- Brandão, F. G. S. L., A. W. Harrow, J. Oppenheim, and S. Strelchuk, 2015, Phys. Rev. Lett. **115**, 050501.
- Brandão, F. G. S. L., M. Horodecki, J. Oppenheim, J. M. Renes, and R. W. Spekkens, 2013, Phys. Rev. Lett. **111**, 250404.
- Brandão, F. G. S. L., and M. B. Plenio, 2008, Nat. Phys. 4, 873.
- Brandão, F. G. S. L., and M. B. Plenio, 2010a, Commun. Math. Phys. **295**, 791.
- Brandão, F. G. S. L., and M. B. Plenio, 2010b, Commun. Math. Phys. **295**, 829.
- Braunstein, S. L., and P. van Loock, 2005, Rev. Mod. Phys. **77**, 513. Bravyi, S., and A. Kitaev, 2005, Phys. Rev. A **71**, 022316.

- Bravyi, S., G. Smith, and J. A. Smolin, 2016, Phys. Rev. X 6, 021043.
- Breuer, H.-P., E.-M. Laine, and J. Piilo, 2009, Phys. Rev. Lett. 103, 210401.
- Bromley, T.R., M. Cianciaruso, S. Vourekas, B. Regula, and G. Adesso, 2018, J. Phys. A **51**, 325303.
- Brunner, N., D. Cavalcanti, S. Pironio, V. Scarani, and S. Wehner, 2014, Rev. Mod. Phys. 86, 419.
- Bu, K., U. Singh, and J. Wu, 2016, Phys. Rev. A 93, 042326.
- Buhrman, H., R. Cleve, S. Massar, and R. de Wolf, 2010, Rev. Mod. Phys. **82**, 665.
- Buscemi, F., 2012, Phys. Rev. Lett. 108, 200401.
- Buscemi, F., and N. Datta, 2010, IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory 56, 1447.
- Buscemi, F., and N. Datta, 2011, Phys. Rev. Lett. 106, 130503.
- Buscemi, F., and G. Gour, 2017, Phys. Rev. A 95, 012110.
- Cachin, C., and U. Maurer, 1997, in *Proceedings of IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory* (IEEE, New York), p. 91.
- Campbell, E. T., and D. E. Browne, 2009, in *Theory of Quantum Computation, Communication, and Cryptography*, edited by A. Childs and M. Mosca (Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg), pp. 20–32.
- Campbell, E. T., and D. E. Browne, 2010, Phys. Rev. Lett. 104, 030503.
- Cavalcanti, D., and P. Skrzypczyk, 2017, Rep. Prog. Phys. 80, 024001.
- Chefles, A., R. Jozsa, and A. Winter, 2004, Int. J. Quantum. Inform. 02, 11.
- Chen, L., M. Aulbach, and M. Hajdušek, 2014, Phys. Rev. A 89, 042305.
- Chen, L., E. Chitambar, R. Duan, Z. Ji, and A. Winter, 2010, Phys. Rev. Lett. **105**, 200501.
- Chiribella, G., G. M. D'Ariano, and P. Perinotti, 2008, Europhys. Lett. 83, 30004.
- Chiribella, G., V. Giovannetti, L. Maccone, and P. Perinotti, 2012, Phys. Rev. A 86, 010304.
- Chitambar, E., 2011, Phys. Rev. Lett. 107, 190502.
- Chitambar, E., 2018, Phys. Rev. A 97, 050301.
- Chitambar, E., W. Cui, and H.-K. Lo, 2012, Phys. Rev. Lett. 108, 240504.
- Chitambar, E., J. I. de Vicente, M. W. Girard, and G. Gour, 2017, arXiv:1711.03835.
- Chitambar, E., R. Duan, and Y. Shi, 2008, Phys. Rev. Lett. 101, 140502.
- Chitambar, E., B. Fortescue, and M.-H. Hsieh, 2015, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115, 090501.
- Chitambar, E., and G. Gour, 2016a, Phys. Rev. A 94, 052336.
- Chitambar, E., and G. Gour, 2016b, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117, 030401.
- Chitambar, E., and M.-H. Hsieh, 2016, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117, 020402.
- Chitambar, E., and M.-H. Hsieh, 2017, Nat. Commun. 8, 2086.
- Chitambar, E., D. Leung, L. Mančinska, M. Ozols, and A. Winter, 2014, Commun. Math. Phys. **328**, 303.
- Christandl, M., A. Ekert, M. Horodecki, P. Horodecki, J. Oppenheim, and R. Renner, 2007, in *Theory of Cryptography*, Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Vol. 4392, edited by S. Vadhan (Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg), pp. 456–478.
- Chruciski, D., and G. Sarbicki, 2014, J. Phys. A 47, 483001.
- Chruścińki, D., A. Kossakowski, and A. Rivas, 2011, Phys. Rev. A **83**, 052128.
- Cirac, J. I., W. Dür, B. Kraus, and M. Lewenstein, 2001, Phys. Rev. Lett. **86**, 544.
- Coecke, B., T. Fritz, and R. W. Spekkens, 2016, Inf. Comput. **250**, 59.
- Collins, D., and S. Popescu, 2002, Phys. Rev. A 65, 032321.

- Cooney, T., M. Mosonyi, and M. M. Wilde, 2016, Commun. Math. Phys. **344**, 797.
- Cover, T. M., and J. A. Thomas, 2006, *Elements of Information Theory* (Wiley Series in Telecommunications and Signal Processing) (Wiley-Interscience, Hoboken, NJ).
- Cubitt, T. S., J. Chen, and A. W. Harrow, 2011, IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory 57, 8114.
- Dahl, G., 1999, Linear Algebra Appl. 288, 53.
- Datta, A., 2008, Ph.D. thesis (University of New Mexico).
- Datta, A., and V. Madhok, 2017, "Quantum discord in quantum communication protocols," in *Lectures on General Quantum Correlations and their Applications*, edited by F.F. Fanchini, D. d. O. Soares Pinto, and G. Adesso (Springer, Cham, Switzerland), pp. 241–255.
- Datta, N., 2009a, Int. J. Quantum. Inform. 07, 475.
- Datta, N., 2009b, IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory 55, 2816.
- Datta, N., and M. H. Hsieh, 2013, IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory 59, 1929.
- Datta, N., M. Mosonyi, M. H. Hsieh, and F. G. S. L. Brandão, 2013, IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory **59**, 8014.
- Datta, N., J. M. Renes, R. Renner, and M. M. Wilde, 2013, IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory **59**, 8057.
- del Rio, L., L. Kraemer, and R. Renner, 2015, arXiv:1511.08818.
- Devetak, I., A. W. Harrow, and A. J. Winter, 2008, IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory **54**, 4587.
- Devetak, I., and A. Winter, 2004, IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory 50, 3183.
- Devetak, I., and J. Yard, 2008, Phys. Rev. Lett. 100, 230501.
- de Vicente, J. I., 2014, J. Phys. A 47, 424017.
- de Vicente, J. I., and A. Streltsov, 2017, J. Phys. A 50, 045301.
- Donald, M. J., and M. Horodecki, 1999, Phys. Lett. A 264, 257.
- Donald, M. J., M. Horodecki, and O. Rudolph, 2002, J. Math. Phys. (N.Y.) **43**, 4252.
- Dupuis, F., L. Kramer, P. Faist, J. M. Renes, and R. Renner, 2013, "Generalized entropies," in XVIIth International Congress on Mathematical Physics (World Scientific, Singapore), pp. 134–153.
- Eggeling, T., D. Schlingemann, and R. F. Werner, 2002, Europhys. Lett. 57, 782.
- Egloff, D., O. C. O. Dahlsten, R. Renner, and V. Vedral, 2015, New J. Phys. **17**, 073001.
- Eisert, J., K. Audenaert, and M. B. Plenio, 2003, J. Phys. A 36, 5605.
- Eisert, J., and H. J. Briegel, 2001, Phys. Rev. A 64, 022306.
- Ekert, A. K., 1991, Phys. Rev. Lett. 67, 661.
- Fagundes, G., and M. Kleinmann, 2017, J. Phys. A 50, 325302.
- Faist, P., F. Dupuis, J. Oppenheim, and R. Renner, 2015, Nat. Commun. 6, 7669.
- Faist, P., J. Oppenheim, and R. Renner, 2015, New J. Phys. 17, 043003.
- Fang, K., X. Wang, L. Lami, B. Regula, and G. Adesso, 2018, Phys. Rev. Lett. **121**, 070404.
- Fannes, M., 1973, Commun. Math. Phys. 31, 291.
- Fawzi, O., and R. Renner, 2015, Commun. Math. Phys. 340, 575.
- Feng, Y., R. Duan, and M. Ying, 2005, IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory **51**, 1090.
- Fine, A., 1982, Phys. Rev. Lett. 48, 291.
- Frank, R. L., and E. H. Lieb, 2013, J. Math. Phys. (N.Y.) 54, 122201.
- Friedland, S., V. Gheorghiu, and G. Gour, 2013, Phys. Rev. Lett. **111**, 230401.
- Fritz, T., 2017, Math. Struct. Comput. Sci. 27, 850.
- Fuchs, C. A., and J. van de Graaf, 1999, IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory 45, 1216.
- Gallego, R., and L. Aolita, 2015, Phys. Rev. X 5, 041008.
- Gallego, R., L. E. Würflinger, A. Acín, and M. Navascués, 2012, Phys. Rev. Lett. **109**, 070401.
- Genoni, M. G., and M. G. A. Paris, 2010, Phys. Rev. A 82, 052341.

- Genoni, M. G., M. G. A. Paris, and K. Banaszek, 2008, Phys. Rev. A 78, 060303.
- Gharibian, S., 2010, Quantum Inf. Comput. 10, 343.
- Girard, M. W., G. Gour, and S. Friedland, 2014, J. Phys. A 47, 505302.
- Gisin, N., R. Renner, and S. Wolf, 2002, Algorithmica 34, 389.
- Giustina, M., et al., 2015, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115, 250401.
- Goold, J., M. Huber, A. Riera, L. del Rio, and P. Skrzypczyk, 2016, J. Phys. A **49**, 143001.
- Gottesman, D., 1998a, "The heisenberg representation of quantum computers," Proceedings of the XXII International Colloquium on Group Theoretical Methods in Physics, arXiv:quant-ph/9807006.
 Gottesman, D., 1998b, Phys. Rev. A 57, 127.
- Gottesinan, D., 19980, Phys. Rev. A 57, 127.
- Gottesman, D., and I. L. Chuang, 1999, Nature (London) **402**, 390. Gour, G., 2017, Phys. Rev. A **95**, 062314.
- Gour, G., A. Grudka, M. Horodecki, W. Klobus, J. Lodyga, and V. Narasimhachar, 2018, Phys. Rev. A **97**, 042130.
- Gour, G., T. Heinosaari, and R. Spekkens, 2018, Introduced in APS March Meeting 2018, Session S26: Quantum Resource Theories I, Los Angeles, CA.
- Gour, G., D. Jennings, F. Buscemi, R. Duan, and I. Marvian, 2018, Nat. Commun. 9, 5352.
- Gour, G., I. Marvian, and R. W. Spekkens, 2009, Phys. Rev. A 80, 012307.
- Gour, G., M. P. Muller, V. Narasimhachar, R. W. Spekkens, and N. Y. Halpern, 2015, Phys. Rep. **583**, 1.
- Gour, G., and R. W. Spekkens, 2008, New J. Phys. 10, 033023.
- Groisman, B., S. Popescu, and A. Winter, 2005, Phys. Rev. A 72, 032317.
- Gross, D., 2006, J. Math. Phys. (N.Y.) 47, 122107.
- Gross, D., S. T. Flammia, and J. Eisert, 2009, Phys. Rev. Lett. 102, 190501.
- Grudka, A., K. Horodecki, M. Horodecki, P. Horodecki, R. Horodecki, P. Joshi, W. Kłobus, and A. Wójcik, 2014, Phys. Rev. Lett. **112**, 120401.
- Guerini, L., J. Bavaresco, M. T. Cunha, and A. Acín, 2017, J. Math. Phys. (N.Y.) **58**, 092102.
- Gühne, O., and G. Tóth, 2009, Phys. Rep. 474, 1.
- Gurvits, L., 2003, in *Proceedings of the Thirty-fifth Annual ACM Symposium on Theory of Computing*, STOC '03 (ACM, New York), pp. 10–19.
- Guryanova, Y., S. Popescu, A. J. Short, R. Silva1, and P. Skrzypczyk, 2016, Nat. Commun. 7, 12049.
- Gutoski, G., and J. Watrous, 2005, in *STACS 2005*, edited by V. Diekert and B. Durand (Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg), pp. 605–616.
- Haagerup, U., and M. Musat, 2011, Commun. Math. Phys. 303, 555.
- Hall, M. J. W., J. D. Cresser, L. Li, and E. Andersson, 2014, Phys. Rev. A **89**, 042120.
- Halpern, N. Y., P. Faist, J. Oppenheim, and A. Winter, 2016, Nat. Commun. 7, 12051.
- Harrow, A., 2004, Phys. Rev. Lett. 92, 097902.
- Harrow, A. W., and M. A. Nielsen, 2003, Phys. Rev. A 68, 012308.
- Hayashi, M., 2006, *Quantum Information: An Introduction* (Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg).
- Hayashi, M., and M. Tomamichel, 2016, J. Math. Phys. (N.Y.) 57, 102201 2201.
- Hayden, P., R. Jozsa, D. Petz, and A. Winter, 2004, Commun. Math. Phys. **246**, 359.
- Hayden, P. M., M. Horodecki, and B. M. Terhal, 2001, J. Phys. A 34, 6891.
- Heinosaari, T., D. Reitzner, and P. Stano, 2008, Found. Phys. 38, 1133.

- Helstrom, C. W., 1969, J. Stat. Phys. 1, 231.
- Henderson, L., and V. Vedral, 2001, J. Phys. A 34, 6899.
- Hensen, B., et al., 2015, Nature (London) 526, 682.
- Hiai, F., and D. Petz, 1991, Commun. Math. Phys. 143, 99.
- Hickey, A., and G. Gour, 2018, J. Phys. A 51, 414009.
- Holevo, A., 1973, J. Multivariate Anal. 3, 337.
- Holevo, A. S., 1998, IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory 44, 269.
- Horodecki, K., A. Grudka, P. Joshi, W. Kłobus, and J. Łodyga, 2015, Phys. Rev. A **92**, 032104.
- Horodecki, K., M. Horodecki, P. Horodecki, and J. Oppenheim, 2005, Found. Phys. 35, 2027.
- Horodecki, M., 2001, Quantum Inf. Comput. 1, 3.
- Horodecki, M., K. Horodecki, P. Horodecki, R. Horodecki, J. Oppenheim, A. Sen(De), and U. Sen, 2003, Phys. Rev. Lett. **90**, 100402.
- Horodecki, M., P. Horodecki, and R. Horodecki, 1996, Phys. Lett. A 223, 1.
- Horodecki, M., P. Horodecki, and R. Horodecki, 1998, Phys. Rev. Lett. 80, 5239.
- Horodecki, M., P. Horodecki, and R. Horodecki, 1999, Phys. Rev. A **60**, 1888.
- Horodecki, M., P. Horodecki, R. Horodecki, J. Oppenheim, A. Sen(De), U. Sen, and B. Synak-Radtke, 2005, Phys. Rev. A 71, 062307.
- Horodecki, M., P. Horodecki, and J. Oppenheim, 2003, Phys. Rev. A 67, 062104.
- Horodecki, M., and J. Oppenheim, 2013a, Nat. Commun. 4, 2059.
- Horodecki, M., and J. Oppenheim, 2013b, Int. J. Mod. Phys. B 27, 1345019.
- Horodecki, M., J. Oppenheim, and R. Horodecki, 2002, Phys. Rev. Lett. **89**, 240403.
- Horodecki, M., A. Sen(De), and U. Sen, 2003, Phys. Rev. A 67, 062314.
- Horodecki, P., R. Horodecki, and M. Horodecki, 1998, Acta Phys. Slovaca 48, 141.
- Horodecki, R., P. Horodecki, M. Horodecki, and K. Horodecki, 2009, Rev. Mod. Phys. 81, 865.
- Howard, M., E. Brennan, and J. Vala, 2013, Entropy 15, 2340.
- Howard, M., and E. Campbell, 2017, Phys. Rev. Lett. **118**, 090501. Howard, M., J. Wallman, V. Veitch, and J. Emerson, 2014, Nature
- (London) **510**, 351. Hu, X., H. Fan, D. L. Zhou, and W.-M. Liu, 2012, Phys. Rev. A **85**,
- 032102.
- Huelga, S. F., A. Rivas, and M. B. Plenio, 2012, Phys. Rev. Lett. **108**, 160402.
- Ishizaka, S., and M. B. Plenio, 2005, Phys. Rev. A 71, 052303.
- Ivan, J. S., K. K. Sabapathy, and R. Simon, 2013, Phys. Rev. A 88, 032302.
- Janzing, D., P. Wocjan, R. Zeier, R. Geiss, and T. Beth, 2000, Int. J. Theor. Phys. **39**, 2717.
- Jebaratnam, C., S. Aravinda, and R. Srikanth, 2017, Phys. Rev. A 95, 032120.
- Jennings, D., 2018, private communication.
- Jonathan, D., and M. B. Plenio, 1999a, Phys. Rev. Lett. 83, 3566.
- Jonathan, D., and M. B. Plenio, 1999b, Phys. Rev. Lett. 83, 1455.
- Jones, N. S., and L. Masanes, 2005, Phys. Rev. A 72, 052312.
- Jones, S. J., H. M. Wiseman, and A. C. Doherty, 2007, Phys. Rev. A **76**, 052116.
- Kaur, E., S. Das, M. M. Wilde, and A. Winter, 2018, arXiv:1803 .10710.
- Kaur, E., and M. M. Wilde, 2018, J. Phys. A 51, 035303.
- Kleinmann, M., O. Ghne, J. R. Portillo, J. A. Larsson, and A. Cabello, 2011, New J. Phys. 13, 113011.

Klimesh, M., 2007, arXiv:0709.3680.

- Knill, E., 2005, Nature (London) 434, 39.
- Kochen, S., and E. Specker, 1967, J. Math. Mech. 17, 59.
- Konig, R., R. Renner, and C. Schaffner, 2009, IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory **55**, 4337.
- König, R., and S. Wehner, 2009, Phys. Rev. Lett. 103, 070504.
- Korzekwa, K., 2016, "Coherence, thermodynamics and uncertainty relations," Ph.D. thesis (Imperial College London).
- Kraemer, L., and L. del Rio, 2016, arXiv:1605.01064.
- Kraus, K., 1983, States, effects, and operations: fundamental notions of quantum theory (Springer, New York).
- Kumagai, W., and M. Hayashi, 2013, Phys. Rev. Lett. 111, 130407.
- Lahti, P., 2003, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 42, 893.
- Lami, L., B. Regula, X. Wang, R. Nichols, A. Winter, and G. Adesso, 2018, Phys. Rev. A **98**, 022335.
- Landauer, R., 1961, IBM J. Res. Dev. 5, 183.
- Leditzky, F., M. M. Wilde, and N. Datta, 2016, J. Math. Phys. (N.Y.) 57, 082202.
- Lenard, A., 1978, J. Stat. Phys. 19, 575.
- Lieb, E. H., and M. B. Ruskai, 1973, J. Math. Phys. (N.Y.) 14, 1938.
- Lipinska, V., F. Curchod, A. Máttar, and A. Acín, 2018, arXiv:1802 .09982.
- Liu, Z.-W., X. Hu, and S. Lloyd, 2017, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118, 060502.
- Lostaglio, M., D. Jennings, and T. Rudolph, 2015, Nat. Commun. 6, 6383.
- Lostaglio, M., D. Jennings, and T. Rudolph, 2017, New J. Phys. **19**, 043008.
- Lostaglio, M., K. Korzekwa, D. Jennings, and T. Rudolph, 2015, Phys. Rev. X 5, 021001.
- Majenz, C., M. Berta, F. Dupuis, R. Renner, and M. Christandl, 2017, Phys. Rev. Lett. **118**, 080503.
- Mari, A., and J. Eisert, 2012, Phys. Rev. Lett. 109, 230503.
- Marian, P., and T. A. Marian, 2013, Phys. Rev. A 88, 012322.
- Markham, D., A. Miyake, and S. Virmani, 2007, New J. Phys. 9, 194.
- Marshall, A. W., I. Olkin, and B. Arnold, 2011, *Inequalities: Theory of Majorization and Its Applications* (Springer, New York). Marvian, I., 2018, arXiv:1805.01989.
- Marvian, I., and R. W. Spekkens, 2013, New J. Phys. 15, 033001.
- Marvian, I., and R. W. Spekkens, 2014, Phys. Rev. A **90**, 062110.
- Marvian, I., and R. W. Spekkens, 2016, Phys. Rev. A 94, 052324.
- Marvian, I., R. W. Spekkens, and P. Zanardi, 2016, Phys. Rev. A 93, 052331.
- Masanes, L., and J. Oppenheim, 2017, Nat. Commun. 8, 14538.
- Matthews, W., and S. Wehner, 2014, IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory 60, 7317.
- Matthews, W., S. Wehner, and A. Winter, 2009, Commun. Math. Phys. **291**, 813.
- Matthews, W., and A. Winter, 2008, Phys. Rev. A 78, 012317.
- Mermin, N. D., 1990, Phys. Rev. Lett. 65, 3373.
- Méthot, A. A., and V. S., 2007, Quantum Inf. Comput. 7, 157.
- Modi, K., A. Brodutch, H. Cable, T. Paterek, and V. Vedral, 2012, Rev. Mod. Phys. 84, 1655.
- Mosonyi, M., and F. Hiai, 2011, IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory 57, 2474.
- Mosonyi, M., and T. Ogawa, 2015, Commun. Math. Phys. 334, 1617.
- Mukhopadhyay, C., S. Sazim, and A. K. Pati, 2018, J. Phys. A 51, 414006.
- Müller-Lennert, M., F. Dupuis, O. Szehr, S. Fehr, and M. Tomamichel, 2013, J. Math. Phys. (N.Y.) **54**, 122203.
- Napoli, C., T. R. Bromley, M. Cianciaruso, M. Piani, N. Johnston, and G. Adesso, 2016, Phys. Rev. Lett. **116**, 150502.
- Nathanson, M., 2013, Phys. Rev. A 88, 062316.
- Nielsen, M. A., 1999, Phys. Rev. Lett. 83, 436.
- Nielsen, M. A., 2000, Phys. Rev. A 61, 064301.

- Nielsen, M. A., and I. L. Chuang, 2000, *Quantum Computation and Quantum Information* (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, England).
- Ogawa, T., and H. Nagaoka, 2000, IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory 46, 2428.
- Ollivier, H., and W. H. Zurek, 2001, Phys. Rev. Lett. 88, 017901.
- Oppenheim, J., M. Horodecki, P. Horodecki, and R. Horodecki, 2002, Phys. Rev. Lett. **89**, 180402.
- Oppenheim, J., R. W. Spekkens, and A. Winter, 2008, "A classical analogue of negative information," arXiv:quant-ph/0511247v2.
- Oszmaniec, M., L. Guerini, P. Wittek, and A. Acín, 2017, Phys. Rev. Lett. **119**, 190501.
- Owari, M., and M. Hayashi, 2008, New J. Phys. 10, 013006.
- Palazuelos, C., 2012, Phys. Rev. Lett. 109, 190401.
- Pankowski, L., F.G.B. ao, M. Horodecki, and G. Smith, 2013, Quantum Inf. Comput. 13, 751.
- Peres, A., 1996, Phys. Rev. Lett. 77, 1413.
- Peres, A., and P.F. Scudo, 2002, arXiv:quant-ph/0201017.
- Pérez-Garcia, D., 2004, Phys. Lett. A 330, 149.
- Petz, D., 1986, Rep. Math. Phys. 23, 57.
- Piani, M., M. Cianciaruso, T. R. Bromley, C. Napoli, N. Johnston, and G. Adesso, 2016, Phys. Rev. A **93**, 042107.
- Piani, M., M. Horodecki, P. Horodecki, and R. Horodecki, 2006, Phys. Rev. A **74**, 012305.
- Pirandola, S., R. Laurenza, C. Ottaviani, and L. Banchi, 2017, Nat. Commun. 8, 15043.
- Plenio, M. B., 2005, Phys. Rev. Lett. 95, 090503.
- Plenio, M. B., and S. Virmani, 2007, Quantum Inf. Comput. 7, 1.
- Popescu, S., and D. Rohrlich, 1997, Phys. Rev. A 56, R3319.
- Postler, L., Á. Rivas, P. Schindler, A. Erhard, R. Stricker, D. Nigg, T. Monz, R. Blatt, and M. Müller, 2018, Quantum 2, 90.
- Pusey, M. F., 2015, J. Opt. Soc. Am. B 32, A56.
- Pusz, W., and S. L. Woronowicz, 1978, Commun. Math. Phys. 58, 273.
- Radhakrishnan, J., P. Sen, and N. Warsi, 2016, IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory **62**, 2836.
- Rains, E. M., 1997, "Entanglement purification via separable superoperators," arXiv:quant-ph/9707002.
- Rains, E. M., 1999a, Phys. Rev. A 60, 179.
- Rains, E. M., 1999b, Phys. Rev. A 60, 173.
- Rana, S., P. Parashar, and M. Lewenstein, 2016, Phys. Rev. A 93, 012110.
- Regula, B., 2018, J. Phys. A 51, 045303.
- Regula, B., K. Fang, X. Wang, and G. Adesso, 2018, Phys. Rev. Lett. **121**, 010401.
- Reichardt, B., 2005, Quantum Inf. Process. 4, 251.
- Renes, J. M., 2016, J. Math. Phys. (N.Y.) 57, 122202.
- Renes, J. M., and R. Renner, 2011, IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory 57, 7377.
- Renner, R., 2005, "Security of quantum key distribution," Ph.D. thesis (Swiss Federal Institute of Technology).
- Renner, R., and R. König, 2005, in *Theory of Cryptography*, edited by J. Kilian (Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg), pp. 407–425.
- Renner, R., and S. Wolf, 2003, in Advances in Cryptology EURO-CRYPT 2003, Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Vol. 2656 (Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg), pp. 562–577.
- Rényi, A., 1961, in Proceedings of the Fourth Berkeley Symposium on Mathematical Statistics and Probability, Volume 1: Contributions to the Theory of Statistics (University of California Press, Berkeley, CA), pp. 547–561.
- Riera, A., C. Gogolin, and J. Eisert, 2012, Phys. Rev. Lett. 108, 080402.
- Ringbauer, M., T. R. Bromley, M. Cianciaruso, L. Lami, W. Y. S. Lau, G. Adesso, A. G. White, A. Fedrizzi, and M. Piani, 2018, Phys. Rev. X 8, 041007.

- Rivas, A., S. F. Huelga, and M. B. Plenio, 2010, Phys. Rev. Lett. **105**, 050403.
- Rivas, Á., S. F. Huelga, and M. B. Plenio, 2014, Rep. Prog. Phys. 77, 094001.
- Rivas, Á., and M. Müller, 2015, New J. Phys. 17, 062001.
- Rosset, D., F. Buscemi, and Y.-C. Liang, 2018, Phys. Rev. X 8, 021033.
- Ruch, E., R. Schranner, and T. H. Seligman, 1980, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 76, 222.
- Sabapathy, K. K., 2015, Phys. Rev. A 92, 052301.
- Sakurai, J. J., 1994, *Modern Quantum Mechanics* (Addison-Wesley, Reading, MA), revised ed.
- Sanpera, A. and D. Bruß, and M. Lewenstein, 2001, Phys. Rev. A **63**, 050301.
- Sauerwein, D., N. R. Wallach, G. Gour, and B. Kraus, 2017, arXiv: 1711.11056.
- Schumacher, B., and M. D. Westmoreland, 1997, Phys. Rev. A 56, 131.
- Serafini, A., 2017, *Quantum Continuous Variables: A Primer of Theoretical Methods* (CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL).
- Shahandeh, F., J. Sperling, and W. Vogel, 2014, Phys. Rev. Lett. **113**, 260502.
- Shalm, L. K., et al., 2015, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115, 250402.
- Sharma, K., E. Wakakuwa, and M. M. Wilde, 2017, arXiv:1703 .02903.
- Shimony, A., 1995, Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 755, 675.
- Shor, P., 1997, SIAM J. Comput. 26, 1484.
- Singh, U., M. N. Bera, A. Misra, and A. K. Pati, 2015, arXiv:1506 .08186.
- Smith, G., and J. Yard, 2008, Science 321, 1812.
- Sparaciari, C., L. del Rio, C. M. Scandolo, P. Faist, and J. Oppenheim, 2018, arXiv:1806.04937.
- Spekkens, R. W., 2005, Phys. Rev. A 71, 052108.
- Stinespring, W. F., 1955, Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 6, 211.
- Streltsov, A., 2015, *Quantum Correlations Beyond Entanglement* (Springer,

New York).

- Streltsov, A., G. Adesso, and M. B. Plenio, 2017, Rev. Mod. Phys. **89**, 041003.
- Streltsov, A., H. Kampermann, and D. Bru, 2010, New J. Phys. **12**, 123004.
- Svozil, K., 2012, Nat. Comput. 11, 261.
- Synak-Radtke, B., and M. Horodecki, 2006, J. Phys. A 39, L423.
- Takagi, R., and Q. Zhuang, 2018, Phys. Rev. A 97, 062337.
- Terhal, B. M., and P. Horodecki, 2000, Phys. Rev. A 61, 040301.
- Theurer, T., N. Killoran, D. Egloff, and M. B. Plenio, 2017, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119, 230401.
- Tomamichel, M., 2012, "A framework for non-asymptotic quantum information theory," Ph.D. thesis (ETH Zurich).
- Tomamichel, M., R. Colbeck, and R. Renner, 2010, IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory **56**, 4674.
- Tomamichel, M., and M. Hayashi, 2013, IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory **59**, 7693.
- Turgut, S., 2007, J. Phys. A 40, 12185.
- Uhlmann, A., 1976, Rep. Math. Phys. 9, 273.
- Uhlmann, A., 2010, Entropy 12, 1799.
- van Dam, W., and P. Hayden, 2003, Phys. Rev. A 67, 060302.
- Vedral, V., 2002, Rev. Mod. Phys. 74, 197.
- Vedral, V., and M. B. Plenio, 1998, Phys. Rev. A 57, 1619.
- Vedral, V., M. B. Plenio, M. A. Rippin, and P. L. Knight, 1997, Phys. Rev. Lett. **78**, 2275.
- Veinott, Jr., Arthur F., 1971, Manage. Sci. 17, 547.

- Veitch, V., C. Ferrie, D. Gross, and J. Emerson, 2012, New J. Phys. 14, 113011.
- Veitch, V., S. A. H. Mousavian, D. Gottesman, and J. Emerson, 2014, New J. Phys. 16, 013009.
- Vidal, G., 1999, Phys. Rev. Lett. 83, 1046.
- Vidal, G., 2000, J. Mod. Opt. 47, 355.
- Vidal, G., and R. Tarrach, 1999, Phys. Rev. A 59, 141.
- Wakakuwa, E., 2017a, arXiv:1709.07248.
- Wakakuwa, E., 2017b, Phys. Rev. A 95, 032328.
- Wakakuwa, E., A. Soeda, and M. Murao, 2016, arXiv:1608.07461.
- Wakakuwa, E., A. Soeda, and M. Murao, 2017, IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory **63**, 1280.
- Wang, L., and R. Renner, 2012, Phys. Rev. Lett. 108, 200501.
- Wang, X., and R. Duan, 2017, Phys. Rev. A 95, 062322.
- Wang, X., W. Xie, and R. Duan, 2017, in 2017 IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory (ISIT) (IEEE, New York), pp. 1728–1732.
- Watrous, J., 2018, *The Theory of Quantum Information* (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, England).
- Weedbrook, C., S. Pirandola, R. García-Patrón, N. J. Cerf, T. C. Ralph, J. H. Shapiro, and S. Lloyd, 2012, Rev. Mod. Phys. 84, 621.
- Wei, T.-C., and P. M. Goldbart, 2003, Phys. Rev. A 68, 042307.
- Werner, R. F., 1989, Phys. Rev. A 40, 4277.
- Wilde, M. M., 2017, *Quantum Information Theory* (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, England), 2nd ed.
- Wilde, M. M., 2018, J. Phys. A 51, 374002.

- Wilde, M. M., A. Winter, and D. Yang, 2014, Commun. Math. Phys. **331**, 593.
- Winter, A., 2016, Commun. Math. Phys. 347, 291.
- Winter, A., and D. Yang, 2016, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116, 120404.
- Wiseman, H. M., S. J. Jones, and A. C. Doherty, 2007, Phys. Rev. Lett. **98**, 140402.
- Wolf, M. M., J. Eisert, T. S. Cubitt, and J. I. Cirac, 2008, Phys. Rev. Lett. **101**, 150402.
- Wootters, W. K., 1987, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 176, 1.
- Yadin, B., J. Ma, D. Girolami, M. Gu, and V. Vedral, 2016, Phys. Rev. X 6, 041028.
- Yu, X.-D., D.-J. Zhang, G. F. Xu, and D. M. Tong, 2016, Phys. Rev. A 94, 060302.
- Yue, Q., and E. Chitambar, 2018, arXiv:1808.10516.
- Yunger Halpern, N., 2018, J. Phys. A 51, 094001.
- Yunger Halpern, N., and J. M. Renes, 2016, Phys. Rev. E 93, 022126.
- Zhao, Q., Y. Liu, X. Yuan, E. Chitambar, and X. Ma, 2018, Phys. Rev. Lett. **120**, 070403.
- Zhao, Q., Y. Liu, X. Yuan, E. Chitambar, and A. Winter, 2018, arXiv:1808.01885.
- Zhu, H., Z. Ma, Z. Cao, S.-M. Fei, and V. Vedral, 2017, Phys. Rev. A **96**, 032316.
- Zhuang, Q., P. W. Shor, and J. H. Shapiro, 2018, Phys. Rev. A 97, 052317.
- Zurek, W., 2000, Ann. Phys. (Berlin) 9, 855.